
 

 
 

Peter Sloman 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
Civic Offices, Bridge Street, 
Reading RG1 2LU 
 0118 937 3787 

 

 
CIVIC OFFICES EMERGENCY EVACUATION: If an alarm sounds, leave by the nearest fire exit quickly and calmly 
and assemble on the corner of Bridge Street and Fobney Street.  You will be advised when it is safe to re-enter 
the building. 

www.reading.gov.uk | facebook.com/ReadingCouncil | twitter.com/ReadingCouncil 
  DX 40124 Reading (Castle Street) 

To: Councillor McEwan (Chair) 
Councillors David Absolom, Ballsdon, 
Challenger, Grashoff, Hoskin, Jones, 
Khan, McKenna, O'Connell, Pearce, 
Robinson, Sokale, Terry and White 
 
 

 Our Ref:  
Your Ref:  
 
Direct:  0118 937 2332 
e-mail: 
richard.woodford@reading.gov.uk 
 
14 October 2020 

 
Your contact is: Richard Woodford - Committee Administrator 
 
NOTICE OF MEETING - ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE 22 OCTOBER 2020 
 
A meeting of the Adult Social Care, Children's Services and Education Committee will be held 
on Thursday, 22 October 2020 at 6.30 pm.  This will be an Online Meeting via Microsoft 
Teams. The Agenda for the meeting is set out below. 
 
 
AGENDA Page No 
 
ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN CLOSED SESSION 
 
1. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 

 
The following motion will be moved by the Chair: 

“That, pursuant to Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) members of the press and public be excluded during 
consideration of the following item on the agenda, as it is likely that 
there will be disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 
3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended) of that Act” 
 

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FOR CLOSED SESSION ITEM 
 

 

 Councillors to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests they may 
have in relation to the item for consideration. 
 

 

3. NURSING DEMENTIA BLOCK CONTRACT PROCUREMENT 
 

5 - 14 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC SESSION 
 



4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 
Councillors to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests they may 
have in relation to the items for consideration. 

 

 

5. MINUTES 
 

15 - 22 

6. MINUTES OF OTHER BODIES 
 

23 - 48 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board – 17 January and 13 March 2020 

 

 

7. PETITIONS 
 

 

 Petitions submitted pursuant to Standing Order 36 in relation to 
matters falling within the Committee’s Powers & Duties which have 
been received by Head of Legal & Democratic Services no later than 
four clear working days before the meeting. 
 

 

8. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND COUNCILLORS 
 

 

 Questions submitted pursuant to Standing Order 36 in relation to 
matters falling within the Committee’s Powers & Duties which have 
been submitted in writing and received by the Head of Legal & 
Democratic Services no later than four clear working days before the 
meeting. 
 

 

9. DECISION BOOK REFERENCES 
 

 

 To consider any requests received by the Monitoring Officer pursuant to 
Standing Order 42, for consideration of matters falling within the 
Committee’s Powers & Duties which have been the subject of Decision 
Book reports. 
 

 

10. NURSING DEMENTIA BLOCK CONTRACT PROCUREMENT 
 

49 - 60 

 
A report reviewing the effectiveness and value for money of the 
current contracts and making recommendations to ensure best use of 
public funds going forward and opportunities to maximise the 
utilisation of new contracts.  

 

 

11. CONTINUING HEALTHCARE FUNDING (APRIL 2018 - DECEMBER 2019) 
 

61 - 68 

 
A report providing the Committee with an update on Continuing 
Healthcare applications (CHC), steps taken and progress with regard to 
the application of the CHC Framework and eligibility criteria for 
residents of the Borough. 

 

 

12. PROPOSALS FOR BERKSHIRE WEST PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE 
 

69 - 74 



 
A Report setting out the rationale for altering the current 
arrangements for public health across Wokingham, Reading and West 
Berkshire.  

 

 

13. SCHOOL STANDARDS AND ATTAINMENT 2018/19 
 

75 - 84 

 
A report providing the Committee with an update on the 2018/19 
school standards/attainment. 

 

 

14. SCHOOL ADMISSIONS 
 

85 - 88 

 
A report providing the Committee with an update on School Admissions 
for 2020. 

 

 

15. HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT POLICY 2020-2021 
 

89 - 114 

 
A report providing the Committee with details of Reading’s Home to 
School Transport policy as it applies from September 2020. 

 

 

16. CHILDREN MISSING EDUCATION: UPDATE POLICY AND PROCEDURE 
MARCH 2020 

 

115 - 134 

 
A report asking the Committee to approve the Brighter Futures for 
Children draft Children Missing Education Policy and Children Missing 
Education Practice Guidance 

 

 

17. POST 16 UPDATE REPORT 
 

135 - 158 

 
A report providing the Committee an update on the work undertaken 
by the Education Service at Brighter Futures for Children to address the 
high number of young people ‘Not in Education, Employment or 
Training’ (NEET), or whose destination status is ‘Unknown’, this work 
forms part of the wider post 16 agenda in Reading. 

 

 

18. SPECIAL EDUCATION NEEDS AND DISABILITIES - STRATEGIC UPDATE 
 

159 - 170 

 
A report providing the Committee with an updates on progress on 
implementing the SEND Strategy and the timetable for the 
development of the next Strategy. 

 

 

 



 
 



Document is Restricted

Page 5

Agenda Item 3
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 13

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 8 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

 
1 
 

Present: Councillors McEwan (Chair), Ballsdon, Grashoff, Hoskin, Jones,  
McKenna, Robinson, Sokale, Terry and White 
 

Apologies: Councillors David Absolom, Challenger, Khan and Pearce 

23. MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2019 were confirmed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chair. 

24. QUESTIONS 

A question on the following matter was submitted: 

 
Questioner Subject Reply 

Councillor Ballsdon Recruitment and Retention of Care Staff after 
Brexit 

Councillor Jones 

(The full text of the question and reply was made available on the Reading Borough 
Council website). 

25. ROYAL BERKSHIRE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST – ANNUAL REPORT AND QUALITY 
REPORT 

Dominic Hardy, Chief Operating Officer, Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust, attended 
the meeting and gave a presentation on Winter Preparedness. 

The Royal Berkshire Hospital was currently in its peak period and focus was on the safe 
and timely care of patents.  Additional ward capacity had been provided with Mortimer 
ward re-opening, Redlands ward being used for medical patients and the Emergency 
Department Minors Unit using the Primary Care Unit space to see minor illness patients 
and maximise the number of patients seen in the Ambulatory Care Unit.  The hospital was 
under pressure but was coping well.  £1m had been received from NHS England and was 
being used to fund staff in the Emergency Department and across the hospital, including 
at weekends.  In the Accident and Emergency Department 320 to 400 patients were being 
seen every day with the peak time being between 1.00pm and 7.00pm; the department 
had been built to deal with half this number of patients.  The majority of patients were 
seen within four hours but, it took more time to deal with those who needed long term 
care.  In November 2019 72.04% of patients had been seen within four hours, this 
compared to 86.13% in the previous year, but there had been a 10% increase in 
attendance compared to the previous year.  The number of breaches had also increased 
from 1,351 in November 2018 to 3,019 in November 2019. 

With regard to clinical services for children and young people, services included a 
Paediatric Emergency Department which treated over 30,000 patients per year and 
included an eight bedded paediatric short stay unit.  There was also a Neonatal unit with 
20 intensive care high dependency and special care cots, a 39 bedded inpatient 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 8 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

 
2 
 

paediatric ward, that included two oncology suites and a four bedded High Dependency 
Unit, and a ten bedded nurse led paediatric day care unit for elective day surgery, 
diagnostics and minor treatments.  The hospital also worked closely with Oxford and 
Southampton for really specialist care.  In December 2019, an Organisational Children’s 
and Young People Strategy had been approved as part of a vision of ‘working together to 
provide outstanding care for our community’.  The Strategy was driven by the NHS long 
term plan and the specific needs of children and young people and had been built around 
four broad themes as follows: 

 Innovation in Services; 

 Experience and Environment; 

 Careers; 

 Communications and Engagement. 

The Committee discussed the presentation and a number of points were raised including 
the following: 

 There was a relatively low number of delayed transfers of care, with around 25 
currently.  The Trust worked very closely with the Council to understand patient 
needs and to get them to the right setting as soon as possible; 

 In the Emergency Department staff worked very hard to get patients off trolleys 
and into a bed as soon as possible, patients would be under constant nursing care 
during this time, and no one would be on a trolley in a corridor; 

 With regard to the ‘four hour’ target the aim was for patients to be seen, 
diagnosed and treated within four hours.  Patients would be ‘triaged’ within 15 
minutes of arrival and would be seen by a senior medical consultant from the start 
as this was the best way to find out what they needed; 

 Children were being seen who, compared to a few years previously, were more 
seriously unwell and a greater number were presenting with mental health issues; 

 A serious effort was being made in respect of the recruitment of staff and work 
was also being carried out to identify what mattered to staff and to ensure they 
were happy.  Work was also being carried out to encourage nurses into the hospital 
through apprenticeships; recruitment also took place internationally and help was 
provided with residency. 

Resolved – That Dominic Hardy be thanked for attending the meeting and his 
presentation. 

26. ADULT SOCIAL CARE PERFORMANCE REPORT JANUARY 2020 

The Executive Director of Social Care and Health submitted a report that provided the 
Committee with an outline of the key areas of performance in Adult Social Care during 
2018-2019 which was mainly based on performance against the Adult Social Care 
Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) national dataset.  The performance for Adult Social Care 
against all ASCOF measures in 2018-2019, as well as an update on current performance, 
was attached to the report at Appendix 1.  The report also included an action plan that 
addressed areas for development for two key performance targets; new admissions to 
residential/nursing care for younger adults aged 18 to 64 and Direct Payments. 

Page 16



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 8 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

 
3 
 

The report provided details of a number of top performing areas as follows: 

 Following a continued focus on keeping people in their own homes, in line with the 
Council’s ‘home first’ approach, there had been a significant reduction in older 
people, aged 65 and over, that had been placed in residential and nursing care 
homes in the previous year.  This strong performance had continued into the 
current year; 

 The Advice and Wellbeing Hub had helped to connect people to more services 
available locally.  In addition, eight Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) 
providers were part of a pilot joint working scheme at the Adult Social Care Advice 
and Wellbeing Hub, to strengthen links into community provision; 

 The Council held 12 contracts with VCS providers through the Narrowing the Gap 
Framework to develop peer support networks and reduce isolation for adults with 
care or support needs and these were currently being reviewed; 

 Despite concentrated focus on keeping people in their own homes, there had been 
a slight increase in the number of younger people who had been placed in 
residential and nursing care homes in the previous year.  This had been due to a 
lack of alternative options available to meet the needs of the younger people; 

 Direct payments had increased by 48% since 2016/17, from 12.1% to 17.9%.  From 
April to October 2019, they had increased further to 19%, although this was still 
under the local target of 22%.  Whilst Direct Payments remained a priority for 
Adult Social Care the lack of alternative services available to meet people’s needs 
beyond the Council commissioned services had resulted in a slower uptake. 

The Committee discussed the report and a number of points were made including the 
following: 

 Safeguarding was a priority and all staff were trained in this area, staff also had to 
make sure that the person’s voice was heard.  However, the service was always 
looking to improve; 

 With regard to increasing the take-up of direct payments, managers were talking 
to staff about the best time to raise the issue and work was being carried out to 
make the process as simple as possible.  A direct payments champion had been 
appointed whose role it was to increase take-up and a challenge had been set for 
every member of staff who had not processed a direct payment in the previous six 
months to do so.  Social workers were also being encouraged to say that using 
direct payments was how the service worked in Reading and that it would give 
people control over their lives; 

 The Local Government Association had been contacted asking them to link Reading 
with high performing authorities in order to learn from them; 

 Wellbeing Hubs were also being set up in community centres and leisure centres to 
meet the needs of the community and to make people as independent as possible. 

Resolved – 

(1) That the performance of Adult Social Care in Reading against similar 
Councils, the South East and the national Adult Social Care Outcomes 
Framework indicators be noted; 

Page 17



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 8 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

 
4 
 

(2) That the outline Action Plan to address two areas of development: new 
admissions to residential/nursing care for younger adults aged 18 to 64; 
and Direct Payments, be noted. 

27. BETTER CARE FUND PLANNING RETURN 2019/20 

The Executive Director of Social Care and Health submitted a report providing the 
Committee with an update on the Better Care Funding planning template, which had 
been completed for the financial year 2019/2020 and had been submitted in September 
2019 in line with requested timescales.  A table setting out supplementary information in 
relation to the Better Care Fund budget and spend was attached to the report at 
Appendix 1.  The report also included a table that provided a summary of how the Better 
Care Fund budget would be spent in 2019/20. 

The report explained that the return had covered details of the plans to utilise the Better 
Care Fund and how Adult Social Care and Health services planned to use these funds in an 
integrated way to maximise system impact, pending NHS England agreement.  The funds 
had to be used to support the locality to meet the four Better Care Fund targets and the 
use of the funds had to be jointly agreed.  The four targets were as follows: 

 Reducing the number of placements made in residential and nursing homes; 

 Reducing the number of delayed transfers of care; 

 Reducing the number of people that returned to hospital within 90 days of their 
discharge; 

 Reducing non-elective admissions to hospital. 

The report explained that the timing of the return and the Better Care Fund quarterly 
returns did not align with Health and Wellbeing Board meetings and this was compounded 
by short timescales to collect and draft the complex responses that were required by NHS 
England.  The report therefore recommended that the sign off of all future Better Care 
Fund returns be delegated to the Executive Director of Social Care and Health and the 
Clinical Commissioning Group Director of Operations for Reading in consultation with the 
Lead Councillor for Health, Wellbeing and Sport and the Lead Councillor for Adult Social 
Care. 

Resolved – 

(1) That the report be noted; 

(2) That the content of the Better Care Fund submission (A summary 
Appendix 1 attached), which was submitted in September 2019 in order 
to comply with national deadlines outside of the Board meeting cycle be 
noted; 

(3) That the Executive Director of Social Care and Health (Reading Borough 
Council) and the Director of Operations (Clinical Commissioning Group) 
be granted delegated authority to sign off Better Care Fund returns in 
consultation with the Lead Councillor for Health, Wellbeing and Sport 
and Lead Councillor for Adult Social Care; 

Page 18



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 8 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

 
5 
 

(4) That the Better Care Fund planning return 2019/20 be submitted to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board for formal adoption. 

28. MODERN DAY SLAVERY TRANSPARENCY STATEMENT 2019/20 

The Executive Director of Social Care and Health submitted a report that set out the 
policy for the Council with regard to Modern Day Slavery.  A copy of the Modern Day 
Slavery Statement 2019/20 was attached to the report at Appendix 1 and an Equality 
Impact Assessment was attached to the report at Appendix 2. 

The report explained that the Modern Day Slavery Transparency Statement outlined the 
approach the Council had taken, and continued to take, to make sure that modern 
slavery or human trafficking was not taking place within the business or supply chain and 
a zero tolerance approach was proposed to any form of modern slavery (slavery, 
servitude, human trafficking and forced labour). 

The report proposed that the Modern Slavery Transparency document be adopted as 
required in legislation, this statement would commit the Council to ensure that it took a 
‘whole Council’ approach to the issue.  The report also proposed that the Council should 
continue to be an active member of the Berkshire wide anti-slavery network and work in 
an ongoing way to deliver its safeguarding functions. 

Resolved – 

(1) That adoption of the Reading Borough Council Modern Day Slavery 
Transparency Statement 2019/20, as attached to the report, be agreed; 

(2) That a zero tolerance approach to any form of modern slavery (slavery, 
servitude, human trafficking and forced labour) be agreed; 

(3) That the Executive Director of Social Care and Health Services be 
granted delegated authority, in consultation with the Lead Councillor for 
Health, Wellbeing and Sport and Lead Councillor for Adult Social Care, to 
adopt and update the Modern Day Slavery Transparency Statement each 
year on behalf of the Council. 

29. OFSTED INSPECTION 2019 

The Director of Children’s Services, Brighter Futures for Children, submitted a report that 
provided the Committee with the context and information about the inspection of 
Children’s Social Care Services that had resulted in a positive ‘requires improvement to 
be good’ judgement.  A copy of the Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Social Care Services 
Report was attached to the report at Appendix 1. 

The report explained that there were four judgements used by Ofsted when making 
judgements: ‘inadequate’, ‘requires improvement to be good’, ‘good’ and ‘outstanding’, 
there were four judgement areas as follows: 

 The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and families; 

Page 19



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 8 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

 
6 
 

 The experiences and progress of children who needed help and protection; 

 The experiences and progress of children in care and care leavers; 

 Overall effectiveness. 

The judgements had been ‘requires improvement to be good’ across all four areas, which 
was a significant achievement. 

The report explained that since December 2018, services for children had been delivered 
by Brighter Futures for Children and Ofsted had stated that ‘the company and Council 
were working collaboratively, and appropriate arrangements for scrutiny and challenge 
were in place’.  There had been evidence of improvement in most areas of practice since 
the inspection that had taken place in June 2016, with recent practice being stronger 
although variable.  It had been noted that senior leaders had rightly focused on 
strengthening the recruitment and retention of staff, caseloads were reducing and there 
had been an increase in management capacity.  Early Help Services had continued to 
strengthen with well-targeted interventions and the establishment of the multi-agency 
hubs had contributed to a reduction in the number of referrals to children’s statutory 
services.  There had been seven areas identified for improvement in the Ofsted report 
and in order to address these an Ofsted Action Plan had been developed which was 
reviewed at the Children’s Services Improvement Board. 

Resolved – That the contents of the Ofsted Inspection Report of Children’s Social 
Care Services in September 2019 be noted. 

30. SCHOOL ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS 2020/22 

The Director of Children’s Services, Brighter Futures for Children, submitted a report that 
invited the Committee to determine: 

 The admissions arrangements for Community Primary Schools in Reading for the 
school year 2021/22; 

 The co-ordinated scheme for primary and junior schools for the 2021/22 school 
year; 

 The co-ordinated scheme for secondary schools for the 2021/22 school year; 

 The Relevant Area; 

 Maps of the catchment areas. 

Copies of the schemes, policies, relevant area and maps were appended to the report. 

The report explained that the Council had consulted previously on the Policy in 2018 and 
therefore there was no duty to consult in the current year.  The Council delivered its 
school admission service through Brighter Futures for Children and the documents had to 
be determined by 28 February 2020 to ensure the Council was compliant with the School 
Admissions Code and they then had to be published on the Brighter Futures for Children 
website by 15 March 2020. 

Resolved – 

Page 20



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 8 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

 
7 
 

(1) That the scheme attached to the report at Annexes A, B and C as the 
admissions arrangements for 2021/22 for community schools in Reading 
and the local arrangements for complying with the national coordinated 
primary school admission procedures for the allocation of primary school 
places for residents of Reading Borough be agreed; 

(2) That the scheme attached to the report at Annex D as the local 
arrangements for complying with the national coordinated secondary 
admissions procedure for the allocation of secondary school places for 
2021/22 for residents of Reading Borough be agreed; 

(3) That the relevant area as attached to the report in Annex E which sets 
out the organisations that must be consulted for any admissions 
arrangements for schools in Reading be agreed. 

31. ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT 2018-2019 FOR CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE 

The Director of Children’s Services, Brighter Futures for Children, submitted a report that 
provided the Committee with an overview of complaints activity and performance for 
Children’s Social Care for the period from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019.  A copy of the 
Children’s Social Care Complaints 2018/19 – Summary Report was attached to the report 
at Appendix A. 

The report stated that during the period the service had received 96 statutory 
complaints, which was a decrease of 40 (29.4%) compared to 2017/18.  Of the 96 
complaints that had been received: 

 19 had been resolved through Alternative Dispute Resolution by the Social Care 
Teams; 

 77 had progressed to a formal investigation. 

During the same period, 11 complaints had progressed to a Stage 2 investigation, 
although these had not all been progressions of Stage 1 complaints that had been 
received in the same period, as some had related to Stage 1 investigations that had been 
carried out in 2017/18.  The Customer Relations Team had continued to raise awareness 
of the complaints process and in accordance with recommendations from Ofsted had 
worked with operational teams to encourage children and young people to submit 
complaints where they had been dissatisfied with the service they had received.  The 
Council and Brighter Futures for Children had worked closely to drive improvement in the 
services for children. 

Resolved – 

(1) That the contents of the report and intended actions to further improve 
the management of representations and complaints in 2019/20 for 
Children’s Social Care be noted; 

(2) That the continuing work to raise awareness of the complaints process 
and encourage its use by children and young people be noted. 

Page 21



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 8 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

 
8 
 

 

 

(The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 8.18 pm). 

Page 22



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

Present:  

Councillor Hoskin 
(Chair) 

Lead Councillor for Health, Wellbeing & Sport, Reading 
Borough Council (RBC) 

Mandeep Bains Chief Executive, Healthwatch Reading (substituting for David 
Shepherd) 

Councillor Brock Leader of the Council, RBC 
Andy Ciecierski North & West Reading Locality Clinical Lead, Berkshire West 

CCG 
Seona Douglas Director of Adult Care & Health Services, RBC 
Deborah Glassbrook Director of Children’s Services, Brighter Futures for Children 

(BFfC) 
Tessa Lindfield Strategic Director of Public Health for Berkshire 
Rachel Spencer  Chief Executive, Reading Voluntary Action  
Cathy Winfield Chief Officer, Berkshire West CCG 

Also in attendance: 
 

Poppy Barnard National Management Trainee & Time to Change Champion, 
RBC 

Ramona Bridgman Reading Families Forum 
Gurmit Dhendsa Trustee, Healthwatch Reading 
Clare French Joint Legal Team & Time to Change Champion, RBC 
Sarah Hunneman Neighbourhood Facilitator, Public Health & Wellbeing Team, 

RBC 
Deb Hunter Head of SEND & Principal Educational & Child Psychologist, 

BFfC 
Gail Muirhead Prevention Manager, Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue Service 

(RBFRS) 
David Munday Consultant in Public Health, RBC 
Janette Searle Preventative Services Manager, RBC 
Nicky Simpson Committee Services, RBC 
Kate Stockdale Senior Drug & Alcohol Commissioning Manager, RBC 
Lewis Willing Integration Project Manager, RBC & Berkshire West CCG 

Apologies: 
 

Neil Carter RBFRS 
David Shepherd Chair, Healthwatch Reading 
Councillor Terry  Lead Councillor for Children, RBC 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Andy Ciecierski declared an interest in Item 6 on the Reading Walk In Centre Update, 
as he was on the panel for the procurement exercise. 

Cathy Winfield declared an interest in Item 7 on Future CCG Management 
Arrangements, as this item involved her post. 

2. MINUTES  

The Minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

3. QUESTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH STANDING ORDER 36 

The following question was asked by Francis Brown on behalf of Tom Lake in 
accordance with Standing Order 36: 

a) Health Improvement Through Leisure: 
 

“It is widely agreed that the determinants of health go far beyond the field of 
medicine and that work, housing, leisure and transport influence our health. 
 
Some of these influencing factors are in the hands or in the purview of the 
local authority. In so far as this is true, should it not be this board at which 
these influences are considered and improvements sought?  Do we just pay lip 
service to the wider determinants of health or are we trying to work with 
them? 
 
The present Reading Borough draft budget contains 43 million pounds of capital 
spend on leisure improvement.  What public health and NHS input has there 
been in the planning of the proposed facilities? 
 
Will there be any joint NHS/borough facilities? Will there be opportunities for 
the borough, public health and the NHS to work together to further the 
improvement of health through leisure?” 

 
REPLY by Councillor Hoskin (Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board): 
 

“The Council is committed to tackling the wider determinants of health which, 
as is rightly pointed out, is about much more than just medicine.  
 
The leisure procurement process to develop the specification and evaluate the 
bids was supported by an in-house team, which included Public Health, to 
ensure the contract delivers wider public health outcomes. In addition to the 
facilities specification, there is a detailed service specification, which sets out 
the type and level of service to be delivered by the provider  
 
In addition, the provider will be required to contribute towards the 
achievement of the nine Authority Outcomes, the three most relevant to this 
topic are the Council’s commitment to:  
 

1. Improving health and wellbeing and reducing health inequalities. 
2. Educating, protecting and providing opportunities for young people 
3. Supporting and caring for vulnerable adults and older people 

 
The provider is proposing to undertake the following activities that will 
contribute to health and wellbeing in Reading. The implementation of these 
activities will be supported by the RBC Public Health Team to ensure they meet 
the needs of the local Reading population. The proposed activities are: 
 

 provide a room available weekly within each leisure centre to enable an 
accredited provider to deliver Public Health-commissioned 
interventions. 

Page 24



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

 increase participation for certain target groups including GP referral 
customers and clinical and high-risk referrals, pre-diabetes, 
rehabilitation management and the least physically active. 

 deliver weight management courses for the local population. 

 increase the current Exercise Referral Scheme (ERS) which supports a 
physical activity and behaviour change intervention for those with a 
Long Term Medical Condition.  

 deliver cardiac and cancer rehabilitation and a falls prevention scheme. 
 
Once the provider has commenced delivery of the service, they will report on 
its performance of the delivery of services in accordance with the agreed 
specification and against the performance standards. A report will be produced 
regularly providing qualitative and quantitative evidence of how the provider 
has performed to the Council’s requirements. This mechanism will create 
opportunities for the borough, public health and the NHS to work together to 
further the improvement of health through leisure.” 

 
The following question was asked by Francis Brown in accordance with Standing Order 
36: 

b) The future arrangement for the NHS commissioning in your area 

“The claim of this recent marketing document is that the proposed merger will 
lead to a more efficient organisational structure.  This proposed structure will 
in turn be even more capable of reducing costs through transformed ways of 
working involving 14 local authorities and parts of the NHS.  Further benefit 
will arise from new ways of working within different parts of the NHS. 
 
The actual headcount savings, less redundancies, are likely to be tiny in the 
context of the transformational saving from better integrated methods. 
 
Is the Reading Borough Council satisfied that the merger will really lead onto 
even better ways of working together?  Or is there a risk that increasing the 
gap between the 14 local authorities and a super CCG is a step in the wrong 
direction?  

 
Are you concerned that there is no financial information to support a radical 
and potentially damaging re-organisation?” 

 
REPLY by Councillor Hoskin (Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board): 
 

“Thank you for your question Mr Brown. In our formal response to the official 
NHS engagement on these plans myself and Councillor Ruth McEwan, as Chair 
of the committee responsible for Health Scrutiny, outlined our concerns about 
the proposed moves towards a larger NHS planning and administrative area and 
the potential merging of CCGs. 
 
I shall arrange for you to have a copy but our concerns were summarised as 
this, “In principle we are opposed to moving towards the planning and 
commissioning of NHS to a larger geographical area. We believe this could lead 
to decision making becoming more distant from local communities, that 
planning is increasingly centralised and more closely controlled by NHS 

Page 25



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

England, and that local action to deliver integrated care and address health 
inequalities may be weakened.” 
 
That said we are aware that these moves are being driven by national 
government and NHS national headquarters and that, despite our local 
concerns, these changes may well happen regardless. Reading Borough Council 
therefore believes it is important to continue our strong record of working 
closely with local NHS organisations and the membership of this Health and 
Wellbeing Board is testament to that.  
 
Partnership working with the NHS is currently happening in increasing measure 
through the local Berkshire West Integrated Care Partnership (ICP). Councillors 
and Officers from RBC are part of the formal structure of this ICP and are able 
to ensure that the voice and needs of the population of Reading are heard and 
understood within this. 
 
With regard to the proposed changes to Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
structures that you make reference to, RBC has engaged closely with the 
Berkshire West CCG and the wider Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire 
West system (BOB), about these plans. This has been via this Health and 
Wellbeing Board, the RBC Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and Education 
Committee and also through joint scrutiny meetings with colleagues from 
neighbouring Local Authorities within the BOB footprint. Indeed, we have an 
update on these proposed changes on the agenda of our meeting today. 
Councillors and Officers have also provided detailed responses to the CCG 
during the consultation phase at the end of last year to ensure the Reading 
perspective was fed into decision making. 
 
Although there may be some considerable challenges to ensuring local Reading-
specific issues are not lost within the proposed change to having one larger 
CCG, we are pleased to see that the local new Berks West ICP will remain in 
the new structure. The CCG is also committed to ensuring it maintains a local 
presence here in Reading, even if it formally becomes one regional 
organisation. As I have described, the ICP is the primary mechanism through 
which we connect with the NHS and we already commission some services at 
this ICP level which ensures economies of scale and joined up approaches to 
services exist, which benefits the population of Reading. 
 
The rationale for the proposed change isn’t specifically a reduction in head 
count but creating an infrastructure that will support strategic change across a 
bigger geography. There is no specific financial detail included because this 
continues to be worked on by BOB as it develops its Long Term Plan submission. 
With this is mind, RBC are committed to continue to work in partnership with 
the NHS and through local democratic structures such as this Health and 
Wellbeing Board, and will continue to use all the powers and influence at its 
disposal to push for the adequate funding of NHS services for the residents of 
Reading.” 

Page 26



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

4. SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY STRATEGY – ANNUAL UPDATE  

Further to Minute 3 of the meeting held on 18 January 2019, Debs Hunter submitted a 
report on progress made in delivering the SEND (Special Educational Needs and 
Disability) Strategy since January 2019.   

The report explained that work on SEND had continued and set out the following 
specific key achievements which had been secured: 

 Continued close working with Reading Families Forum to ensure co-production 
of materials and service delivery 

 Views of children and young people in Special United and in schools had 
informed coproduction of services and materials, such as the mental health 
work and development of the Education Health and Care Plans.  

 A SEND free school with places for Reading children and young people with 
SEMH and ASC was in process. 

 Two new primary resources for children with Social Communication Difficulties 
had been agreed and scoping exercises were under way re location – it was 
intended that there would be one in the west and one in the north.  

 Preparing for Adulthood: an information guide for parents and carers – a joint 
co-produced publication for young people moving into adulthood 

 The Therapeutic Thinking Schools approach was well embedded in schools  

 The Mental Health Support Team trailblazer was established and was going live 
in January 2020 

 The Graduated Response Guidance was being more consistently used by schools 
with the number of pupils at SEN Support increasing.  

 A communication plan was also being developed which would support greater 
engagement with the strategy 

 
The report had appended the following: 

Appendix 1: SEND strategy on a page  
Appendix 2: SEND strategy refresh from October 2019 – refreshed following a 
workshop with all key stakeholders and co-produced with Reading Families 
Forum and other key partners. 
Appendix 3: Co-production and how we work together 
Appendix 4: Equality Impact Assessment 

The SEND strategy on a page set out the following five priorities, detailing what would 
be done and the outcomes required: 

 Making SEND everybody’s business 

 Embedding co-production at every level 

 Working together to identify and assess needs 

 Working together to deliver support in the right place at the right time 

 Resources would be allocated fairly, transparently and with evidence that they 

supported improving outcomes 

Debs Hunter explained that the ‘plan on a page’ was being developed, in order to be 
able to take this to each of the teams and every school, for example, asking schools 

Page 27



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

to look at their own development plans and to see how they could ensure that they 
were aligned with the SEND strategy. 

Ramona Bridgman from Reading Families Forum attended the meeting and addressed 
the Board, noting that, with the move to BFfC, it was hard to make sure that carers 
assessments were working for everyone and that there was still some work to be done 
to get this right for carers for children.  There were also still some issues in getting 
meaningful pathways for adult social care for 18-25 year olds, with some young 
people waiting over a year to get a plan agreed and in place, so this needed 
improvement.  Ramona also reported on a national campaign to ensure that disabled 
women had access to the same health checks as others and queried what Reading’s 
policy was on this.  For example, if someone was in a wheelchair and there was no 
hoist at their GP surgery, they might not have access to cervical smears.   

David Munday and Seona Douglas said they would pick up these issues outside the 
meeting, with David noting that he had already met with Ramona Bridgman and Debs 
Hunter to see how Public Health could help with early identification and assessment 
of needs and saying that he would investigate the campaign on access to health 
checks for disabled women. 

Deborah Glassbrook said that, if families were struggling to get assessments, they 
could escalate the problem to her as Director of Children’s Services to ensure that 
families got the services they needed, and she would take this up outside the 
meeting. 

Resolved -   

(1) That the progress made on delivery of the SEND Strategy be noted and 
Ramona Bridgman be thanked for attending the meeting; 

(2) That the members of the Health and Wellbeing Board continue to 
support the work of the SEND team and particularly the work with 
stakeholders to embed co-production in all services and all service 
delivery; 

(3) That David Munday, Seona Douglas and Deborah Glassbrook pick up the 
specific issues raised by Ramona Bridgman outside the meeting. 

5. TIME TO CHANGE: RBC EMPLOYER ACTION PLAN REFRESH 

Janette Searle submitted a report outlining Reading Borough Council’s progress to 
date in delivering on a ‘Time to Change’ Employer Pledge to end mental health 
discrimination, and setting out the ambitions of a refreshed Action Plan (attached at 
Appendix 1) which had been approved by the Council’s Corporate Management Team 
in November 2019, within the adoption of a new Employee Wellbeing Action Plan. 

The report explained that, in 2017, the Council had developed a proposal for how the 
authority could deliver on a Time to Change Employer Pledge, which had been 
approved by the national Time to Change team, and at the 6 October 2017 Health and 
Wellbeing Board, Councillor Hoskin had signed the Time to Change Employer Pledge 
on behalf of the Council (Minute 3 (4) refers). 
 

Page 28



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

The Council’s Time to Change Action Plan was owned by a group of Champions who 
had been recruited from across the authority, supported through training, peer 
mentoring and access to Time to Change resources.  There were over 60 Champions, 
representing each Directorate and most services, with meetings and Champion-led 
events taking place across the various Council sites and the report gave examples of 
the events held promoting staff mental wellbeing.   

The report gave details of how the Action Plan had been refreshed in 2019 and had 
appended the refreshed Action Plan which listed activities, people responsible, 
timescales and performance measures. 

Poppy Barnard, Clare French attended the meeting as Time to Change Champions, 
explaining their involvement and the activities in which they had taken part and Sarah 
Hunneman addressed the Board as the coordinator of the Champions, emphasising the 
value of the Champions in disseminating information and raising awareness.  It was 
noted that the refreshed plan recognised the need to mainstream and normalise 
mental health conversations and so there was an increased emphasis on embedding 
mental health awareness within the organisation’s day to day business. 

Resolved –  That the report be noted and the actions which the Council had 
committed to as a Time to Change employer, and how these supported 
and promoted wellbeing in the Borough, be noted. 

6. READING WALK-IN CENTRE UPDATE 

Cathy Winfield submitted a report which explained that the Alternative Provider 
Medical Services (APMS) contract for Reading Walk-in Centre would come to an end on 
30 June 2020.  The service was being re-procured and the CCG intended to have a 
new contract in place from 1 July 2020. 

The report stated that the services provided at the Reading Walk-in Centre were 
currently provided by Virgin Care, whose contract ended on 30 June 2020.  Following 
the review of the service specification by a multi-agency group including health, local 
authority and Healthwatch Reading representatives, the CCG was currently running a 
procurement exercise.  The intention was to let a contract for the next four years, 
coinciding with the length of the current lease on the Broad Street Mall premises.   

10,168 patients were currently registered with the Walk-in Centre.  Under the new 
contract, the provider would be required to continue to care for these patients and to 
grow the registered list further.  In addition, the service would continue to offer 
walk-in access 8am-8pm, seven days a week for patients registered with other 
practices.  Prospective providers would be required to demonstrate how they would 
gear the service to meet the needs of specific population groups that currently 
accessed the centre, including homeless patients and children.   

As currently, and in accordance with the Berkshire West Integrated Care Partnership’s 
emerging Urgent Care Strategy, patients would be encouraged to routinely access 
their own GP practice to ensure continuity and full access to notes.  Patients who 
frequently attended the walk-in element of the service might be asked to consider 
registering there as was currently the case.  It was anticipated that access to primary 
care would change over the coming years with practices increasingly working together 
through their Primary Care Networks to improve same day care provision.  As such, 
the contracting model anticipated that walk-in activity would decline over the life of 

Page 29



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

the contract and encouraged the provider to work with Primary Care Networks to 
optimise access to primary care for Reading patients.  In future patients who 
attended Emergency Departments with minor illness might also be re-directed to this 
service. 

Resolved – That the report be noted. 

(Andy Ciecierski declared an interest in this item, as he was on the panel for the 
procurement exercise). 

7. FUTURE CCG MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS  

Cathy Winfield submitted a report which had been considered by the Berkshire West 
CCG Governing Body on 14 January 2020 on future CCG management arrangements.  
The report had appended: 

 Appendix 1: Table of mitigating actions in response to themes identified from 

engagement report  

 Appendix 2: Summary of local engagement activities during the engagement 

period  

 Appendix 3: Proposed Job Description for single Accountable Officer role 

The report explained that the NHS Long-Term Plan stated that “Every ICS will need 
streamlined commissioning arrangements to enable a single set of commissioning 
decisions at system level… This will typically involve a single CCG for each ICS area. 
CCGs will become leaner, more strategic organisations that support providers to 
partner with local government and other community organisations on population 
health, service redesign and Long-Term Plan implementation”. 

As a result of this policy statement, the CCGs within the BOB (Buckinghamshire, 
Oxfordshire and Berkshire West) ICS (Integrated Care System) had established an 
‘Architecture Oversight Group” comprising the CCG Chairs and Chief Officers, ICS 
Leaders and lay members from each Place, to co-ordinate the work in this area and 
design a proposal which reflected the areas of mutual agreement between the 
parties.  In October to December 2019, the three CCGs had carried out a period of 
engagement with stakeholders on a document setting out the proposal “The future 
arrangements for NHS commissioning in your area”. 

The engagement exercise had sought the views of stakeholders on the following three 
proposals:  

a. The appointment of a single Accountable Officer and Shared 
Management Team for the three CCGs  

b. The design principles for the creation of stronger Integrated Care 
Partnerships for each of the three places  

c. The creation of a single commissioning organisation across the BOB 
geography (ie a merger of the three existing CCGs)  

The report gave information on the outputs of the engagement exercise and detailed 
quantitative and thematic analysis and explained how the proposal design had been 
changed as a result of the responses.  It recommended to the CCG Board that it 
agreed to commence the process for appointing a shared Accountable Officer for the 

Page 30



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

three CCGs in the BOB area and stated that decisions on the design of ICPs and the 
potential CCG merger were not yet required.  The report set out recommended design 
principles as a basis from which a proposal for a single management team could be 
produced and recommended proposed mandatory roles and functions to be 
incorporated in any future management team structure. 

Cathy Winfield reported that the CCG Governing Body had agreed all three 
recommendations.  She noted that the proposals maintained the emphasis on place-
based working, with a Managing Director for each of the three places, with a seat on 
the Board, and with retention of certain management responsibilities and functions at 
that place level.  She said she was still expecting the majority of commissioning and 
service redesign decisions to be made locally in Berkshire West, which was the most 
advanced of the ICPs across BOB, and the most embedded. 

In response to concerns expressed about possible future moves towards a single 
control total for the ICS and the potential impact on being able to keep appropriate 
focus on health inequalities, Cathy Winfield confirmed that Berkshire West CCG would 
remain a statutory body with its own separate budget.   

Resolved – That the report and situation be noted. 

(Cathy Winfield declared an interest in this item, as it involved her post.) 

8. SUPPORTING OUR FUTURE: ADULT SOCIAL CARE STRATEGY 2019 - 2022 

Seona Douglas submitted a report presenting the Adult Social Care Strategy for the 
period 2019-2022, as revised and refined following a two month public consultation, 
and as approved by the Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and Education 
Committee on 21 October 2019.  A copy of the Strategy was appended to the report. 

The report explained that the Strategy focused on reducing the need for long term 
health and social care services by putting in place more self-enabling support.  This 
meant developing a whole system approach which encouraged people to take 
responsibility for their own health and wellbeing, so that healthier choices were 
accessible to everyone, and people got the support they needed to stay active and 
felt they were part of a community.  Family and unpaid carers were a vital part of 
this. 

Putting the Strategy in place would provide the Council with a framework for placing 
prevention and early intervention at the core of care and support in the Borough.  
This had started with Public Health’s role in analysing the local population and its 
health needs, and putting in place support, a strong focus would then be needed on 
individual and community assets to improve outcomes and manage demand on the 
formal care system.  When people needed Adult Social Care, on a short or long term 
basis, that support needed to be empowering, re-abling and good value as part of a 
sustainable care system. 

‘Supporting Our Future’ had identified five priority outcomes for the local care 
system, as follows: 

 An approach which drove wellness and independence; 

 Clear information and advice about local services, which facilitated access and 
self-care; 

Page 31



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

 A supportive and sustainable local market, offering choice and value; 

 A skilled workforce which empowered and enabled people; 

 A sustainable system which offered good value. 

Resolved – That the ‘Supporting Our Future’ Reading Borough Council Adult Social 
Care Strategy 2019-2022 be noted. 

9. READING DRUG AND ALCOHOL COMMISSIONING STRATEGY FOR YOUNG 
PEOPLE AND ADULTS 2018 – 2022 AND ACTION PLAN - UPDATE 

David Munday submitted a report giving an update on the Reading Drug and Alcohol 
Commissioning Strategy and Action Plan for Young People and Adults from 2018 to 
2022.  The report had appended: 

 Appendix 1 - Reading Drug and Alcohol Commissioning Strategy for Young 

People and Adults 2018-2022 

 Appendix 2 - Reading Drug and Alcohol Strategy Action Plan 2018-2022. 

The report explained that the Strategy had been written in line with the Government 
Drug Strategy 2017, the Governments’ Alcohol Strategy 2012 and Reading Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2017-2020 and had been agreed by Policy Committee on 24 
September 2018.   

The Public Health Team had carried out a procurement exercise from October 2018 to 
March 2019 to re-procure a new drug and alcohol treatment service and the new Drug 
and Alcohol Behaviour Change, Treatment Recovery System contract had been 
awarded to Change, Grow, Live (CGL), and had commenced on 1 October 2019. 

The Action Plan had been developed with partners and had three priority areas, of 
Prevention, Treatment, and Enforcement and Regulation.  It had been approved by 
the Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and Education Committee on 21 October 
2019, but was being used as a ‘live’ document and would be regularly updated. 

Kate Stockdale addressed the Board giving a summary of activity by CGL since the 
start of their contract.  She said that things had gone well, with new referrals even in 
the first few weeks, CGL undertaking outreach work in joint operations with Thames 
Valley Police, providing routes into treatment for hard to reach groups, and that 
there were further operations planned.  CGL were also developing partnerships with 
local hospitals, GPs and community pharmacies. 

David Munday reported that there were more potential opportunities to reduce drug-
related harm and partners were looking at developing innovative ways to reduce harm 
and death related to drug use and increase referrals into treatment services in 
Reading.  He said that he would bring a report to a future meeting of the Board. 

Resolved – 

(1) That the report and the Drug and Alcohol Action Plan 2018-2022 be 
noted; 

(2) That a report on the development of plans for reducing drug-related 
harm be brought to a future meeting of the Board. 

Page 32



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

10. BERKSHIRE WEST LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD (LSCB) ANNUAL 
REPORT 2018/19 

Deborah Glassbrook submitted a report presenting the Berkshire West Local 
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report for 2018/19 on the work of and 
achievements of the LSCB for the 2018/2019 financial year, which was appended to 
the report.  The report also described the new partnership arrangements that had 
replaced the LSCB from April 2019. 

The report explained that, until March 2019, the LSCB had been the key statutory 
partnership whose role was to oversee how the relevant organisations co-operated to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children in Reading and to ensure the 
effectiveness of the arrangements, as outlined in statutory guidance Working 
Together to Safeguard Children 2015 and 2018.   

The LSCB was required to publish an Annual Report on the effectiveness of child 
safeguarding and promoting welfare of children in Reading.  The report had to be 
presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board in line with statutory guidance. 

The report explained that the Annual Report contained information on activities and 
achievements that demonstrated the partnership working and scrutiny in the LSCB 
and the impact this had on practice, and listed the achievements and ongoing 
challenges for the LSCB and partners against the following priorities identified for the 
2018/19 year: 

 Domestic Abuse 

 Exploitation 

 Implementation of the new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements 

 Locality based priorities 

The report stated that, in May 2018, the three separate LSCBs in Berkshire West 
(Reading, Wokingham and West Berkshire) had begun a trial year operating as a single 
Board, as part of the transition to new partnership arrangements.  In July 2018, a 
revised Working Together to Safeguard Children had been published, which had 
removed the statutory requirement to have an LSCB, but required statutory partners 
to ensure appropriate local safeguarding arrangements were in place.  Berkshire West 
had published its arrangements in March 2019 and they had been implemented in 
June 2019.  However, there remained a requirement for a final LSCB annual report, 
which was attached for information.  This was a Berkshire West report, but 
information in relation to Reading was specified within it. 

The annual report also provided more details of how the new multi-agency 
partnership, the Berkshire West Safeguarding Children Partnership (BWSCP), would be 
different to the LSCB and it had appended a structure chart for the new 
arrangements.  The BWSCP would continue to produce an annual report, which would 
be shared. 

Resolved –  That the annual report of the Berkshire West Local Safeguarding 
Children Board 2018/19 and the revised safeguarding children 
partnership arrangements be noted. 

Page 33



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

11. INTEGRATION PROGRAMME UPDATE 

Lewis Willing submitted a report giving an update on the Integration Programme and 
on progress made against the delivery of the national Better Care Fund (BCF) targets 
for the financial year so far.   

The report stated that, of the four national BCF targets, performance against one 
(limiting the number of new residential placements) was strong, with 49 placements 
made in eight months and a projected 74 placements for the financial year (against a 
target of 116 for the financial year).  It stated that partners had not met the target 
for reducing the number of non-elective admissions (NELs) but the performance was 
close to the target and work against this goal remained a focus for the Berkshire 
West-wide BCF schemes and the Reading Integration Board work plan.   

The target for reducing the number of delayed transfers of care (DTOC) had been met 
for half of the financial year, with improvement in performance in four of the six 
months of the financial year for DTOC attributed to both health and adult social care 
and improvement in five of six months attributed to health. 

Progress against the target for increasing the effectiveness of reablement services 
remained in line with the decreased performance previously reported, but this was 
due to revised guidance around the methods of measuring their impact and did not 
reflect a drop in actual performance.  Further activities were planned to align the 
reablement offer with emerging national best practice. 

The report gave further details of BCF performance and gave details of items 
progressed since September 2019 and the next steps planned for January to March 
2020.   

Resolved -  That the report and progress be noted. 

12. BETTER CARE FUND PLANNING RETURN 2019/20 

Lewis Willing submitted a report seeking retrospective approval for the Better Care 
Fund (BCF) Funding planning template, which had been completed for the financial 
year 2019/2020 and submitted in September 2019 in line with required timescales.  
The report included a table that provided a summary of how the Better Care Fund 
budget would be spent in 2019/20 and a more comprehensive breakdown of the 
budget for 2019/20 and the services that it supported was set out in Appendix 1. 

The report explained that the return covered details of the plans to utilise the Better 
Care Fund and how Adult Social Care and Health services planned to use these funds 
in an integrated way to maximise system impact (pending NHS England agreement).  
It was reported at the meeting that NHS England had now agreed the Reading Better 
Care Fund for 2019/20. 

The funds had to be used to support the locality to meet the four Better Care Fund 
targets and the use of the funds had to be jointly agreed.  The four targets were: 
 

 Reducing the number of placements made in residential and nursing homes 

 Reducing the number of delayed transfers of care (DTOC)  

 Reducing the number of people that returned to hospital within 90 days of 
their discharge 

Page 34



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

 Reducing non-elective admissions to hospital (NEL) 

The report explained that the timing of the return and the Better Care Fund quarterly 
returns did not align with Health and Wellbeing Board meetings and this was 
compounded by short timescales to collect and draft the complex responses that were 
required by NHS England.   

The report therefore requested retrospective approval for the BCF submission that 
had been submitted by the required deadline and reported that the sign off of all 
future Better Care Fund returns had been delegated by the Adult Social Care, 
Children’s Services and Education Committee to the Executive Director of Social Care 
and Health and the Clinical Commissioning Group Director of Operations for Reading, 
in consultation with the Lead Councillor for Health, Wellbeing and Sport and the Lead 
Councillor for Adult Social Care (Minute 27 refers). 

Mandeep Bains noted that, while she accepted that there was probably service user 
feedback being gathered on the BCF projects, there was no information about this 
feedback provided at the Reading Integration Board or the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and it would be useful to see evidence of how these services and improvements 
were being experienced by users, when considering programmes of work.  It was 
suggested that Lewis Willing should ask the Chair of the Reading Integration Board 
(RIB) to take on a piece of work for the RIB to look at information on the service user 
feedback being gathered in the various BCF work programmes and report on this to 
the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Resolved – 

(1) That the report be noted; 

(2) That retrospective approval be given for the Better Care Fund 
submission (a summary of which was set out in Appendix 1), which had 
been submitted in September 2019 in order to comply with national 
deadlines outside of the Board meeting cycle; 

(3) That it be noted that the Executive Director of Social Care and Health 
(Reading Borough Council) and the Director of Operations (Clinical 
Commissioning Group) had been given delegated authority to sign off 
Better Care Fund returns in future, in consultation with the Lead 
Councillor for Health, Wellbeing and Sport and Lead Councillor for Adult 
Social Care; 

(4) That Lewis Willing investigate the pulling together of information on the 
service user feedback being gathered on BCF work programmes, to be 
looked at by the RIB and for the RIB to report on this to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

13. HEALTH AND WELLBEING DASHBOARD & ACTION PLAN – JANUARY 2020 

Janette Searle submitted a report giving an update on delivery against the Health and 
Wellbeing Action Plan (Appendix A) and on the Health and Wellbeing Dashboard 
(Appendix B), which set out local trends.  The report therefore gave an overview of 
performance and progress towards achieving local goals as set out in the 2017-20 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

Page 35



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 17 JANUARY 2020 

The report summarised the performance against the eight priority areas in the Action 
Plan and paragraph 2.2 of the report set out details of updates to the data and 
performance indicators which had been included in the Health and Wellbeing 
dashboard since the last report. 

Resolved - That the report be noted. 

14. CARE QUALITY COMMISSION (CQC) REVIEW OF READING HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE SYSTEM – ACTION PLAN QUARTERLY UPDATE 

Lewis Willing submitted a report giving a quarterly update on the Action Plan 
developed following the Care Quality Commission (CQC) Review of the Reading Health 
and Social Care System that had been carried out by the CQC in 2018.  The report had 
appended the updated Action Plan, which gave details of progress made on each area 
for improvement. 

Resolved – That the report be noted. 

15. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

Resolved – That the next meeting be held at 2.00pm on Friday 13 March 2020. 

(The meeting started at 2.00pm and closed at 4.13pm) 

Page 36



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

Present:  

Councillor Hoskin 
(Chair) 

Lead Councillor for Health, Wellbeing & Sport, Reading 
Borough Council (RBC) 

Mandeep Bains Chief Executive, Healthwatch Reading (substituting for David 
Shepherd) 

Councillor Brock Leader of the Council, RBC 
Andy Ciecierski North & West Reading Locality Clinical Lead, Berkshire West 

CCG 
Kate Reynolds Director of Education, Brighter Futures for Children (BFfC) 
Rachel Spencer  Chief Executive, Reading Voluntary Action  
Councillor Terry  Lead Councillor for Children, RBC 
Cathy Winfield Chief Officer, Berkshire West CCG 

Also in attendance: 
 

Gwen Bonner Clinical Director, Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 
(BHFT) 

Ruth Evans Associate Professor in Human Geography & Participation Lab 
Leader, University of Reading 

Andy Fitton Assistant Director for Joint Commissioning, Berkshire West CCG 
Sarah Hunneman Neighbourhood Facilitator, Public Health & Wellbeing Team, 

RBC 
Deb Hunter Head of SEND & Principal Educational & Child Psychologist, 

BFfC 
David Munday Consultant in Public Health, RBC 
Janette Searle Preventative Services Manager, RBC 
Nicky Simpson Committee Services, RBC 
Lewis Willing Integration Project Manager, RBC & Berkshire West CCG 
Theresa Wyles Divisional Director. BHFT 

Apologies: 
 

Jon Dickinson Assistant Director of Adult Social Care, RBC 
Seona Douglas Director of Adult Care & Health Services, RBC 
Deborah Glassbrook Director of Children’s Services, Brighter Futures for Children 

(BFfC) 
Councillor Jones Lead Councillor for Adult Social Care, RBC 
Tessa Lindfield Strategic Director of Public Health for Berkshire 
Bhupinder Rai Reading LPA Commander, Thames Valley Police  
David Shepherd Chair, Healthwatch Reading 

1. MINUTES  

The Minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2020 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 

2. QUESTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH STANDING ORDER 36 

The following questions were asked by Tom Lake in accordance with Standing Order 
36: 
 

Page 37



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

a) Life Expectancy 
 

Sir Michael Marmot's recent report highlights declines in life expectancy and 
healthy life expectancy especially for women in poorer communities. Please 
give the corresponding figures for Reading in as fine geographical grain as 
possible, eg by ward or Census LSOA. 

 
REPLY by Councillor Hoskin (Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board): 
 

Thank you, Mr Lake for your question. Sir Michael Marmot’s report, 10 years on 
from his ground-breaking original review into health inequalities was 
profoundly depressing. Tackling inequalities in health outcomes in Reading is 
the overarching mission of this Health and Wellbeing Board as expressed in our 
Strategy. In my view inequalities in health are the worst inequalities of all and 
the widening gap between the health and life expectancies of the richest and 
poorest in England since 2010 is a scar upon our country. It literally condemns 
millions of our fellow citizens to many years of unnecessary poor health and 
earlier deaths. 
 
Most alarmingly the causes of these worsening health outcomes and declines in 
life expectancy amongst poorer communities are likely to have a big impact for 
years to come. The effects of massive governments cuts to the public services 
such as Sure Start Children’s Services, Youth Provision, the voluntary and 
community sectors, social care and public health are all likely to damage 
health in England for decades to come. 
 
Reading, whilst a relatively prosperous town, is also the third most unequal 
city in England and so our focus on tackling health inequalities in the face of a 
national government making the problem worse is critical. 
 
The following is the best data we have in health inequalities in Reading over 
this period. 

 
Baseline:  
 
Life expectancy at birth for people in Reading increased significantly between 2001-
03 and 2008-10 as follows:  
 
Male 

 LE LCI UCI 

2001-03 75.8 75.2 76.4 

2008-10 77.7 77.1 78.3 

 
Female 

 LE LCI UCI 

2001-03 80.9 80.3 81.6 

2008-10 82.4 81.8 83.0 

 
(Healthy life expectancy is not available for these time periods)  
 

Page 38



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

Neither life expectancy nor healthy life expectancy at birth increased significantly for 
men or women between 2009-11 and 2016-18. Healthy life expectancy for women 
decreased from 66 years to 64.4 years.  
 
Male 

 LE LCI UCI 

2009-11 78.2 77.6 78.8 

2016-18 79.1 78.5 79.6 

 
Female 

 LE LCI UCI 

2009-11 82.8 82.2 83.4 

2016-18 83.1 82.6 83.7 

 
 
Male 

 HLE LCI UCI 

2009-11 64.6 62.8 66.5 

2016-18 65.1 63.0 67.2 

 
Female 

 HLE LCI UCI 

2009-11 66.0 64.1 68.0 

2016-18 64.4 62.1 66.7 

 
Public Health Outcomes Framework, Indicators A01a and A01b. 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-
framework/data#page/0/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/202/are/E06000038 
(Accessed 05/03/2020).  
 
Life expectancy (LE) and Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) are not published by Ward or 
LSOA as frequently as for larger geographical areas. The most recent statistical 
publication is from 2018 and is based on 2009-13 data. The table below shows 
differences in LE and HLE between wards. Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) scores 
for each ward from 2015 and 2019 are shown on the right (higher score = greater 
deprivation).  
 

Ward name 
LE at birth 2009-13 HLE at birth 2009-13 IMD deprivation score  

Male  Female  Male Female 2019 2015 

Whitley 75.5 80.1 59.0 58.9 32.3 31.1 

Norcot 76.5 83.7 60.3 63.1 28.0 25.4 

Battle 78.1 82.1 62.7 63.2 22.6 25.0 

Church 77.4 81.4 61.7 62.6 24.6 24.6 

Abbey 74.1 81.8 59.1 63.4 23.7 24.3 

Katesgrove 77.4 85.1 61.8 64.8 21.0 22.8 

Minster 75.3 79.8 61.7 63.1 21.8 21.7 

Southcote 79.2 85.5 63.2 65.5 26.4 21.5 

Caversham 78.1 83.8 64.8 65.4 17.2 18.1 

Page 39

about:blank#page/0/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/202/are/E06000038
about:blank#page/0/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/202/are/E06000038


READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

Ward name 
LE at birth 2009-13 HLE at birth 2009-13 IMD deprivation score  

Male  Female  Male Female 2019 2015 

Kentwood 78.4 80.3 65.2 65.7 17.7 17.4 

Park 78.2 83.0 64.1 67.0 14.6 15.4 

Redlands 78.5 84.4 64.1 66.9 14.9 15.3 

Tilehurst 79.0 84.9 65.6 67.3 16.9 14.8 

Peppard 81.5 86.3 68.7 70.6 7.6 7.0 

Thames 82.3 86.0 71.0 73.0 4.0 4.6 

Mapledurha

m 85.1 92.2 74.3 74.4 3.5 3.0 

 
Health state life expectancy at birth and age 65 by 2011 Census wards, England and 
Wales, 2009 to 2013, ONS, 2018. 
 
b) COVID-19 - Volunteer Support for Vulnerable and Elderly People in Self-

Isolation 

In preparation for widespread infection by COVID-19 could Reading Borough and 
NHS consider working with RVA to set up an effective telephone support 
tree/network working through volunteers for vulnerable and elderly people 
who are in self-isolation? 

REPLY by Councillor Hoskin (Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board): 

As advice and guidance from national government and Public Health England 
evolves, and looking at the progression of COVID-19 in other countries, it is 
clear that large numbers of people both in Reading and across the country are 
going to need to self-isolate.  

Reading’s Public Health Team has been ensuring that Reading Voluntary Action 
and other key voluntary sector partners are included in the dissemination of 
guidance and briefings. RBC’s Chief Executive’s Voluntary and Community 
Sector Sounding Board has been one forum where this has been done. In 
addition, those voluntary sector organisations currently working alongside 
Adult Social Care staff at the Adult Care Front Door have been involved in 
conversations about protecting vulnerable and elderly adults at this time as 
Adult Social Care business continuity plans have been updated.    

Reading Voluntary Action has been proactive in disseminating information from 
the National Council for Voluntary Organisations to local voluntary sector 
groups. The advice which has been shared recognises that these organisations’ 
service users or beneficiaries may be more at risk or highly concerned about 
the virus, and the role that volunteers can play in providing clear and updated 
information. This may be to raise awareness of prevention measures, such as 
handwashing, offering reassurance, and more specific advice for people living 
with particular long term conditions. Information has been shared which 
includes the latest guidance from Public Health England on responding to the 
emerging situation within health, social care and community settings as well as 
information from national charities with expertise in different areas of health 
vulnerability. 

Page 40



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

The Berkshire Influenza Pandemic Response Plan is currently under review, 
aligned with emerging information about the spread of COVID-19. The 
Berkshire Response Plan includes a local communications strategy to ensure a 
consistent measure is given across Berkshire - re-iterating nationally agreed 
public health messages and providing local information regarding availability of 
and access to services. Within the review of the local communications strategy, 
we will look to identify the most effective ways of continuing to partner with 
Reading Voluntary Action and other voluntary sector infrastructure 
organisations across Berkshire. This will include working with RVA and the third 
sector more broadly to support communication across our communities to help 
reduce the risk of transmission and infection by providing information, specific 
advice and communications covering infection control, risk, self-management 

and referral. 

I hope I am wrong but in my personal opinion I am very concerned that the 
government is taking an alarmingly complacent approach to dealing with the 
biggest public health crisis to face us for a century. In my view the wanton cuts 
to public services by national government since 2010 together with a 
chronically underfunded NHS barely able to cope before the outbreak of 
COVID-19 leave the UK in a precarious position to deal with this pandemic. It is 
clear that the role of voluntary and community groups will be vital but, surely, 
even more vital will be the role of families, friends and neighbours looking out 
for each other. A crucial piece of work in the coming weeks will be to give 
Reading people the advice and support required so we can all look out for each 
other over what will be a very difficult time ahead. 

3. REDUCING LONELINESS AND SOCIAL ISOLATION: UPDATE FROM THE READING 
STEERING GROUP 

Janette Searle, Sarah Hunneman  and Ruth Evans submitted a report which 
summarised the work of the Reading Reducing Loneliness and Social Isolation (LSI) 
Steering Group - a multi-agency partnership established in 2017 to deliver on one of 
the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2017-20 – and sought the Health 
and Wellbeing Board’s endorsement of the current Action Plan and specific proposals 
regarding a Reading ‘Safe Places’ scheme.  The report had appended: 

Appendix 1 Evans & Bridger (2019) - Tackling Loneliness and Social Isolation in 
Reading, England - University of Reading  

Appendix 2 Summary presentation: Tackling Loneliness and Social Isolation in 
Reading, England   

Appendix 3 Reading Loneliness and Social Isolation Action Plan – updated February 
2020 

Appendix 4 Measuring the wellbeing impact: summary of Narrowing the Gap II 
monitoring (Social prescribing, Peer support and reducing social isolation 
for frail/elderly adults, and Peer support and reducing social isolation 
for adults who have experienced mental ill health) – February 2020   

The report explained that the LSI Steering Group’s work had included support for 
research to develop local understanding of loneliness and social isolation as an all-age 
issue.  The report included the findings set out in the resulting report “Tackling 
loneliness and social isolation in Reading, England” published by the University of 
Reading in 2019 (Appendix 1), together with the Steering Group’s response set out in 

Page 41



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

the Reading LSI action plan (Appendix 3).  Ruth Evans gave a presentation on a 
summary of the findings (Appendix 2). 

The report stated that, although loneliness and social isolation were now more widely 
recognised as significant health and wellbeing issues, there was still a stigma around 
loneliness and some myths perpetuated around who was affected or at risk.  As well 
as the need for greater general awareness and acceptance, there was also a need for 
targeted action to meet the needs of more vulnerable people or those at greater risk.  
Because so many factors could impact on loneliness and social isolation risk, there 
was a need for more joined up thinking at a policy level, for example to address 
infrastructure issues such as transport, and a specific group had been set up to 
address this issue. 

The LSI Action Plan had recently been updated to add the development of a Reading 
‘Safe Places’ scheme, aimed at adding to local support for people at particular risk of 
experiencing loneliness or social isolation by providing physical ‘safe places’ and 
information and training about how to access those places.   

The Safe Places National Network had been created to break down barriers vulnerable 
people faced every day.  The Preparing for Adulthood Team at RBC had become 
interested in this as a way of supporting young people with learning disabilities to 
become more independent as they entered adulthood, but the scheme could support 
any vulnerable adult, and the national Safe Places team encouraged a broader remit.  
The Dementia Friendly Reading Group (formerly the Dementia Action Alliance) was 
keen to support the initiative, as were Reading Buses, Autism Berkshire and Age UK.  

By becoming a member of Safe Places, Reading would be able to access a range of 
resources to help teach people about keeping safe and how to locate a Safe Place 
whilst out and about.  The aim was to encourage vulnerable adults to engage with 
their community.  The report gave details of the resources and ways of accessing 
them, explaining that the LSI Steering Group would oversee the Reading scheme, with 
individual members supporting the scheme as most appropriate to their 
circumstances, such as offering venues or support in developing and delivering local 
training.  

Copies of Safe Places registration packs and other materials were made available at 
the meeting and Health and Wellbeing Board members were invited to support the 
local scheme by helping with: 

 offering possible Safe Place premises 

 recruiting people with lived experiences 

 delivering training 

 making resources accessible, including videos 

 promoting the scheme and getting people to sign up 

 use of partner logos 

The report stated that national indicators available to monitor progress in the area of 
LSI currently remained limited to those known to adult social care services, which was 
a small subset of the population, but this was about to change.  Appendix 4 to the 
report included examples of work carried out by some Steering Group members to 
monitor the wellbeing impact of different local services aimed at reducing social 

Page 42



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

isolation, which were provided as part of the Council’s Narrowing the Gap II 
commissioning framework. 

Resolved -   

(1) That the findings and recommendations contained in the University of 
Reading report Tackling Loneliness and Social Isolation in Reading, 
England (attached at Appendix 1 and summarised at Appendix 2) be 
noted; 

(2) That the Reading Loneliness and Social Isolation Steering Group’s Action 
Plan (Appendix 3), and specifically the proposal to develop a Reading 
Safe Places scheme, be endorsed; 

(3) That the impact of the three Narrowing the Gap service areas 
summarised at Appendix 4 – social prescribing, peer support for elderly 
or frail adults, and peer support for adults living with mental health 
challenges - be noted. 

4. REFRESHED FUTURE IN MIND (LOCAL TRANSFORMATION PLAN FOR CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S MENTAL HEALTH & WELLBEING)  

Further to Minute 8 of the meeting held on 15 March 2019, Andy Fitton and Deb 
Hunter submitted a report giving an overview and seeking approval of the refreshed 
Future in Mind Local Transformation Plan (LTP) for Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health and Wellbeing, which had been published in October 2019 in 
accordance with national Future In Mind requirements and a copy of which was 
attached at Appendix 1.  The LTP provided an update on service development and 
improvement across the comprehensive Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 
(CAMHS) system.   

The report explained that, like in most other areas of the country, demand for 
emotional health and wellbeing services had increased across the voluntary sector, 
schools and specialist services and the complexity of presenting issues was increasing, 
both of which were having an impact on waiting times.  It gave details of key 
achievements in the area of children and young people’s mental health and 
wellbeing, of areas of challenge and development and of priorities going forward. 

The report gave further details of the success of the trailblazing multi-disciplinary 
Mental Health Support Team formally launched in January 2020, which provided a 
school-based mental health service to deliver evidence-based interventions for 
emerging mild to moderate mental health needs.  The MHST covered 16 schools across 
the west of Reading and had so far received 80 referrals.  The report also gave 
updates on the Schools Link Mental Health Team, secondary schools mental health 
hubs, Trauma-Informed Reading and the Therapeutic Thinking Schools Approach to 
behaviour management, adopted to reduce the risk of exclusions and dangerous or 
difficult behaviour. 

In response to a query from Mandeep Bains about the waiting times for ADHD 
assessments and support to parents, Andy Fitton said he did not have the exact 
figures but could find this out.  He confirmed that the waiting times had increased 
and explained that the process was a good but long one but access to other services 
was available in the meantime, the communication was being reviewed with the 

Page 43



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

provider to ensure that parents were made aware of what was available, and it was 
also important that schools and other professionals took a needs-led approach for the 
children involved.  It was noted that workforce training was helpful and the voluntary 
sector could also play a part in raising awareness and signposting parents to services 
and other support groups available; it was suggested that appropriate officers from 
RVA, BFfC and the CCG could meet to discuss this further. 

Resolved -   

(1) That the refreshed Future in Mind Local Transformation Plan be 
approved; 

(2) That appropriate officers meet to discuss further the role of the 
voluntary sector in raising awareness of services and support groups 
available for children and parents whilst awaiting ADHD assessments. 

5. MENTAL HEALTH STRATEGY 2016-21 – PROGRESS UPDATE 

Further to Minute 7 of the meeting held on 15 March 2019, Gwen Bonner and Theresa 
Wyles submitted a report presenting an update on progress on the Berkshire 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust’s (BHFT’s) Mental Health Strategy 2016-21 (attached 
at Appendix 1). 

The report gave an overview of changes since the last report, including key updates in 
national policy following the release of the NHS Long Term Plan, and highlighted the 
following points: 

 Berkshire West had prioritised the reduction of out of area placements, and 
although good progress had been made in achieving the required trajectory, 
this work continued to present a significant challenge.  

 Berkshire West had been successful in securing wave 2 funding for mental 
health support teams in schools, building on the wave 1 funding secured 
previously.  This would strengthen early intervention for young people, which 
was very important given the continuing high referral rates into CAMH Services. 

 Good progress had been made with the New Models of Care for forensic tier 
four CAMHS and Eating Disorder Services, which had seen the establishment of 
provider collaboratives taking responsibility for provision of care closer to 
home and effective management of resources across the whole care pathway.  
This had reduced the number of placements made outside the patch and also 
secured financial savings in forensic services.  

Resolved -  That the report be noted. 

6. UPDATE ON JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT MODEL 

David Munday submitted a report giving an update on each of the three strands of the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) model. 

The report explained that, on 12 October 2018 (Minute 7 refers), the Board had 
agreed to progress the JSNA in line with a new model which provided a more cohesive 
and efficient approach to assessing the needs of the local population.  The new JSNA 
model had been developed to contain three strands:  

Page 44



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

 A digital resource of data to describe the demography and wider determinants 
of health of the Reading population in a way that was user-friendly and 
configurable;  

 A repository for detailed, service-specific needs assessments carried out by 
internal and external partners with support from Public Health and Wellbeing 
officers;  

 Improved engagement with local research groups, focusing on qualitative and 
participatory research. 

The report explained that an online data tool had been procured by the Shared Public 
Health for Berkshire Team for the six Berkshire local authorities, and this Berkshire 
Observatory had been launched in September 2019, holding over 9,000 data indicators 
on the local population in Berkshire, and was now being used internally and by 
external partners as a data resource, informing strategic service planning and 
decision making at the Council and in the wider community.  Appendix 1 outlined the 
main functionality of the Berkshire Observatory data tool. 

The second strand of the JSNA model focused on producing content in alignment with 
needs assessments that had already been undertaken or were in the process of being 
developed by staff in the Council and its partners as part of its strategic development 
and commissioning.  An example of one of the needs analyses was attached at 
Appendix 2 (Berkshire Sexual Health Needs Assessment – Reading Summary – by Public 
Health Services for Berkshire).   

The report stated that the final strand of the JSNA model looked to improve 
engagement with local research, especially qualitative and participatory research, 
that captured service users’ voices.  A working group had been established with local 
partners to develop a Local Research and Evidence Framework.  The work had 
concluded on 27 January 2020, with agreement to hold an annual review meeting in 
February of each year, providing an opportunity to reflect on the panel process and 
agree changes where needed, and to promote and celebrate local research projects.  
Appendix 3 showed the process for including local research on the Reading Borough 
Council JSNA webpages. 

David Munday said that the report author was available to visit partner organisations 
to give a live demonstration of how to obtain information from the Berkshire 
Observatory data tool. 

Resolved –  That the report and the progress made be noted. 

7. CORONAVIRUS UPDATE  

David Munday gave a verbal update on the latest situation regarding the recent 
outbreak of Coronavirus (COVID 19).  The briefing covered points including: 

 The Coronavirus was not a new phenomenon, but a novel strain of virus that 
was spreading globally and for which there was no existing immunity.  It had 
been likened to flu in that it was transmitted by respiratory droplets and had 
some similar symptoms. 

 Current numbers of reported cases in the UK were relatively low, but there 
were probably more cases than had had a positive lab test result.  There was 
currently only one reported case in the Reading Borough Council area. 

Page 45



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

 The Government had moved from a containment phase to a delay phase on 12 
March 2020, in order to “flatten the curve” of cases to spread out the effect 
and move the peak of infection to the summer months where there would 
hopefully be less impact on the vulnerable, health services and society.   

 There was close partnership working in Reading across all services through the 
Local Resilience Forum and careful reviews of business continuity planning 
were being carried out.   

 Communication teams were following Public Health England messages in advice 
being given and Government guidance was being followed, for example in 
relation to not yet advising social distancing, cancellation of mass gatherings, 
school closures etc, as such changes would have a knock-on impact.  Any such 
measures would have medical versus social and economic trade-offs and 
needed to be considered carefully. 

 Changes were being made at GP surgeries in relation to moving to triage and 
phone or video appointments to avoid risk of patient infection and protect 
staff, and anyone with potential COVID 19 symptoms was being advised to self-
isolate to avoid infecting others.  

 Many people had already been in touch with RVA offering to volunteer and 
partners would be working together to coordinate and equip any volunteer 
response. 

Resolved – That the position be noted. 

8. DEVELOPING A BERKSHIRE WEST JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY – 
UPDATE  

Further to Minute 12 of the meeting held on 12 July 2019, David Munday gave a verbal 
update on the latest progress on the development of a Berkshire West Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy as part of the Berkshire West Integrated Care Partnership. 

He said that a joint Task and Finish Strategy Development Group had now been 
established and some dedicated resource had been allocated to the Group, including 
programme management and some Public Health analytic support.  An initial meeting 
of the Group had been held in the previous week and current tasks involved a desktop 
review of existing strategic documents and looking at previous public and patient 
consultations, to understand existing strategic commitments and partners’ priorities 
and to inform strategic development.  A communication and stakeholder engagement 
plan would be developed and the Group would meet monthly.  Some design principles 
had been agreed – that the strategy should be short and punchy and strategic at a 
high level, but supported by shared local implementation plans, in order to keep 
appropriate focus on Reading’s and other authorities’ local needs.  The strategy 
would have a focus on prevention and would aim to secure integration both 
geographically and with all partners. 

Formal reports on development of the Strategy would be brought to the Board as 
appropriate as the strategy was developed. 

Resolved – That the position be noted. 

Page 46



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

9. INTEGRATION PROGRAMME UPDATE 

Lewis Willing submitted a report giving an update on the Integration Programme and 
on progress made against the delivery of the national Better Care Fund (BCF) targets 
for the financial year so far.   

The report stated that, of the four national BCF targets, performance against one 
(limiting the number of new residential placements) was strong, with 51 placements 
made in nine months and a projected 68 placements for the financial year (against a 
target of 116 for the financial year).  It stated that partners had not met the target 
for reducing the number of non-elective admissions (NELs) but the performance now 
included some of the winter pressure period and work against this goal remained a 
focus for the Berkshire West-wide BCF schemes and the Reading Integration Board 
work plan.   

The target for reducing the number of delayed transfers of care (DTOC) had been met 
for 63% of the financial year, with improvement in performance in five of the eight 
months of the financial year for DTOC. 

Progress against the target for increasing the effectiveness of reablement services 
remained in line with the decreased performance previously reported, but this was 
due to revised guidance around the methods of measuring their impact and did not 
reflect a drop in actual performance.  Further activities were planned to align the 
reablement offer with emerging national best practice. 

The report gave further details of BCF performance and gave details of items 
progressed since January 2020 and the next steps planned for March to May 2020.   

Resolved -  That the report and progress be noted. 

10. HEALTH AND WELLBEING DASHBOARD – MARCH 2020 

Janette Searle submitted a report giving an update on the Health and Wellbeing 
Dashboard (Appendix A), which set out local trends.  The report therefore gave an 
overview of performance and progress towards achieving local goals as set out in the 
2017-20 Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

The report summarised the performance against the eight priority areas in the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy and paragraph 2.2 of the report set out details of updates to 
the data and performance indicators which had been included in the Health and 
Wellbeing dashboard since the last report. 

Resolved - That the report be noted. 

11. CARE QUALITY COMMISSION (CQC) REVIEW OF READING HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE SYSTEM – ACTION PLAN QUARTERLY UPDATE 

Lewis Willing submitted a report giving a quarterly update on the Action Plan 
developed following the Care Quality Commission (CQC) Review of the Reading Health 
and Social Care System that had been carried out by the CQC in 2018.  The report had 
appended the updated Action Plan, which gave details of progress made on each area 
for improvement. 

Page 47



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 13 MARCH 2020 

Resolved – That the report be noted. 

12. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

Resolved – That the meetings for the Municipal Year 2020/21 be held at 2.00pm on 
the following dates: 

 Friday 17 July 2020 

 Friday 9 October 2020 

 Friday 22 January 2021 

 Friday 19 March 2021 

(The meeting started at 2.00pm and closed at 4.21pm) 

Page 48



READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SOCIAL CARE & HEALTH 
 

TO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE  
 

DATE: 22 OCTOBER 2020 
 

AGENDA ITEM 10 

TITLE: NURSING DEMENTIA BLOCK CONTRACT PROCUREMENT 
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

COUNCILLOR JONES PORTFOLIO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

SERVICE: ALL 
 

WARDS: BOROUGHWIDE 

LEAD OFFICER: MELISSA WISE 
 

TEL: 01189372210 

JOB TITLE: ASSISTANT 
DIRECTOR 
COMMISSIONING - 
DACHS 
 

E-MAIL: melissa.wise@reading.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. The Council currently commissions 68 Block Beds under two contracts for Nursing 

and Nursing Dementia provision. Both contracts are due to expire, or have the 
option to be terminated, in the very near future.  

 
1.2. Placement trends from the past three financial years evidences (see 4.2 in the 

main report) that demand for these types of nursing home placements exceeds 
the capacity of both blocks, highlighting continued demand. In addition financial 
analysis demonstrates that even with a higher rate per bed than is currently 
charged, new block contracts would generate cost avoidances compared to 
purchasing (non-block) spot placements from the market. 

 
1.3. This report reviews the effectiveness & value for money of the current contracts 

and makes recommendations to ensure best use of public funds going forward and 
opportunities to maximise the utilisation of new contracts.  

 

 
2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That procurement of new block contracts of up to 15 beds each to total 30 

beds (for 01/10/2021), each contract to be for the term of 2 years with the 
option to extend for up to a further 4 years, be agreed; 

 
2.2 That the Executive Director Social Care and Health, in consultation with 

the Lead Councillor for Adult Social Care, be granted delegated authority to 
enter into a contract with the successful tenderer(s) for the support/care 

Page 49

Agenda Item 10

mailto:melissa.wise@reading.gov.uk


services to be provided through the above framework agreement, at the 
stage of contract award (close of Q4 2020/2021). 

 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1 Reading Borough Council (RBC) is committed to promoting the continued 

independence of all adults in Reading by helping to prevent, reduce or delay 
the need for care and support. The Council relies in the main on a market of 
independent care providers to provide the high-quality care needed. 

 
3.2 Block contracts help the Council to meet these goals by giving us secured and 

dedicated provision around the borough that can be used to assist with easing 
winter pressures and delayed discharges. 

 
4. THE PROPOSAL 
 

Current Position: 
 

4.1 Demand   
 

 The Council makes an average of 45 nursing DE placements each year 
(based on placement trends in 17/18 to 19/20), exceeding the current 
yearly capacity for block beds (by 15 for nursing dementia).  
 

 The majority of placements (80% nursing dementia) were made in-
borough, suggesting that service users and their families prefer local 
placements.  

 

 Based on placement trends in the year 20/21 to date figures, RBC are on 
target to make more placements than the capacity under the current 
block contracts (I.e. having made 15 nursing placements in April alone). 

 

 The draft Accommodation Needs analysis supports these trends, 
projecting an additional 15 service users being in nursing dementia 
placements in 2035 compared to the total number of service users in 
placements in 2019. 

 
4.2 Provision  The Council currently commissions a nursing dementia block 

contract with River view Nursing Home (owned by Maria Mallaband) as detailed 
in Table 1 below: 

 

Home 
Type of 

care 
Number of 

beds in block 
End of 

contract date 
Early contract 
release date 

River 
View 

Nursing 
Dementia 

30 
30th September 

2021 
N/A 

 
 Options Proposed 
 
4.3 In order to ensure that supply matches the continued demand for nursing 

dementia care home placements (and to assist with speedy hospital 
discharges), it is recommended that the Council runs a procurement to 
commission a number of block contracts securing 30 nursing dementia beds. 

Page 50



Delegated authority to award the contracts is sought accordingly. Please note 
that the procurement will not be restricted to in-borough care homes. 

 
4.4 As per the Procurement Timetable (see Appendix 2): 
 

 Work has already begun on the procurement, including drafting of new 
service specifications & contract documents (I.e. terms & conditions).  

 

 Invitations to Tender would be advertised on the 18th January 2021. 
 

 The procurement process would ensure that the new contracts would be in 
place for, and begin on, the 1st October 2021 at the latest. 

 
4.5 Contract length  It is recommended that the block contracts are for a period 

of 2 years with the option to extend for a further 4 years (in blocks of 2 years).  
 
4.6 Utilisation  Should a Care Home that already has a block contract with the 

Council be successful during this procurement the current placements can be 
subsumed into the new block contract filling it immediately (subject to current 
voids). Should a Care Home that does not have a block contract be successful 
at procurement, it is recommended that the Council pays for the full block 
contract from the start of the new contracts. 

 
 Other Options Considered 
 
4.7 Do Nothing  If the Council were to do nothing the Council will lose its secure 

nursing provision within the borough and the cost of nursing placements will 
rise quite sharply as all future placements made will be at a higher weekly 
spot rate. 

 
4.8 Direct Negotiation  If the Council were to directly negotiate a block 

contract of this value with providers then the Council would be in breach of 
the Public Procurement Regulations 2015 and its own Contract Procedure 
Rules. This is because the total lifetime cost of the contract exceeds the 
thresholds set by these regulations, which requires a procurement to be run.  

 
4.9 Procure one 30 bed block contract in the Reading Borough  RBC could 

limit the procurement to homes within the borough. However a combination of 
quality concerns & limited capacity means this would likely restrict potential 
bidders to the current provider, which would not stimulate competition.  

 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 Procuring these block contracts ensures that the Council is able to continue 

meeting residents’ needs in the most cost-effective means possible, supporting 
the following strategic objectives: 

  
1. Safeguarding and protecting those that are most vulnerable 
 
2. Providing homes for those in most need 

 

3. Remaining financially sustainable to deliver these service priorities.  
 

Page 51



 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Securing and centring the majority of placements around Care Home/s that 

are local to Berkshire will hopefully help to minimise placements in (and 
associated additional travel to / carbon footprints arising from) out of county 
care homes, for service users and their families. 

 
 
7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 
 
7.1 Market analysis of care home costs was carried out extensively during the cost 

of care project in 2018 and early 2019. Costs of placements made in 2019 and 
2020 have also been analysed and informed the rates detailed in this report.  

 
7.2 Market capacity was reviewed consistently throughout the recent pandemic. 
 
7.3 We have consulted with other surrounding Local Authority areas  to consider 

whether they would wish to  join us in a block contract arrangement. 
 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment was considered, however, as this is a decision 

to replace existing contracts there is no change to people’s service and no 
evidence or reason to believe that some (racial, disability, gender, sexuality, 
age and religious belief) groups may be affected any differently than others.  

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Delegated authority to enter into the contracts will be sought from Committee 

with a Committee paper. 
 
9.2 An Open Procurement Process will be used that is compliant with the Council’s 

Contract Procedure Rules.   
 
9.3  The procurement will be conducted in accordance with the light-touch regime 

of the 2015 Public Contracts Regulations. 
 
9.4  The underlying terms and conditions for each of the block contract agreements 

will be supplemented by Service User Placement call-off agreements for use 
when commissioning individual placements in the successful Care Homes.  

 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The recommendation to procure new block contracts of up 30 beds maximum 

on value for money basis. 
  
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
11.1 Appendix 1 – Local Nursing Home Provision 
 
11.2 Appendix 2 – Procurement timetable 

Page 52



 
 
 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1: Local Nursing Home Provision 
 
There are 5 registered nursing homes in the Reading Borough and of those 3 can provide support for 
dementia care.  
 
Surrounding the Reading Borough (within 10 miles of the town centre) there are 21 registered nursing 
homes, 17 of which can provide support for dementia care.  
 
The Map below shows two circles, the first is 5 miles from the centre of Reading and the second is 10 
miles from the centre of Reading. 
 
5 miles goes as far as Theale (in West Berkshire) & Wokingham to the east, Arborfield (in Hampshire) 
& Sonning Common (in Oxfordshire).  
 
10 miles goes as far as Yattendon / Buckleberry (in West Berkshire) and Bracknell in the east, Bramley 
(in Hampshire) to past Nettlebed / Nuffield (in Oxfordshire). 
 

 
 
Table 1: Showing the Registered Nursing Homes Within 10 Miles of Reading Town Centre  
 

Home Name 
Distance from 
Reading Town 
Centre (miles) 

Travel 
Time 

Changes 
Cost 

(return) 

Walking Time 
from Closest 
Stop to the 

Home 
(minutes) 

Sunrise Operations Sonning Limited 3.1 19 0 £4.60 3 

Austen House 3.4 32 0 £4.00 7 

Abbeycrest Nursing Home 3.5 21 0 £4.00 3 

Lord Harris Court 4.3 26 0 £3.70 17 

Bridge House Nursing Home 4.6 15 0 £3.80 9 

Lashbrook House 5.1 36 1 £4.40 9 

Hollies 5.2 28 0 £7.00 4 

Page 55



The Mount Care Home 5.4 40 0 £4.60 10 

Acacia Lodge 5.9 36 0 £4.50 4 

West Oaks 6.2 13 0 £4.30 5 

OSJCT Chilterns Court Care Centre 6.2 46 0 £4.50 7 

Thamesfield Nursing Home 6.2 41 0 £4.60 1 

The Berkshire Care Home 6.3 19 0 £4.30 11 

Glebelands House 6.4 23 0 £4.30 15 

Woodbury House 6.6 68 1 £10.00 6 

Lynden Hill Clinic 6.8 71 1 £9.80 9 

Cherry Garden 9.2 52 1 £9.80 18 

Huntercombe Hall Care Home 9.3 65 1 £10.10 10 

Apple Hill 9.4 51 1 £9.50 1 

Bracknell Care Home 9.9 35 0 £5.90 15 

Cherry Blossom Manor 10 30 0 £4.90 14 

 
These homes are all measured from the town centre of Reading, but we must remember that to get 
to the town centre many people living around Reading will have to take additional public transport to 
get to the town centre in the first place. For example, People in Tilehurst will need to take a number 
15, 16 or 17 bus to reach the town centre before then catching the transport measured above to reach 
the homes. This will often not require additional expense but will certainly increase the number of 
changes involved in the trip and the time taken.  
 
The team focused on bus routes as a mode of transport as the majority of these homes are not near 
a rail link and adding rail as a form of transport increased the costs and the number of changes 
required significantly.  
 
Of the homes listed above we can see that: 
 

 1/3 (30% or 6 homes) require at least 1 change in order to reach them.  

 1/3 (30% or 6 homes) cost more than £7.00 return per day to reach them. This might not affect 
an older person with a bus pass, but it will impact on sons and daughters and grandchildren. 
The costs can mount up very quickly.  

 40% (8 homes) the transport to them runs only once an hour or less frequently sometimes up 
to 2 hours.  

 1/5 (20% or 4 homes) have final destination stops that are still more than 15 minutes walk 
from the actual home. This will be quite a trek for a lot of the older relatives that will need to 
visit these services.  

 3/5 (60% or 12 homes) take 30 minutes or more in each direction to reach the relevant bus 
stop. This is a significant travel time for a relative, particularly as 3 of the homes take more 
than an hour in each direction by public transport to reach.  

 
There are only 4 homes on this list that take less than 30 minutes to travel to, require no changes, 
cost less than £5 and have stops less than 10 minutes walk from the home.  
 
The reasons stated above are often given to the Council by relatives as reasons why the homes 
are not suitable for placing people in. This would be a concern to the Council if block contracts 
were taken out with these homes as it would significantly increase the risk of prolonged voids in 

Page 56



the contract if we struggled to persuade Reading residents to be placed in homes outside of the 
borough.  
 
Capacity 
 
The average size of these Nursing homes is only 54 beds (largest 103 beds and smallest 12 beds). 
Of the 21 care homes within 10 miles of Reading, 10 are not large enough to offer the Council a 
30 bed block contract without making themselves financially unstable, and 3 are not large enough 
to offer the Council a 15 bed block contract. 95% charge rates that are far in excess of the fees we 
pay on average in Reading and none currently have enough vacancies to immediately offer the 
size of  block contract Reading needs. 
 
Table 2: Showing Capacity, voids, quality and average price of a bed in the homes within 10 
miles of Reading 
 

 
 
The Care Act & Choice of Accommodation 
 
Where a local authority is responsible for meeting a person’s care and support needs and their 
needs have been assessed as requiring a particular type of accommodation in order to ensure that 
they are met, the person must have the right to choose between different providers of that type 
of accommodation and the local authority must ensure that the person has a genuine choice that 
is not constrained by approved lists and frameworks, bulk purchasing and block contract 
arrangements.  
 
This prevents local authorities from prioritising voids in block contracts over other nursing homes 
that are offering beds at rates the Council would normally be prepared to accept.  

Homes Within 5 Miles Capacity Vacancies Ave. Fee Quality Rating

Sunrise Operations Sonning Limited 103 0 £1,613 Outstanding

Austen House 79 5 £950 Good

Abbeycrest Nursing Home 70 2 £1,650 Good

Lord Harris Court 76 3 £1,496 Good

Bridge House Nursing Home 54 0 £1,600 Good

Homes Within 10 Miles Capacity Vacancies Ave Fee Quality Rating

Lashbrook House 46 14 £1,115 Requires Improvement

Hollies 58 3 £1,200 Good

The Mount Care Home 37 2 £1,350 Good

Acacia Lodge 55 1 £1,250 Good

West Oaks 63 2 £1,754 Outstanding

OSJCT Chilterns Court Care Centre 64 6 £1,300 Good

Thamesfield Nursing Home 12 0 £1,000 Good

The Berkshire Care Home 58 10 £917.61 Good

Glebelands House 42 2 £1,665 Good

Woodbury House 45 4 £983.33 Good

Lynden Hill Clinic 28 0 £315 Good

Cherry Garden 36 1 £1,000 Good

Huntercombe Hall Care Home 42 0 £1,000 Good

Apple Hill 42 2 £2,200 Good

Bracknell Care Home 30 4 £562.55 Inadequate

Cherry Blossom Manor 77 1 £1,520 Good

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



BH Monday Council Closure + BH's
Week 1 Week 2 Week 3 Week 4 Week 5 Week 6 Week 7 Week 8 Week 9 Week 10 Week 11 Week 12 Week 13 Week 14 Week 15 Week 16 Week 17 Week 18 Week 19 Week 20 Week 21 Week 22 Week 23 Week 24 Week 25 Week 26 Week 27 Week 28 Week 29 Week 30 Week 31 Week 32 Week 33 Week 34 Week 35 Week 36 Week 37 Week 38 Week 39 Week 40 Week 41 Week 42 Week 43 Week 44 Week 45 Week 46 Week 47 Week 48 Week 49 Week 50 Week 51 Week 52 Week 53 Week 54 Week 55 Week 56 Week 57 Week 58 Week 59 Week 60 Week 61

Insert Start Date 04/05/20 11/05/20 18/05/20 25/05/20 01/06/20 08/06/20 15/06/20 22/06/20 29/06/20 06/07/20 13/07/20 20/07/20 27/07/20 03/08/20 10/08/20 17/08/20 24/08/20 31/08/20 07/09/20 14/09/20 21/09/20 28/09/20 05/10/20 12/10/20 19/10/20 26/10/20 02/11/20 09/11/20 16/11/20 23/11/20 30/11/20 07/12/20 14/12/20 21/12/20 28/12/20 04/01/21 11/01/21 18/01/21 25/01/21 01/02/21 08/02/21 15/02/21 22/02/21 01/03/21 08/03/21 15/03/21 22/03/21 29/03/21 05/04/21 12/04/21 19/04/21 26/04/21 03/05/21 10/05/21 17/05/21 24/05/21 31/05/21 07/06/21 14/06/21 21/06/21 28/06/21

Write Business case DMT paper
Present paper and get budget approval

Contract Letting Checklist
Procurement Project Approval Form

Specification writing Based on the new Spot Contract we were already drafting
Contract terms drafting (comm team) Based on the new Spot Contract we were already drafting Amendments

Contract documents with legal & Ops for review
 committee report for delgated authority & Power Point presentation

Consider EIA
Take Committee Report to DMT Present and Amend
Complete CMT report Template
Take Committee Report to CMT AD to present

Brief LM on Contract Letting Checklist and Committee Report AD to present
Take Committee Report to Committee Briefing

Take Committee Report to Committee
Draft ITT Document & Reference Letter Amendments

Draft ITT Evaluation Amendments
Have Corporate Procurement check & advise on documents

Draft Instructions for Tenderers Amendments
Draft Information for Tenderers Amendments

Have Corporate Procurement check & advise on documents
Have tender documents approved by Assistant Director

Set up on Intend (allow 2 weeks)
Advert Period (30 Days) 7 14 21 28 35

Clarifications from providers up to 10 working days before submission
Clarification responses up to 7 days before submission

References
 Evaluation.

Short Listing and Consensus meeting
Successful and unsuccessful letters and 10 day standstill

Contract Award
Mobilisation

Contract Start
Completed
Commissioning Work
Work completed by other teams/people
Delay/Slippage
Warning

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR SOCIAL CARE & HEALTH SERVICES 

 

TO:  ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN’S SERVICES & EDUCATION COMMITTEE 
 

DATE:  22 OCTOBER 2020 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 11 

TITLE: CONTINUING HEALTHCARE (CHC) FUNDING (April 2018 – December 2019) 
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

COUNCILLOR HOSKIN 
AND CLLR JONES  

PORTFOLIO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

SERVICE:  ADULT SOCIAL CARE  WARDS:  BOROUGHWIDE 
 

LEAD OFFICER:  JON DICKINSON TEL: 
 

0118 9374121 

JOB TITLE:  DEPUTY DIRECTOR E-MAIL:  JON.DICKINSON@READING.GOV.UK 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides the ACE committee with an update on Continuing Healthcare 

applications (CHC), steps taken and progress with regard to the application of the CHC 
Framework and eligibility criteria for residents of Reading Borough Council (RBC). 

 
This report follows on to provide an update from a previous report on Continuing 
Healthcare which was presented to Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and 
Education Committee in July 2018. 
 
It is worth noting that this paper was originally scheduled for a previous committee 
but was delayed due to Covid-19. Therefore, it should be viewed as a retrospective 
review of CHC activity from April 2018 through to the 3rd Quarter of 2019-20.  

      
1.2 NHS Continuing Health Care (CHC) is a package of ongoing care that is arranged and 

solely funded by the NHS where the individual has been assessed and found to have a 
primary health need as set out in the National Framework for NHS Continuing 
Healthcare and NHS Funded Nursing Care – March 2018.  

 
1.3 Whilst this report represents work carried out in collaboration with colleagues from 

the Berkshire West Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), it does also reflect some 
local information pertinent to Adult Social Care in Reading Borough Council. 
Specifically, this is information relating to local performance and activity across 
Reading.   

 
1.4 The report highlights areas of improvement and challenge since the last report and 

looks at next steps and best practice going forward.  
 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That the performance in relation to Continuing Healthcare between CCG and RBC 

staff be noted; 

2.2 That the proposed actions to further improve the pathway with regard to ensuring 
a fair and transparent process for CHC applicants across the Borough be noted.  

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 11

mailto:JON.DICKINSON@READING.GOV.UK


2 

 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1     NHS Continuing Healthcare is a package of care for people who have been assessed as 

having a Primary Health need as set out in the NHS CHC Framework. It is arranged and 
funded by the NHS. If you receive care in your own home then the NHS will cover the 
costs of the support you need from health professionals and the costs of personal care 
which include everyday tasks such as washing and getting dressed.  

 
For individuals living in a care home then the NHS will pay the care home fees of that 
individual.  

 
Eligibility for NHS Continuing Healthcare is not based on a particular health condition. 
An individual has a primary health need if, having taken into account of all of their 
needs (following completion of the Decision Support Tool), it can be be said that the 
main aspects or majority part of the care they require is focused on addressing and/or 
preventing health needs.  

 
3.2  In terms of the eligibility process for CHC, this starts with the completion of a 

checklist by a nurse or a social worker who have been trained to complete it. This 
checklist serves to identify what the individual needs are and whether this will 
progress to a full NHS continuing healthcare Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) 
assessment. A subsequent full MDT assessment will lead to evidence being collected 
from all relevant health and social care professionals about the individual’s physical, 
mental health and social care needs.  

 
Following this a multi-disciplinary team of health and social care professionals will 
meet to review this evidence and make a recommendation on eligibility to the CCG. 
This recommendation is then passed to the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) who 
are then responsible for ratifying and agreeing the recommendation. If the Individual 
is eligible for CHC the CCG are responsible for care planning and the funding of the 
care package to meet eligible needs. 
 
Individuals with a rapidly deteriorating condition that may be entering a terminal 
phase, may require ‘fast tracking’ for immediate provision of NHS Continuing 
Healthcare. The intention of the Fast Track Pathway is that it should identify 
individuals who need to access NHS Continuing Healthcare quickly, with minimum 
delay, and with no requirement to complete a Decision Support Tool (DST). This 
ensures that the individual receives the right care at the right time.  

 
3.3     The CHC Framework was updated and implemented in October 2018, the Framework: 

a) Details the principles and process of CHC  
b) Ensures consistency of application for eligibility for CHC funding – there was no   

change in the eligibility criteria 
c)        Ensures quality of application and process 
d)      Implements and maintains good practice. 

 
3.4   The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is responsible and accountable for system  
        leadership for CHC within the local health and social care economy. The CCG is    
        responsible for: 
 

a) Ensuring delivery and compliance with the National Framework for CHC; 
b) Promoting awareness of CHC; 
c) Establishing and maintaining governance arrangements for CHC eligibility 

processes ad commissioning CHC packages; 
d) Ensuring that assessment mechanisms are in place for CHC across relevant care 

pathways, in partnership with the local authority as appropriate. The Standing 

Page 62



3 

 

Rules require CCGs to consult, so far as is reasonably practicable, with the 
relevant social services authority before deciding on a person’s eligibility for 
CHC funding. 

e) Making decisions on eligibility for CHC funding; 
f) Identifying and acting on issues arising in the provision of CHC funding; 
g) Commissioning arrangements, both on a strategic and individual basis. 

  
4. THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Current Position – Continuing Healthcare in Reading 
 
4.1.1 The process of attaining CHC for residents of Reading Borough Council follows the 

pathway set out in 3.2 above.  
 
          If there is a dispute with regard to eligibility following the Multi-Disciplinary Process 

then the case is referred to the Continuing Healthcare Panel. The panel itself is made 
up of a variety of professionals from Health and Social Care who will work through the 
Decision Support Tool (DST) to determine eligibility.  

 
In law the CCG is the decision maker in respect of CHC eligibility and if the CHC Panel 
is unable to agree the eligibility outcome, the CCG Panel Chair will make an eligibility 
decision on behalf of the CCG. The Council then has 28 days if it wishes to dispute the 
eligibility decision and if so, he Locality Manager for Adult Social Care will complete a 
position statement in order to dispute the decision.  

 
4.1.2 Targeted measures that have been taken in Reading Borough Council to support staff 

with CHC applications since October 2018 are as follows: 
 

 Workshops have been commissioned and delivered by Michael Mandelstam, 
national expert in Legal & Continuing Healthcare training. A module titled, ‘Law 
and Practice’ was delivered in September & October 2018, 65 staff members 
attended from operational services including the Executive Director. The purpose 
of the training was to further support knowledge and understanding of the CHC 
Framework and its application. 
 

 The Locality Manager for Reading is the strategic lead for CHC who reviews and 
authorises the submission of CHC checklists completed by staff, advising on areas 
to highlight within the decision support tool to evidence the needs of people in the 
11 domains of the Framework.  

 

 A CHC workflow has been created within the Directorate’s Client Record System,  
which outputs  CHC activity in relation to RBC. 

   

 Further to this there have been Senior level meetings with colleagues from the 
CCG to discuss CHC performance and in particular any issues with regard to the 
application of protocols and guidance.  

 
4.2  Performance in Reading - Information from April 2018 – December 2019 
 
   
4.2.1 Performance data is recorded by operational staff on the ASC Electronic Case 

Recording System and reported monthly at the Reading Integration Board. 
 
4.2.2  The following table (Table one) sets out the monthly activity within a 12 month period 

with regard to 2018/19 & 2019/20. It shows that the number of CHC checklists being 
completed has increased significantly in 2019/20 due to increased awareness and 
understanding of CHC and when an individual could be deemed as having eligible 

Page 63



4 

 

healthcare needs. There is still further work to do in order to increase this number 
and make sure that these are recorded accurately.  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Source: Reading Borough Council Performance Team  
(Table one)    

 
4.2.3 Following on from this the cumulative number of CHC applications that are accepted 

for assessment have remained at a steady number in comparison to previous years 
(Table Two). This reflects that these cases did not progress to the Multi-Disciplinary 
Team MDT(Health and Social Care Professionals) due to them not meeting the CHC 
threshold. These could also relate to resubmitted checklists for people that had 
previously been found to be ineligible for funding at MDT. In these cases, the feedback 
was that there had not been a change in need since the initial MDT therefore could 
not progress as per the framework. 
 

 
Source: Reading Borough Council Performance Team 

(Table two) 

 
 

 

Page 64



5 

 

4.2.4 The third table (Table three) shows the numbers of CHC checklists which have 
resulted in dispute. This shows an improved picture with less disputes cumulative 
across 2019-20 as opposed to 2018-19. This reflects better joint working and 
understanding of the CHC framework between Health and Social Care colleagues.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Source: Reading Borough Council Performance Team 
(Table three) 

 
 

4.2.5 The fourth table (Table four) shows the total number of CHC cases that have been 
agreed across an 18-month period between Reading Borough Council and CCG. This 
totals 19 individuals since August 2018. With increased awareness and higher numbers 
of checklists it is expected that this will rise further through the year, however there 
is no definitive way of measuring this as the eligibility threshold will ultimately 
determine the overall numbers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Source: Reading Borough Council Performance Team  
(Table four)  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



6 

 

4.3 National Trends 
 
 
4.3.1 A National dataset on CHC is produced by NHS England based on data collected from 

each CCG.  This data is published Quarterly and is reported at the Care Commissioning 
Group (not Local Authority) Level. 

 
4.3.2 Prior to 2018-19 we were able to report on CHC benchmarking at a local level for the 

2 CCGs in Reading. However, since the reorganisation of the Care Commissioning 
Group into Berkshire West, this data is only available at the Berkshire West level and 
therefore includes Reading, Wokingham and West Berkshire Local Authorities.  
 

4.3.3 Table 5 shows the number of CHC referrals per 50,000 people in West Berkshire when 
compared to the South East of England and England as a whole. Since Quarter 3 in 
2018-19 there has been a slow increase in referrals across the region although this 
number, whilst increasing, is still significantly below the national average and this is 
something that managers and practitioners are working hard to increase where 
appropriate. The graph also shows a significant drop in CHC referrals for both national 
and regional referrals.  This reflects the work that has been done nationally to ensure 
appropriate checklisting of individuals for CHC assessments.  

 

 
 

 
Source: NHS Digital 

(Table five) 

 

 
4.3.4 Finally Table 6 shows the overall number of people per 50,000 of population who are 

eligible for CHC. This clearly shows that the numbers across Berkshire West are 
significantly lower than those across the South East as a region, which in turn are 
below the average numbers for England. This reflects the lower number of checklists 
that are received by the CHC service from Reading which have historically continued 
to be low across West of Berkshire. There are plans in place to address this, which are 
seen in the ‘next steps’ below.  

 

Page 66



7 

 

 
Source: NHS Digital 

(Table six) 
 
 
4.4  Next Steps 
 
 
4.4.1 There continues to be a collective drive between the Local Authority and CCG to 

ensure that greater awareness of Continuing Healthcare and application of eligibility 
is sustained, and the following were areas of practice that were agreed in partnership 
and started prior to the completion of this Report in November 2019:  

 

  Reviews of residents in Nursing Homes continued, ensuring that individuals who have 
a high level of need would be considered for a checklist at the point of their review 
if necessary. This is not only to ensure that needs are met appropriately, but also 
that residents are not charged for their care through Client Contributions where 
they are entitled to free healthcare.  

   

 The CCG offered CHC training to all nursing home staff across Reading and West 
Berkshire and Reading Borough Council staff ensured that this was encouraged through 
their frequent ‘Care Quality’ and ‘provider liaison’ visits.  
 

 The Operations Manager for Reading Borough Council held quarterly sessions with 
Managers and staff to ensure that they were confident in following process and 
completing checklists.  
 

 These practice enhancements will now be reinstated following the continuation of 
CHC following the pause in CHC assessments during Covid-19.  

 
 

4.5 Other Options Considered 
 
           Non Applicable 

 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 The proposals contained in this report are in line with the overall direction of the 

Council by meeting the following Corporate Plan priorities: 
 

1. To protect and enhance the lives of vulnerable adults and children 

2. Ensuring the Council is fit for the future 

Page 67



8 

 

 
5.2     The recommendations also contribute to the following strategic aims.  
 
         1. To promote equality, social inclusion and a safe and healthy environment for all 
 
 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 These have been considered but were not seen to be significant with regard to this 

work. 
 
 
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 
 
7.1 The options proposed relates to internal processes which have been discussed with 

colleagues across adult social care. The Continuing Health Care Framework is National 
Guidance and therefore its implementation does not require consultation with the 
community.  

 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

8.1 The options proposed in this report are not considered to impact equality.  

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1     The CHC Framework is National Guidance; it sits within Section 1 and 3 of the NHS Act  
          2006. A Local Authority is prohibited from providing anything that the NHS is required    
          to provide under sections 18-20 of the Care Act 2014. 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The Director of Adult Care and Health Services has responsibility to ensure that 

funding for Care and Support needs is allocated appropriate based on the Care Act 
Assessment. Ensuring that there is a robust process for deciding whether a person’s 
care is Local authority funded, CCG funded or split funded is a key element of 
meeting our responsibilities as a Helth and Social Care system.  

 
 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-framework-for-nhs-continuing-

healthcare-and-nhs-funded-nursing-care 

 
          The Care Act 2014. 
 
 

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-framework-for-nhs-continuing-healthcare-and-nhs-funded-nursing-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-framework-for-nhs-continuing-healthcare-and-nhs-funded-nursing-care


 
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH SERVICES 

 

TO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE  
 

DATE: 22 OCTOBER 2020 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 12 

TITLE: PROPOSALS FOR BERKSHIRE WEST PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE 

 
LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

COUNCILLOR 
HOSKIN 

PORTFOLIO: HEALTH, WELLBEING & 
SPORT 

SERVICE: PUBLIC HEALTH & 
WELLBEING 
 

WARDS: BOROUGHWIDE 

LEAD OFFICER: SEONA DOUGLAS 
 

TEL: 0118 9372094 

JOB TITLE: EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
OF ADULT SOCIAL 
CARE AND HEALTH 
SERVICES 

E-MAIL: seona.douglas@reading.gov.uk 
 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This Report sets out the rationale for altering the current arrangements for public 

health across Wokingham, Reading and West Berkshire.  
 
The proposal is to dissolve the current arrangement of one Director of Public Health 
to cover the 6 Berkshire unitary authorises, and move to an arrangement between 
West Berkshire Council, Reading Borough Council and Wokingham Council. 
 
The Report seeks delegated authority to proceed with developing a shared Director 
role and a hub team to support local public health teams in each of the three Local 
Authorities, whereby Reading host a Shared Service meeting the need of the 2 other 
Local Authorities. 

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That the current set up be dissolved upon a date to be agreed and for Reading 

Borough Council to host a new shared service on behalf of the Berkshire West 
System; 

 
2.2 That the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health Services, in 

consultation with the Lead Councillor for Health, Wellbeing & Sport and the Chief 
Executive, be delegated authority to agree the proposed model of devolved Public 
Health to the Berkshire West, footprint. 

 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1 The overall aim of the Berkshire Public Health System is to deliver the core duty for 

local authorities; to improve health and decrease health inequalities.  This will 
include actions, not only within each council but across our system of public services, 

Page 69

Agenda Item 12

mailto:seona.douglas@reading.gov.uk


on the wider determinants of health, health improvement, health protection and 
public health support to NHS commissioning. 
 

3.2 National policy supports the importance of prevention of ill health – through the 
recent green paper for prevention and the NHS Long Term Plan.  Locally the Joint 
Health & Wellbeing Strategies support increased activity to promote good health and 
prevent ill health. 

 
4. THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Current Position: 
 

a. Since 2013 the Berkshire Public Health System has operated on a hub and 
spoke model with Public Health teams delivering in each of the six unitary 
authorities supported by a Shared Team hosted by Bracknell Forest Council.   

 
b. Berkshire Chief Executives collectively oversee the functioning of the public 

health system through the Public Health System Board.  Increasingly, they 
have been concerned about the ability of the public health set up to deliver 
what they needed, to improve health, prevent illness and decrease demand for 
health and care services. 

 
c. The set up in Berkshire has shifted from the original vision which relied on a 

collective responsibility between local authorities.  The system has become 
unbalanced and it has been difficult to recruit to public health leadership 
positions. With the development of Integrated Care Systems, demands on 
public health increased and the Director post was particularly stretched, 
covering 6 local authorities, 2 Clinical Commissioning Groups and 2 Integrated 
Care Systems. Imbalances in the system had arisen as authorities have invested 
in different programmes and staffing structures. 

 
d. In 2019 Berkshire Chief Executives requested a review.  They considered the 

effectiveness of the current model, the changing context and opportunities for 
public health, current costs, and alternate models.  They recommended 
dissolving the current arrangement and moving to two hub and spoke 
arrangements each across 3 borough geographies.  

 
e. As the recommendation was made COVID19 arrived and halted much of the 

progress in shifting to a new model.  With increasing responsibility at a local 
level and the current Director of Public Health (DPH) planning to move on in 
the New Year, there is an urgency in progressing the new arrangements and 
appointing a Director of Public Health for the three Local Authorities in 
Berkshire West.  

 
f. Whilst other authorities share public health teams, Berkshire’s is the only 

public health system in the country with 6 upper tier Authorities sharing one 
Director of Public Health.  30/152 Local Authorities have shared arrangements 
the majority are between 2 Local Authorities, one between 3. Our joint 
arrangements have lasted longer than most, with many councils across the 
country dissolving joint roles in recent years.   

 
g. There are some strengths in our shared set up, particularly the local leadership 

of public health teams in each Local Authority supported by a hub team.  
Improved health and reduced health inequalities cannot be delivered by public 
health teams alone and the most effective public health approaches work 
across council services to create places where it is easy to be healthy and 
deliver services that prevent ill health and promote resilience.  The hub and 
spoke set up reduces duplication and shares costs but allows for different local 
priorities across each council area to meet the needs of varied populations. 

Page 70



 
h. It has been challenging to maintain the collaborative approach across councils 

who do not share the same range of services.   Shared commissioning and 
thematic lead arrangements have broken down and investment in local teams 
has become imbalanced. 

 
i. The Director role is particularly stretched across six Local Authority areas.  

The capacity of the role is reduced by the practicalities of travel across the 
county and the number of required boards and partnership meetings.   

 
j. Recruitment to Director of Public Health roles is challenging and the current 

postholder plans to move on in the New Year. This provides a natural 
opportunity to change the role in Berkshire to make it more efficient and 
attractive.  

 
k. The Berkshire model was designed at a time when Public Health services were 

largely commissioned on a Berkshire wide footprint and Clinical Commissioning 
Groups were coterminous with Boroughs.  This is no longer the case, with 
Public Health capacity spread across 2 quite different systems, Frimley Health 
& Care in the east of the County, and Berkshire West Integrated Care 
Partnership, part of the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West 
Integrated Care System.  These Integrated Care Systems/Integrated Care 
Partnerships offer real opportunities to further improve health which are not 
being maximised in the current set up.  

 
l. Public Health Services (including Health Visiting, School Nursing, NHS Health 

Checks; Healthy Lifestyles; Substance Misuse; Sexual Health) are commissioned 
on a mix of single county and multi borough partnerships, primarily divided 
between the East and the West of the County.  Other services are 
commissioned on single borough footprints. 

 
m. Under the Health and Social Care Act, Directors of Public Health are 

responsible for the local authority’s contribution to Health Protection, 
including the Local Authority roles in planning for and responding to incidents 
that present a threat to the public’s health such as coronavirus.  

 
n. A key statutory role for Local Authority public health is supporting NHS 

commissioners with the design and evaluation of health services to meet local 
need.  Co-terminus of any arrangement with NHS organisations was seen as a 
common-sense requirement. 

 
o. There was recognition that incorporating more public health thinking into 

Local Authority and NHS services could improve demand management and 
inequalities, as well as health and wellbeing outcomes for residents. 

 
p. Considering the points made above, the Chief Executives across the six 

Berkshire Unitary Councils and in particular those from of Reading, Wokingham 
and West Berkshire Council’s concluded that; 

 

 Change was needed to enhance both the efficiency and impact of public 
health.   

 That a shared arrangement across a Berkshire West Integrated Care 
Partnership footprint was preferable to individual public health teams. 

 To retain local public health leadership in each authority. 
 
q. Planning is also taking place in the same way within East Berkshire to decide 

how they wish to deliver Public Health, and information is being shared to 
ensure a consistent approach is adopted.    

Page 71



 
4.2 Options Proposed 

 
a. The proposal is to dissolve the current arrangement between the six Local 

Authority’s and move to an arrangement between West Berkshire Council, 

Reading Borough Council and Wokingham Council.  

 

b. A shared Director of Public Health role for Berkshire West will lead the public 

health system, working closely with the local authorities and partners in the 

Berkshire West Integrated Care Partnership.  There will also be a Hub Team 

providing health intelligence, health protection and commissioning support to 

support public health teams in each local authority.   

 
c. It is proposed that the Director of Public Health and Hub are hosted by Reading 

Borough Council for practical transport reasons. 

 

d. The opportunity we have been working in partnership across the Berkshire 

West footprint is to; 

 

 Improve the health of our population and reduce inequalities to improve 

outcomes for our residents and reduce demand for services. 

 Retain the local nature of public health, enabling local needs to be 

prioritised.  

 Improve the value from our investment in public health capacity – to make 

Public Health more visible, engaged, integrated and most importantly, 

effective, across the Local Authorities. 

 Effectively align Public Health with the Integrated Care Partnership with 

more strategic leadership capacity from the Director of Public Health.  

 Improve the information and intelligence we have to improve the health of 

the population, integrating it with the Integrated Care Partnership  

 Improve value for money from Public Health contracts 

Director of Public Health Role 

e. The three Local Authority Chief Executives will take collective responsibility 

for recruiting and supporting this role.  They will all sign off an annual work 

programme and undertake their Director’s appraisal together. 

f. The role will have director level influence in each Local Authority.  They will 

have a seat at the ‘top table’, access to the Chief Executive and lead Member 

and be party to resource and priority decisions. 

g. The Director of Public Health will have leadership of the delivery of a joint 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy which will be the guiding strategy for the 

Integrated Care Partnership as well as the Health & Wellbeing Boards. 

h. The Director of Public Health will be the Senior Responsible Officer for public 

health Integrated Care Partnership programmes and will be able to influence 

any collective strategy for procurement of public health services. 

Page 72



i. While the Director of Public Health may not line manage all the local Public 

Health Consultants, they will provide professional supervision, influence their 

work programmes and participate in their appraisal. 

 
4.3 Other Options Considered 

 
a. Remaining with the status quo is not recommended as an option due the 
     details outlined above. 
 
b. Berkshire Authorities attract limited grant support for public health (circa 20m 

across the 3 Local Authority areas) and having separate teams for each 
authority is unaffordable.   

 
 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 The Public Health agenda meets all the Councils Strategic aims through its day to day 

delivery and meets the Corporate Plan priorities as it is a holistic service that through 
it work influences the life of individual in the community at many levels so that they 
can contribute toward society in a positive way and focus on reducing health, social, 
economic inequalities : 

 

a. Securing the economic success of Reading and provision of job opportunities 

b. Ensuring access to decent housing to meet local needs 

c. To protect and enhance the lives of vulnerable adults and children 

d. Keeping Reading’s environment clean, green and safe 

e. Ensuring that there are good education, leisure and cultural opportunities for 
people in Reading 

f. Ensuring the Council is fit for the future 
 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The Council declared a Climate Emergency at its meeting on 26 February 2019 (Minute 

48 refers). The proposed plans provide consideration of accessibility of Reading to the 
public transport network in order to attract a wider pool of candidates who may 
prefer to travel to Reading direct from other towns and cities which are accessible 
though the central public transport travel hub that Reading provides. 

 
7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 
 
7.1 Section 138 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

places a duty on local authorities to involve local representatives when carrying out 
"any of its functions" by providing information, consulting or "involving in another 
way". 

 
7.2     System engagement across the Local Authorities and the NHS has influenced the high-

level design of the new system. Further engagement workshops with Directors of 
Adult Social Services, Director Children’s Services, and place director leadership team 
will determine the detail design of the functions of the hub and spoke team. 

 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

8.1 There are no negative impacts from this proposal, as the service will be enhanced 

across the Berkshire West footprint through the proposed arrangement. 
 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 73



9.1   There will be people who need to be considered under the TUPE arrangements, 
however there is not expected to be any redundancy risk. At this stage the Report 
seeks for permission to proceed with the proposal, so that the more detailed 
arrangements can be worked through and the arrangement for a new joint agreement 
between the Berkshire West Local Authorities when the detail has been formally 
agreed. 

 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
   
10.1 Upper tier Local Authorities receive a per capita ring-fenced grant for public health of 

circa £38m across Berkshire.  In the three authorities in the west of the county, this 
totals around £21m, around half to Reading and a quarter each to Wokingham and 
West Berkshire.  Each authority spends a broadly similar amount on staffing its public 
health teams, with varying contract values and investments in broader services and 
programmes for public health. 
 

10.2 It is recognised that this new model will increase the costs provision of public health 

expertise in the range of £75k to £100k per Local Authority.  This may be less 

dependant upon the model that is agreed and it is accepted that the arrangements 

will need to be managed within this cost envelope. 

10.3 To reduce the costs to the lower end of this range, there is a possibility that the 
system can investigate joining with other public sector partners to provide health 
intelligence across the Integrated Care Partnership, and further integration of public 
health commissioning across the three Local Authorities. 
 

10.4 The time spent by the local Public Health Teams working on themes that span the 
Local Authorities, is recognised as part of the shared Public Health resource.  This 
would be mapped and included in the annual work programme agreed by the three 
Chief Executive Officers and Directors of Public Health.  
 

10.5 Each Local Authority will commit to the delivery of this work and not withhold 
resource in the teams that will deliver it.   
 

10.6 The additional costs will be met equally by the three Local Authorities. 
 

10.7 This is the agreement for Berkshire West, 3 Local Authorities (Reading, Wokingham 
and West Berkshire) and the Integrated Care Partnership back in March 2020. There is 
an existing MOU in place with Public Health Berkshire which split’s the current cost of 
the Shared Team six ways. The new arrangements it is proposed are to set up a Hub 
Team where the costs will be shared proportionally across Berkshire West. The 
Berkshire West allocation from the current budget totals 680k. 

 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Local Authorities Statutory Public Health responsibilities.  
Health and Social Care Act 2012 

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN06844/SN06844.pdf  
 

Page 74



 
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION 

 

TO: ADULTS, CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 OCTOBER 2020 
 

AGENDA ITEMS: 13 - 18 

TITLE: BFFC EDUCATION REPORTS: COVERING REPORT 
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

CLLR PEARCE PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION 

SERVICE: BFFC 
 

WARDS: ALL 

LEAD OFFICER: KATE REYNOLDS 
 

TEL:  

JOB TITLE: DIRECTOR OF 
EDUCATION  
 

E-MAIL: k.reynolds@brighterfuturesf
orchildren.org 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Following lockdown in March 2020, the Adults and Children’s Social Care and 

Education Committee was unable to meet.  Due to this, two policy updates have not 
been presented for formal approval by members, these include: 

 Home to School Transport Policy 2020/2021 

 Children Missing Education Policy 2020 
 
1.2 In addition, the following reports have been outstanding and are now brought for 

information: 

 Update on the Post-16 strategy 

 School standards validated data report 2018/19 (although ACE considered the 
unvalidated data report in October 2019) 

 Schools Admissions 2020/2021 

 Update on the SEND strategy 
 

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That the two Policies be approved 

2.2  That the three update reports be noted and the recommendations considered. 
 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION 

 

TO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 OCTOBER 2020 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 113 

TITLE: SCHOOL STANDARDS AND ATTAINMENT: 2018/19 (VALIDATED) 
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

CLLR A PEARCE PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION 

SERVICE: BFFC  
 

WARDS: ALL 

LEAD OFFICER: ALICE BOON/MO 
GALWAY 
 

TEL:  

JOB TITLE: SCHOOLS STANDARDS 
OFFICER 
 

E-MAIL: Alice.boon@brighterfuturesf
orchildren.org 
Mo.galway@brighterfuturesf
orchildren.org 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 This report updates ACE on the 18/19 school standards/attainment figures in order for 

ACE to determine progress for children and young people in Reading Schools. The 
information on standards in this report is based on validated data for academic year 
2018/19 as no data is available for 2019/20.  The previous report based on 
unvalidated data was brought to the Committee in October 2019. 
 

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That the progress that has been made in raising standards across Reading Schools 

be noted and teachers, support staff, governors, children and their families 
thanked for all their hard work; 

2.2 That all schools who have achieved a good or outstanding Ofsted rating be 
congratulated; 

2.3 That the work of BFfC in raising attainment and supporting Reading schools 
continue to be supported. 

 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1 Children’s Social Care, Early Help, Education and Special Educational Needs and 

Disabilities Services in Reading are delivered by Brighter Futures for Children (BFfC), a 
not-for-profit Company which is wholly owned by, but independent of, Reading Borough 
Council.  As part of the services, BFfC support schools in raising standards. 
 

3.2 In particular, the contract key performance indicators for BFfC (education) include: 
 

Page 77

mailto:Alice.boon@brighterfuturesforchildren.org
mailto:Alice.boon@brighterfuturesforchildren.org
mailto:Mo.galway@brighterfuturesforchildren.org
mailto:Mo.galway@brighterfuturesforchildren.org


2 

 

 KPI 18: Reduction in secondary school fixed term exclusion 

 KPI 19: Key Stage 2 results (Reading, Writing and Maths expected level+) gap in 
attainment for disadvantaged pupils. 

 KPI20: Key Stage 4 results (Attainment 8) gap in attainment for disadvantaged pupils. 

 KPI21: Increased percentage of schools rated good or outstanding (locally maintained 
only) 
 

3.3 The responsibility to raise standards is a responsibility for everyone involved in the 
education service.  In particular, whilst school leadership teams have responsibility for 
driving school improvement in their own school, the local authority can provide support 
and challenge to schools within its area and create the conditions for schools and their 
pupils to ‘thrive’. However, the Government has emphasised the importance of a 
‘schools-led’ system where schools look to each other to develop system leadership, 
provide support and challenge, and, drive improvements in standards. 
 

3.4 Part of this ‘schools led’ system is the growth of academies, free schools, and teaching 
school alliances.  Such schools are funded directly from the DfE and are accountable to 
central rather than local government.  This leaves local authorities with limited ability to 
influence, support and challenge schools other than locally maintained one. 

 

3.5 The national increase in academies has been mirrored in Reading.  In Reading the 

majority of secondary schools (all except Blessed Hugh Farringdon) are academies.  As 

such, these schools have a ‘looser’ relationship with the local authority and there is no 

obligation on them to work in partnership with the authority- there are, however, some 

areas where academies are encouraged to work with the local authority (safeguarding, 

post-16 and education and health care plans).  The responsibility for school standards 

though rest with the academy school, it’s sponsor and the Regional Schools Commissioner 

and the Department for Education. 

 

3.6 Overall schools in Reading have been just below the national average for standards.  In all 

key stages Reading continues to mirror the national position in terms of the gap in 

attainment between disadvantaged and non-disadvantage children.  Our work in Key 

Stages 1 and 2 continues to decrease the gap compared with England averages.  Whilst at 

Key Stages 3 and 4, in some of our secondary schools, we have some of the best 

performance in the country, we also have a substantial proportion of young people 

leaving schools without the requisite skills for the world of further education and work.  

The majority of primary schools are good or outstanding, whilst at secondary the picture 

is more mixed. 

 

3.7 Despite this mixed picture, there have been notable success in: 
 

 School engagement on curriculum projects particularly: 
o Curriculum change 
o Oracy and writing 
o The Therapeutic Thinking approach and school to school support which 

has impacted on significant reductions in exclusions (bucking the 
national trend) 

 
For 2020/2021, as there has been a greater focus on ‘Black Lives Matter’ and the 
government’s COVID strategy to improve children’s health we will be adding two new 
projects to work with schools on: 
 

 Developing an anti-racist curriculum 

 Active participation programme 

Page 78



3 

 

 
We will also be embedding our work on Climate Change. 

 

This report analyses Reading schools performance against the key education performance 

indicators for Brighter Futures for Children.   
 
4. THE PROPOSAL 
 
Members note the progress that has been made in raising standards across Reading schools 
and thank teachers, support staff, children and their families and governors for their hard 
work and continued commitment. 
Members congratulate all schools achieving good or outstanding Ofsted ratings. 
Members continue to support the work of BFfC in raising attainment and supporting Reading 
schools. 
 
 
4.1 Current Position: 
Current Position: Achievement against KPIs 
(Please note all data sourced from the Local Authority Data Matrix and LAIT published by 
DfE) 

 
KPI 18: Reduction in secondary school fixed term exclusion 
Fixed term exclusions in Secondary schools are measured by rate (as a proportion of 
the schools’ population) and by number in the national tables. Data is published in 
August for the previous year. 19/20 figures will be available in August 2021. 
 

 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/19 

Rate of Fixed term 
exclusions from 
secondary school 
England 

9.4 10.13 10.75 

Rate of Fixed term 
exclusions from 
Reading secondary 
schools  

10.79 8.7 7.49 (quartile band 
B) 

Number of fixed 
term exclusions 
from Reading 
secondary schools 

788 651 581 

 
The percentage of fixed term exclusions in Reading secondary schools has continued 
to decrease over the last 3 years. 
 
Between 2016/17 and 2018/19 the rate of fixed term exclusions in Reading secondary 
schools decreased compared to an increase in England. The rate of fixed term 
exclusions for 18/19 in Reading secondary schools is below the England average. 
Reading is now in quartile band B. 
 
What worked: 
Our work to influence schools’ behaviour and inclusion policies has continued to be 
successful. Our training on Therapeutic Thinking with schools and colleges including 
nursery, primary, secondary, and special and higher education settings (such as 
Reading College) has continued. This has been well-received by all settings that have 
been involved. Brighter Futures continue to be part of a national steering group for 
this approach represented by our Senior School Standards Officer, Alice Boon. 
 

Page 79



4 

 

51 schools have committed to the programme – out of 59 schools in Reading. We have 
trained over 120 senior tutors in schools and BFfC. We have also had a commitment 
from six schools to act as System Leaders, tasked with providing support and sharing 
innovation as part of our school to school approach. 
 
In primary schools the number of incidents of fixed term exclusion decreased from 
2.34% in 2017/18 to 1.60% in 2018/19. Permanent exclusions in primary have also 
reduced and is in quartile band A.  
 
However, the exclusion rates for Special Schools has continued to rise over the last 3 
years, rising from 12.50 in 2016/17 to 36.10 in 2018/19, approximately 3 times higher 
than the national figures of 11.32 in 2018/19.  

 

 KPI 19: Key Stage 2 results (Reading, Writing and Maths expected level+) gap in 
attainment for disadvantaged pupils. 
 
Attainment in RWM at the end of KS2 in 2018/19 shows a small decrease in the 
attainment gap compared with the England national average.  Our work is beginning 
to narrow the gap between advantaged and disadvantaged children. 
  

% of children reaching the expected standard in Reading, Writing and Maths combined 
(RWM) 

 England All 
children 

Reading All children 

 EXS HS EXS Quartile HS Quartile 

2017 61% 9% 59%  12%  

2018 64% 10% 60%  10%  

2019 65% 11% 63% D 10% C 

 
Children in Reading achieved below the national standard in 2017, 2018 and 2019, 
however, combined results increased in Reading by 3% while the England average 
improved by 1% in 2018-19. 
 

 Reading  Grammar, 
punctuation and 
spelling (GPS) 

Maths Writing  

 EXS HS EXS HS EXS HS EXS HS 

England 2019 73 27 78 36 79 27 78 20 

Reading 2019 72 27 78 36 78 27 77 17 

Gap with 
national 
average 

-1 0 0 0 -1 0 -1 -3 

England 2018 76 28 78 34 76 24 78 20 

Reading 2018 73 29 77 38 71 25 74 18 

Gap with 
national 
average 

-3 +1 -1 +4 -5 +1 -4 -2 

 
Overall increases in attainment are closing the gap with national results. Further work 
is still needed to raise attainment above national results. Projects to boost 
attainment in Maths, writing, oracy and curriculum design are continuing this year to 
embed improvements made by schools. 
 
The gap between the attainment of disadvantaged children and those who are not 
disadvantaged has reduced over the last two years and is now in line with the national 
gap of -20.  Though this indicates an improvement, the gap means 51% of 

Page 80



5 

 

disadvantaged children are not ‘secondary ready’ at the end of KS2.  This is similar to 
the national picture. 
 
 
 

 Disadvantaged 
pupils % reaching 
expected standard 
in RWM 

Not 
disadvantaged % 
reaching 
expected 
standard 

Gap between 
disadvantaged children 
and not disadvantaged 
nationally 

England 2019 51 71 -20 

2019 Reading  49 69 -20 

2018 Reading 40 69 -29 

2017 Reading 41 67 -26 

 
Children looked after (CLA) were closely monitored and supported by the Virtual 
School.  In 2018/19 there were 15 children in the cohort, 10 of whom were looked 
after for more than 12 months. 5 children attended Reading schools. 10 children had 
an identified special educational need, 6 of whom had an EHC Plan. Of the 5 children 
who did not have a special educational need, 3 achieved the standard in reading, 
writing and maths with one child working at greater depth and achieving the 
maximum scaled score of 120 in reading. The other two children achieved the 
standard in writing and maths and were just below the standard in reading. 

 
What worked: 
We have offered inclusion in our projects to all schools at the same discounted costs 
and offer free pupil premium reviews to targeted schools. We collaborate beyond our 
borders with other Berkshire local authorities to bring national innovation and 
approaches into our schools and support system collaboration. 
 
The impact of the Virtual School continues to bear fruit for children looked after.  For 
such children, their performance is some of the best in the country.  The strength of 
advocacy and the quality of leadership for these children is a key aspect of raising 
their attainment. 
 

 KPI20: Key Stage 4 results (Attainment 8) gap in attainment for disadvantaged 
pupils. 
The majority of secondary schools are academies and therefore Brighter Futures have 
a limited role. We are in touch with the Regional Schools Commissioner to raise 
concerns about attainment and to celebrate success in these schools where 
appropriate. 
 
In addition, we have provided traded support on request through consultancy to 
locally maintained and academy secondary schools.  
 

Published 
results  

Attainment 
8  

Progress 
8  

% E&M 
GCSE 
grade 9-
5  

Attainment 
8  

Gap  
 
 

Progress 8  Gap 

FSM Non-
FSM 

FSM Non-
FSM 

England 
2018 

44.5 -0.02 40 34.5 48.4 -
13.9 

-
0.53 

0.05 -0.58 

Reading 
2018 

49.0 -0.04 46.5 30.7 51.0 -
20.3 

-
0.69 

0.04 -0.73 

England 
2019 

44.7 +0.04 40.1 35.0 48.8 -
13.8 

-
0.53 

0.06 -0.59 

Reading 50.50 +0.02 47.1 31.2 52.8 - - 0.13 -0.94 

Page 81



6 

 

2019 Quartile A Quartile B Quartile 
A 

21.6 0.81 

 
Though attainment 8 is above the national average there continues to be significant 
variation in outcomes between Reading secondary schools. 
 
Disadvantaged results are of concern. Only 31.2% of disadvantaged children leave 
school in Reading with good enough results in their GCSEs to give them access to 
further education, employment and training. This is 3.8% below national figures. 
Disadvantaged pupils in Reading also make less progress than non-disadvantaged 
pupils. Progress 8 for disadvantaged pupils is also significantly below national figures. 
 
The Virtual School team closely supported and monitored children looked after at the 
end of KS4. There were 32 children in this cohort, 21 of whom had been looked after 
for more than twelve months. 4 children attended Reading schools. 23 children had an 
identified special educational need, 15 of whom had an EHC Plan. There were 3 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people, one of whom attained an A grade in 
Persian. Of the remaining 5 young people, 4 attained between 5-10 passes at 
GCSE/BTEC level, one of whom attained a level nine in French.  

 
KPI21: Increased percentage of schools rated good or outstanding  
84% of schools in Reading or Good or better, 25% are outstanding. 

 
Four inspections have taken place since September 2019. 

 Thameside – maintained GOOD 

 The Avenue – maintained OUTSTANDING, however areas were identified that needed 
to be improved 

 Thames Valley School – maintained GOOD, however areas were identified that needed 
to be improved 

 Moorlands – the inspection was incomplete. Inspectors will revisit to complete it in 
Spring 2021 
  
The table below shows the current position of Reading schools as of September 2020. 
 

Locally 
maintained 
Schools 

Outstanding Good Requires 
Improvement 

Special 
Measures 

Nursery (5) 5 (100%) 0 0 0 

Primary (27) 3 (11%) 22 (81%) 2 (7%) 0 

Secondary (1) 0 1(100%) 0 0 

Special (1) 0 1 (100%) 0 0 

% good or 
better  

94% 

Not locally 
maintained 

Outstanding Good Requires 
Improvement 

Special 
Measures 

Nursery (0) 0 0 0 0 

Primary (12) 3 (25%) 6 (50%) 1 (8%) 2 (17%) 

Secondary (9) 3 (33%) 3 (33%) 2 (22%) 1 (11%) 

Special/ PRU 
(4) 

1 (25%) 2 (50%) 0 1 (25%) 

% good or 
better 

72% 

All schools 
(59) 

15 (25%) 35 (59%) 5 (8%) 4 (7%) 

% good or 
better 

84% 

Page 82



7 

 

 
 
 
 

What worked: 
Our Senior School Standards Officer Mo Galway is a Lead Inspector for Ofsted and 
brings much of her knowledge and expertise to the strategic work undertaken by the 
team with local schools.  
 
A new education inspection framework has been introduced from September 2019. 
This significantly changes the way schools are inspected and the criteria they are 
judged on. Brighter Futures have been working with schools for the last year to 
prepare them for the change and are focusing support this term on schools expecting 
an inspection in 2020/21.  
 
The new framework may lead to some changes in the grading of schools.  Schools 
which are currently outstanding may be judged ‘good’ in the new framework, whilst 
some ‘good’ schools may find themselves judged ‘requires improvement’. 
 

 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 Brighter Futures work with schools, children and young people contributes in the 

following way to the Council’s Corporate Plan priorities: 
 

1. Securing the economic success of Reading and provision of job opportunities 
Our work to improve key stage 4 results are specifically focused on ensuring 
children and young people leave school equipped to take advantage of the local 
job market 
 

2. Ensuring access to decent housing to meet local needs 
Not applicable 
 

3. To protect and enhance the lives of vulnerable adults and children 
The work of the Virtual School specifically focuses on ensuring vulnerable children 
achieve at school in readiness for their transition to adulthood. 
 

4. Keeping Reading’s environment clean, green and safe 
Not applicable although our work on climate change and supporting teachers to 
teach this area will contribute indirectly to this priority. 
 

5. Ensuring that there are good education, leisure and cultural opportunities for 
people in Reading 
Our work supporting locally maintained schools has meant more Reading children 
and young people have access to a good or outstanding school. 
 

6. Ensuring the Council is fit for the future 
Not applicable. 

 
5.2 State here how the decision contributes to the Council’s strategic aims. The strategic 

aims are: 

 To Develop Reading as a Green City with a sustainable environment and economy 
at the heart of the Thames Valley 
Access to an appropriately skilled workforce is a key element of Reading’s local 
economy.  Ensuring high educational attainment is at the centre of this. Our work 
with schools on climate change is also a contributory factor in the Council’s work. 

Page 83



8 

 

 To establish Reading as a learning City and a stimulating and rewarding place to 
live and visit 
Parents and carers value access to high quality schools and our locally maintained 
schools provide that as seen by the proportion receiving good/outstanding Ofsted 
ratings 

 To promote equality, social inclusion and a safe and healthy environment for all 
Brighter Futures work to narrow the gap between educational outcomes for the 
disadvantaged compared with outcomes for the advantaged is a key element to 
promote equality, social inclusion and a safe and healthy environment for all. 
 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1  The education work of Brighter Futures for Children is funded through the Direct 

Schools Grant and is agreed annually by the Schools Forum. 
 
7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
7.1 List here all documents that you have relied upon to a material extent in drafting 

the report. NB – THIS IS A LEGAL REQUIREMENT 
 Local Authority Interactive Tool: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-interactive-tool-lait 
The Local Authority Data Matrix August 2020 

Page 84

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-interactive-tool-lait


 

 

 READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION 
 

TO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDRENS SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 OCTOBER 2020 
 

AGENDA ITEM:  14 

TITLE: SCHOOL ADMISSIONS  
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 

ASHLEY PEARCE PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION 

SERVICE: BFfC 
 

WARDS: BOROUGHWIDE 

LEAD OFFICER: KATE REYNOLDS 
 

TEL: 01189374717 

JOB TITLE: DIRECTOR OF 
EDUCATION 
 

E-MAIL: Kate.Reynolds@brighterfu
turesforchildren.org 

 
1. PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
1.1 This report is to update the Committee on School Admissions for 2020 

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That the report be noted. 

2.2 That the 2022/23 School Admissions policies and coordinated schemes in 
February 2021 be considered. 

 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1 School admissions are subject to detailed requirements, set out in law and 

particularly the School Admissions Code 2014, published by the Government and 
approved by Parliament.  As part of those requirements, local authorities must 
draw up schemes for coordinating admissions to all maintained schools in their 
area.   The purpose of coordinated schemes is to ensure that every parent/carer 
of a child living in Reading who has completed and submitted an on time 
application receives one offer of a school place at the conclusion of the normal 
admissions round.  The schemes set out a process and timescale to enable the 
offer of a single school place.  They do not affect the right of individual 
admission authorities to set and operate their own admission arrangements but 
they do include arrangements for resolving multiple offers, where a place can 
be offered at more than one school.  Reading Borough Council is the admitting 
authority for community and voluntary controlled schools within the borough.  

 
3.2 Reading Borough Council deliver its school admissions service through Brighter 

Futures for Children (BFfC). BFfC is an independent, not-for-profit company, 
wholly owned by Reading Borough Council, set up in December 2018 to deliver 
children’s services, early help, education and SEND services in Reading 

Page 85

Agenda Item 14



 

 

 
3.3 In 26 June 2020, the DfE issued a consultation on a revised version of the School 

Admissions Code. The consultation ran for 16 weeks until 16 October 2020. The 
School Admissions Code imposes mandatory requirements and includes 
guidelines setting out aims, objectives and other matters in relation to the 
discharge of functions relating to admissions.  
 
Ministers are not proposing a wholescale review of the admissions system. They 
say that it is clear from feedback that the main round of admissions largely works 
well, but that there are problems with the in-year admissions processes and Fair 
Access Protocols. The proposed changes therefore seek to clarify these 
responsibilities and introduce a more robust process for their management. They 
also respond to the recent Children in Need Review and the Home Office White 
Paper on Domestic Abuse. 
 

4.   THE CURRENT POSITION Academic year 2020/21 
 

4.1 Primary  

The number of applications for places at Reading’s primary schools has increased 
this year, and slightly less parents (83.44%) have been allocated their first choice 
for their children than in previous years. This year a new Primary School Green 
Park Village Academy is opening in Green Park. 

 

The table below shows the number of applications for the last 3 years: 

  
2020 2019 2018 

Number of applicants  2042 1882 2102 

Percentage of 1st Preference offers 83.44% 87.35% 84.02% 

Percentage of Second Preference offers 8.85% 6.75% 8.80% 

Percentage of Third Preference offers 2.76% 2.66% 2.47% 

Percentage of Fourth Preference offers 1.19% 0.85% 1.05% 

Percentage of pupils offered a divert 3.33% 1.19% 3.62% 

Percentage of pupils allocated to other LA schools 10.63% 11.16% 9.61% 

 
 
Overall 96.24% of children were offered one of their 4 preferences. 
 

4.2 Secondary  
This year saw 72.67% children allocated their first preference which was higher 
than the previous 2 years. 
 
Overall 92.13% of children were offered one of their 4 preferences. 
 

 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 The admission schemes contribute to the aims of Ensuring that there is good 

education, leisure and cultural opportunities for people in Reading 
 

5.2 It also contributes to the aims to establish Reading as a learning City and a 
stimulating and rewarding place to live and visit 

Page 86



 

 

 
6 ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The Council declared a Climate Emergency at its meeting on 26 February 2019. 
 
6.2 In order to support the Council’s commitment, children are placed as near as possible 

to their local school. Parental choice and the need to divert children to other schools 
that are not their preference, means that some children are placed in schools outside 
their local community. This can have an impact on travel by public transport and in 
cars. 

 
7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 
 
7.1 Section 138 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 places 

a duty on local authorities to involve local representatives when carrying out "any of its 
functions" by providing information, consulting or "involving in another way". 

 
7.2 This duty has been met. We have a statutory duty to consult every 7 years on the 

coordinated scheme for school admissions. We last consulted between 17 October 2018 
and 10 December 2018. The outcome from that was report to ACE on the 14 February 
2019. 

 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 Compliance with School Admissions Code (2014)  
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1 None arising directly from this report  
 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

11.1 None. 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION 

 

TO: ADULTS, CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 OCTOBER 2020 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 15 

TITLE: HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT POLICY 2020-2021 
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

CLLR PEARCE PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION 

SERVICE: BFFC 
 

WARDS: ALL 

LEAD OFFICER: KATE REYNOLDS 
 

TEL:  

JOB TITLE: DIRECTOR OF 
EDUCATION 
 

E-MAIL:  k.reynolds@brighterfuturesf
orchildren.org 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1  This report gives details of Reading’s Home to School Transport policy as it applies 

from September 2020. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That the Home to School Transport Policy, as attached in Appendix 1, be 

approved.  

2.2 That a further amended policy is submitted to the Committee in Spring 2021 
covering the academic year 2021/2022 

 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1 The legal responsibility for ensuring a child's attendance at school rests with the 

child’s parent. Generally, parents are expected to make their own arrangements for 
ensuring that their child travels to and from school. 

3.2 A Local Authority is only under a statutory duty to provide transport if the nearest 

suitable school is not within statutory walking distance of the child’s home by the 

nearest available route (section 444(5) of the Education Act 1996 refers).  

The relevant legislation is as follows:- 

 Sections 508A, 508B, 508C, 508D, 508F, 508G and 509AD and Schedule 35B of 

the Education Act 1996 (The Act), which were inserted by Part 6 of the 

Education and Inspections Act 2006 (EIA 2006). 

 Regulation 5 and Part 2 of Schedule 2 to The School Information (England) 

Regulations 2002, as amended 

The summaries of these sections are as follows: 

Section 508A of the Act places a duty on local authorities in England to assess the 

school travel needs of all children and persons of sixth form age in their area and to 

Page 89

Agenda Item 15



2 
 

assess and promote the use of sustainable modes of travel. 

Section 508B of the Act sets out the general duties placed on local authorities to 

make such school travel arrangements as they consider necessary for ‘eligible 

children’ within their area, to facilitate their attendance at the relevant educational 

establishment. Such arrangements must be provided free of charge. 

This duty is in addition to the duty on Brighter Futures for Children (providing 

services on behalf of Reading Borough Council) to make travel arrangements for 

children from ‘low income families’ who attend the nearest school preferred on 

grounds of religion or belief, where they live between two and 15 miles from home. 

This duty is complemented by Section 9 of the Education Act 1996, which provides 

that in exercising all duties and powers under the Education Acts, the Secretary of 

State and local authority shall have regard to the general principle that pupils are to 

be educated in accordance with their parents’ wishes, so far as that is compatible 

with the provision of efficient instruction and training and the avoidance of 

unreasonable expenditure. However, there is no general statutory duty requiring the 

local authority to provide free transport to a faith school. 

Section 508F of the Act places a duty on local authorities to make any transport or 

other arrangements that they consider necessary, or that the Secretary of State 

directs, for the purpose of facilitating the attendance of learners who are aged 19 or 

over at certain educational establishments.  

3.3 School Transport is to assist “the attendance of persons of compulsory school age 

receiving education”.  

3.4 Only where students meet the relevant criteria in this policy will they be entitled to 

transport between home and school free of charge. 

3.5 In addition to the duty to provide free school transport, there are some other 

circumstances in which Brighter Futures for Children will consider whether free 

transport may be necessary to enable the student to attend school; these are detailed 

in Section 4. 

3.6 Brighter Futures for Children aims to develop a best value School Transport Service 

that  

 is efficient, safe, reliable, and accessible; 

 meets the needs of those who are entitled to a service; 

 is co-ordinated with other Reading Borough Council strategies and policies, 

including the School Journeys Strategy. 

 
3.7 In order to reduce journeys to school by car, Reading Borough Council is working with 

families, schools, local communities and transport planners to encourage students to 

walk or cycle to school or, where this is not feasible, to encourage greater use of 

public transport.  

 
4. THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 There is only one significant change proposed for the policy for September 2020 – it is 

given in paragraph 3.7 of the policy and where a paragraph has been added to confirm 
the entitlement to transport for Maiden Erlegh Chiltern Edge pupils living within the 
RG4 postcode. 

 

Page 90



3 
 

 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 This report contributes to RBC’s strategic aims as follows 
 

a. Securing the economic success of Reading and provision of job opportunities – 
by ensuring children and young people are able to access education. 
b. To protect and enhance the lives of vulnerable adults and children by 
providing access to education 
c. Keeping Reading’s environment clean, green and safe through the provision of 
access to public transport 

 
5.2 Further the policy contributes to developing Reading as a green city through the 

emphasis on public transport and walking to school. 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
6.1 Sections 508A, 508B, 508C, 508D, 508F, 508G and 509AD and Schedule 35B of the 

Education Act 1996 (The Act), which were inserted by Part 6 of the Education and 

Inspections Act 2006 (EIA 2006). 

 

6.2 Regulation 5 and Part 2 of Schedule 2 to The School Information (England) Regulations        

2002, as amended. 

 
 

Page 91



4 
 

 

 
 

 

SUMMARY 
This document summarises 
arrangements for the 
statutory duties required of 
BFfC. 
 
OWNER 
Anne Tarrant, School 
Transport Manager 
 
VERSION 
V2b.0 

(amend to para 4.1 July 2020) 

DATE 
March 2020 
 
REVIEW DATE 
March 2021  
 

 

 
                                                                      

© Brighter Futures for Children 

 
Brighter Futures for Children  

Civic Offices, Bridge Street,  

Reading RG1 2LU 
 

Company number 11293709 
 

School 
Transport 
Policy 
2020-2021 

Page 92



5 
 

 

Contents  

1. Introduction and Legislation .................................................................................................. 7 

2 Definitions ............................................................................................................................ 8 

2.1 Maintained School .................................................................................................................. 8 

2.2 Parent ..................................................................................................................................... 8 

2.3 Reasonable Journey ................................................................................................................ 8 

2.4 Residence ............................................................................................................................... 8 

2.5 Suitable School ....................................................................................................................... 9 

2.6 Compulsory school age ........................................................................................................... 9 

2.7 Walking Distance .................................................................................................................... 9 

2.8  Low Income Families .............................................................................................................. 9 

3 School Transport Policy - Mainstream.................................................................................... 9 

3.2   Parental Preference .............................................................................................................. 10 

3.3 Pupils below the Compulsory School Age ............................................................................ 10 

3.4 Safety of Route ..................................................................................................................... 10 

3.5 Medical Conditions and Disabilities ..................................................................................... 11 

4 Discretionary Provision ....................................................................................................... 11 

4.1 Denominational Transport ................................................................................................... 11 

4.2  Peripheral Activities .............................................................................................................. 11 

4.3 Other exceptional circumstances ......................................................................................... 11 

4.4 Charging ................................................................................................................................ 11 

5.0   Transport Entitlement for Low Income Families ............................................................... 12 

5.1 Primary school ...................................................................................................................... 12 

5.2 Secondary School ................................................................................................................. 12 

6.0 Special Educational Needs ............................................................................................... 12 

6.1 General Entitlement ............................................................................................................. 12 

6.2 SEN – Exceptions .................................................................................................................. 13 

6.3 Special Education Needs  (SEN) Application ......................................................................... 13 

6.4 Escort Provision .................................................................................................................... 13 

6.5 SEN – Residential Places ....................................................................................................... 14 

6.6 SEN - pre-school ................................................................................................................... 14 

6.7 SEN - Working towards independent travel ......................................................................... 14 

7. Applications for Transport Provision .................................................................................... 14 

7.1 Special Education .................................................................................................................. 14 

7.2 Mainstream Provision .......................................................................................................... 15 

Page 93



6 
 

7.3 Concessionary Fare payers ................................................................................................... 15 

7.4 General ................................................................................................................................. 15 

8 Transport Responsibilities ................................................................................................... 15 

8.1 Brighter Futures for Children -  Responsibilities .................................................................. 15 

8.2 Escort Responsibilities .......................................................................................................... 16 

8.3 Driver Responsibilities .......................................................................................................... 17 

8.4 Operator Responsibilities ..................................................................................................... 18 

8.5 School Responsibilities ......................................................................................................... 19 

9 Change of Circumstances, Loss, Errors, Fraud ....................................................................... 19 

10    Quality and Standards ......................................................................................................... 19 

10.1 Service Standards and Codes of Practice ............................................................................. 19 

10.2 Parents and Children ............................................................................................................ 20 

10.3 Contracted Services .............................................................................................................. 20 

10.4 Emergency Closures ............................................................................................................. 20 

10.4.1 Severe Weather Conditions .......................................................................................... 20 

10.4.2 Loss of Essential Services .............................................................................................. 20 

10.5 Behaviour on School Transport ............................................................................................ 20 

11 Comments and Complaints .............................................................................................. 21 

12 Appeals ........................................................................................................................... 21 

12.1 Stage One ............................................................................................................................. 21 

12.2 Stage Two ............................................................................................................................. 21 

12.3    Grounds for Appeal ................................................................................................................ 22 

Appendix 1 – Safety of Route Guidelines ..................................................................................... 23 

Appendix 2 – Useful Links ........................................................................................................... 24 

 

 

Page 94



7 
 

 

1. Introduction and Legislation 

1.1 The legal responsibility for ensuring a child's attendance at school rests with the child’s parent. 
Generally, parents are expected to make their own arrangements for ensuring that their child 
travels to and from school. 

1.2 A Local Authority is only under a statutory duty to provide transport if the nearest suitable 

school is not within statutory walking distance of the child’s home by the nearest available 

route (section 444(5) of the Education Act 1996 refers).  

The relevant legislation is as follows:- 

 Sections 508A, 508B, 508C, 508D, 508F, 508G and 509AD and Schedule 35B of the 

Education Act 1996 (The Act), which were inserted by Part 6 of the Education and 

Inspections Act 2006 (EIA 2006). 

 Regulation 5 and Part 2 of Schedule 2 to The School Information (England) Regulations 

2002, as amended 

The summaries of these sections are as follows: 

Section 508A of the Act places a duty on local authorities in England to assess the school travel 

needs of all children and persons of sixth form age in their area and to assess and promote the 

use of sustainable modes of travel. 

Section 508B of the Act sets out the general duties placed on local authorities to make such 

school travel arrangements as they consider necessary for ‘eligible children’ within their area, 

to facilitate their attendance at the relevant educational establishment. Such arrangements 

must be provided free of charge. 

This duty is in addition to the duty on Brighter Futures for Children (providing services on 

behalf of Reading Borough Council) to make travel arrangements for children from ‘low 

income families’ who attend the nearest school preferred on grounds of religion or belief, 

where they live between two and 15 miles from home. 

This duty is complemented by Section 9 of the Education Act 1996, which provides that in 

exercising all duties and powers under the Education Acts, the Secretary of State and local 

authority shall have regard to the general principle that pupils are to be educated in 

accordance with their parents’ wishes, so far as that is compatible with the provision of 

efficient instruction and training and the avoidance of unreasonable expenditure. However, 

there is no general statutory duty requiring the local authority to provide free transport to a 

faith school. 

Section 508F of the Act places a duty on local authorities to make any transport or other 

arrangements that they consider necessary, or that the Secretary of State directs, for the 

purpose of facilitating the attendance of learners who are aged 19 or over at certain 

educational establishments.  

1.3 School Transport is to assist “the attendance of persons of compulsory school age receiving 

education”.  

1.4 Only where students meet the relevant criteria in this policy will they be entitled to transport 

between home and school free of charge. 

Page 95



8 
 

1.5 In addition to the duty to provide free school transport, there are some other circumstances in 

which Brighter Futures for Children will consider whether free transport may be necessary to 

enable the student to attend school; these are detailed in Section 4. 

1.6 Brighter Futures for Children aims to develop a best value School Transport Service that  

 is efficient, safe, reliable, and accessible; 

 meets the needs of those who are entitled to a service; 

 is co-ordinated with other Reading Borough Council strategies and policies, including 

the School Journeys Strategy. 

 
1.7 In order to reduce journeys to school by car, Reading Borough Council is working with families, 

schools, local communities and transport planners to encourage students to walk or cycle to 

school or, where this is not feasible, to encourage greater use of public transport.  

2 Definitions 

In this document, the following definitions apply: 

2.1 Maintained School  

Maintained School refers to any Community, Voluntary, Special Agreement, Foundation, Free, 

Academy, Special, or Special Foundation School.   

2.2 Parent 

“Parent” has the meaning as defined in the Education Acts; it includes anyone with parental 

responsibility, and anyone with whom the child lives, such as a carer.  

2.3 Reasonable Journey 

Brighter Futures for Children considers a reasonable journey to be one that allows the child to 
reach school without undue stress, strain or difficulty such as would prevent him or her 
benefiting from the education.  
To this end, Brighter Futures for Children operates the following maximum times/distances as 
being reasonable for School Transport journeys: 
 

 Primary school students: in Reading, primary schools tend to have small designated 

areas, so journey times are short. Brighter Futures for Children considers a public 

transport journey normally not exceeding 45 minutes or six miles to be reasonable. 

 Secondary school students: Secondary schools serve a larger area than primary 

schools, with more potential for public transport. Brighter Futures for Children 

considers a public transport journey normally not exceeding 75 minutes or twelve miles 

to be reasonable. 

 Special school students:  In some circumstances, travel to special schools may result in 

a need for longer travelling times especially when outside the Borough. 

 

2.4 Residence 

2.4.1 Any reference to a child’s residence means the dwelling where the child normally resides with 

his or her parent.  This includes a placement made where a child is in public care. 

2.4.2 Where a child’s parents are separated, the address of the parent with whom the child normally 

resides will be recognised as the child’s place of residence. 

Page 96



9 
 

2.4.3 Where a child is in public care, and it is considered desirable for the child to continue his or her 

education at a particular school, the School Transport Service will meet the costs of transport, 

provided that the new address is within the borough boundary. If the address is outside the 

Borough boundary the costs will be met from the Social Services budget. 

2.4.4. When a child in Year 11 moves house, transport will be provided until he or she has completed 

his/her examinations provided that the distance criteria is met.  This will normally take the form 

of a bus pass.  When children move house in other year groups, primary or secondary, parents 

can make an In-Year application for a change to a nearer school.  Transport assistance will only 

be made where no nearer school is available. 

2.5 Suitable School 

In determining whether a school is suitable for a student for school transport purposes, 

Brighter Futures for Children will consider: 

 the age of the child; 

 whether the school is the nearest appropriate school; 

 the reasonable time and distance that child will have to travel to that school; 

 whether the school meets the child’s needs as identified in an Education, Health and 

Care Plan (EHCP). 

A school that selects pupils by ability, aptitude or gender will not be regarded as fulfilling this 
requirement unless the school is the nearest school to the child’s residence – or one of the 
three nearest if the application is for a secondary school and is based on Low Income. 

2.6 Compulsory school age 

Education is compulsory for children between the ages of five and sixteen.  A pupil becomes of 
compulsory school age on the first day of the term following their fifth birthday.  A pupil ceases 
to be of compulsory school age at the end of the last Friday in June following the 16th birthday. 

2.7 Walking Distance 

As defined in the Education Acts, and means 

 2 miles for students under 8 years of age (or 16 for pupils from low income families) 

 3 miles for students aged 8-16 years of age.  

 
Walking distance is assessed by measuring the shortest available walking route between the 

front gate of the student’s home to the nearest school/college entrance. BFfC will make 

allowances for community safety or road safety reasons.  The courts have defined a safe route 

as one “along which a child, accompanied as necessary can walk and walk with reasonable 

safety to school”. 

Routes are not unsafe because of dangers that might arise if the child were unaccompanied. 

Initial checks on the distance are made using a GIS mapping system.  If the distance is close to 

the 2 or 3 mile limit, a physical check may be made using a calibrated measuring wheel. 

2.8  Low Income Families 

Children entitled to Free School Meals or whose parents receive the maximum level of   

Working Tax Credit. 

3 School Transport Policy - Mainstream 

3.1 On application by the parent, free school transport will be provided by Brighter Futures for 

Children if the following conditions are met: 

Page 97



10 
 

 The child lives in the Reading Borough and is of compulsory school age or a Rising Five; 

and 

 The school at which the child is a registered student is beyond the statutory walking 

distance. 

 
Brighter Futures for Children may also provide transport assistance if:  

 

 the nearest suitable school has no place available and the next nearest school meets 

the distance criteria; 

 the child has been excluded from the nearest suitable school and the alternative 

placement meets the distance criteria. 

 

3.2   Parental Preference 

If as a result of parental preference, a child attends a school other than the nearest available, 
free transport is not provided.  Parents are responsible for making their own transport 
arrangements and for all transport costs, for the whole time the child attends the school. 
Parents cannot rely on the argument that the Brighter Futures for Children should provide 
transport to their preferred school because the nearest school is oversubscribed where a place 
would have been available at the nearest school had an application been made at the 
appropriate time. 
Where parents have exercised preference and later experience a change of circumstances, 
which prevent them from meeting their responsibility for transport, Brighter Futures for 
Children would expect the child to transfer to the nearest available school.  Brighter Futures for 
Children will not assume responsibility for transport to the preferred school. 
 
Please note, for Maiden Erlegh Chiltern Edge: Although not the nearest appropriate school, 
transport assistance is provided to Maiden Erlegh Chiltern Edge School for pupils living with in 
the RG4 postcode area (north of the river). 
 

3.3 Pupils below the Compulsory School Age 

Transport will be provided for Rising Fives where the child is attending the nearest appropriate 

school and the home address is over 2 miles from the school by the nearest available walking 

route, at the start and end of the school day only.  There is no transport provision for pupils 

attending on a part-time basis. 

3.4 Safety of Route 

The courts have defined a safe route as one “along which a child, accompanied as necessary, 

can walk and walk with reasonable safety to school”.  Routes are not unsafe because of dangers 

that would arise if the child were unaccompanied. 

Whilst a parent may make a case that a route is believed to be unsafe, it is the Company that 

determines if a route is safe.  The assessment will be made based on the criteria set down in 

the guidelines in Appendix One.  

It is the responsibility of the parent to decide whether to accompany their child to school or 

make alternative arrangements.  They are also expected to provide protective clothing and 

footwear as necessary. 

Page 98



11 
 

3.5 Medical Conditions and Disabilities 

Transport will be provided for a student of compulsory school age, to attend their nearest 

suitable school if they are unable to attend school because of a medical condition or disability. 

Application for transport on these grounds must be accompanied by written advice from the 

appropriate community paediatrician, the child’s GP or hospital consultant. The advice must 

include information on the effect that the disability has on the child’s ability to use public 

transport, and how long the condition could be expected to last, as well as evidence as to why 

the parent is unable to transport the child.  

Discretion is not normally exercised to support pupils attending a school which is not the 

nearest as transport is a parental responsibility for the whole time a pupil attends a preferred 

school. 

4 Discretionary Provision 

In addition to the reasons outlined in section three, Brighter Futures for Children may provide 

free transport on the application of a parent in the following circumstances. 

4.1 Denominational Transport 

The Education Act does not require Brighter Futures for Children to provide free transport to 

faith schools.  However, low income families should refer to Section 5. 

 

4.2  Peripheral Activities 

Transport assistance, where awarded, is only provided for pupils at the beginning and end of 

the school day.  It will not normally be provided for additional activities, e.g. Induction/Open 

Days, Interview visits, Work Experience, Homework Clubs, Dental/Medical appointments, 

Respite Care, Breakfast Clubs or Parental/Carer attendance at school. 

Where a pupil becomes ill during the day, it is the responsibility of the parent to collect their 

child or to agree with the school that they will provide adequate care until the end of the school 

day.  

4.3 Other exceptional circumstances 

Parents may make requests for free transport for their children on the grounds of exceptional 

educational or social need.  As such cases are exceptional, it is not possible to specify general 

criteria which may be applied to judge eligibility.  Where an application is turned down an 

appeal can be submitted on-line (see section 12).  An appeal should be supported by 

appropriate professional advice e.g. GP/Hospital letters, Social Worker/Educational Welfare 

Officers’ reports, etc.  Where the need arises as a result of a decision of a court, a copy of the 

relevant Court order must be submitted. 

4.4 Charging 

Where a pupil does not qualify for transport assistance, the Company may be able to assist with 

provision for which a contribution may be required.  This may include: 

 Provision of a concessionary fare paying seat, where a seat is available on an existing 

contract vehicle for which a termly charge is made; 

Page 99



12 
 

 One off contributions for occasional transport to respite placements/After school clubs 

etc; 

 16-19 year olds with an Education, Health and Care Plan (see Post 16 Education 

Transport Policy); 

 Pre-school aged pupils with an Education, Health and Care Plan. 

5.0   Transport Entitlement for Low Income Families 

Schedule 35B, added to the 1996 Education Act, includes free school travel for children from 

low income families.  The Act defines low income pupils as those who are entitled to Free 

School Meals or whose parents are in receipt of the maximum level of Working Tax Credit. 

Once eligibility has been confirmed, entitlement is until the end of the academic year.  A new 

application must be made prior to the start of each academic year.  Renewals are accepted 

from March. 

5.1 Primary school  

The two-mile walking limit is extended up to the end of primary education for pupils attending 

their nearest qualifying school. 

5.2 Secondary School 

Transport for secondary school pupils will be provided for pupils attending one of their three 

nearest qualifying schools, where they live more than two miles but less than 6 miles from that 

school. 

Where a preference has been expressed for a school based on the parents’ religion or beliefs, 

then a secondary school pupil from a low income family is entitled to travel assistance where 

they live more than two miles but not more than 15 miles from that school.  A Denominational 

Certificate signed by the Parish Priest/Minister confirming that the parent is a practising 

member of their church/congregation will be required. 

When considering whether a school is preferred on the grounds of religion or belief, the 

Company will take into account the nature of other schools that may have been named as a 

higher preference on the application form.  For an application for travel assistance to be agreed 

under this section, the expectation will be that the faith school that is preferred on the grounds 

of religion or belief will be named above any non-faith schools that have been named on the 

application form. The 6 and 15 mile limits are measured along road routes as they are not 

“walking routes”. 

6.0 Special Educational Needs 

6.1 General Entitlement 

Pupils with special educational needs have the same entitlement to school transport provision 

as any other pupils within the education system. Brighter Futures for Children is only under a 

duty to provide free transport to a child's nearest suitable school, provided that it is beyond 

statutory walking distance of his or her home. The nearest suitable school for a pupil with 

special educational needs may well be different than for another pupil.  Transport may be 

provided for pupils whose home address does not meet the distance criteria if the child cannot 

be expected to walk to school because of their mobility problems or because of issues related 

Page 100



13 
 

to their special educational needs or disability.  Eligibility for such pupils will be assessed on an 

individual basis to identify their transport requirements. 

Whilst nothing in this policy should be construed as limiting the schools for which parents of 

children with EHCPs may express a preference, if a child is attending a school as a result of 

parental preference (i.e. not the one that Brighter Futures for Children considers being the 

nearest suitable) the child’s parents must meet the transport costs. Home to school transport 

will not be provided.  

In exceptional cases, as part of the Education, Health and Care Plan Assessment, or following an 

Annual Review, Brighter Futures for Children may identify a child who has particular travel 

needs requiring specialist transport assistance.  Within Annual Reviews, a pupil’s transport 

should be reviewed and may result in alternative arrangements on the advice of professionals 

or the school. 

It is also necessary, where it is appropriate and safe to do so, to develop students’ 

independence as they mature and approach adult life. Where safety permits, Brighter Futures 

for Children will promote travel options that encourage students with special educational needs 

to become responsible for making their own way to school, to increase their independence.  

(See also 6.7 below). 

Wherever possible, a student with special educational needs will also be encouraged to travel 

on public transport or join the Independence Travel Training scheme, especially when this is 

considered to be a factor in developing their independence, life and social skills 

6.2 SEN – Exceptions 

6.2.1 Transport assistance will only be provided to students outside the entitlement when it is 

demonstrated and professionally evidenced that there is a need.   

6.2.2 In all circumstances, the factors will demonstrate that the child cannot make the journey to 

school safely. Any transport provided will be based on the student’s needs, not the parent’s 

circumstances.  Transport entitlement will not take into account parents’ work or other 

commitments, or attendance by siblings at other schools. 

6.2.3 Brighter Futures for Children will consider several factors when determining the mode of 

transport to use. These include the nature of the child or young person’s special educational 

needs; their age; their medical needs; the viability of using contracted services; public transport 

or (for a young adult) the person’s own transport; the need for specialist transport and/or 

escorts and the efficient use of resources. 

 6.3 Special Education Needs  (SEN) Application 

In most cases for pupils with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP), consideration for 

assisted travel arrangements will form part of the initial assessment, annual review or transition 

planning process.  An application form can be obtained from the Special Education Team (Tel 

0118 937 2674).  The eligibility of these applications will be assessed by the SEN Team via the 

SEN Panel, using the criteria above. 

6.4 Escort Provision 

Escorts are provided to ensure the safety of passengers travelling to and from school.  The 

provision of escorts is generally restricted to: 

a) Special needs pupils under the age of five years; 

Page 101



14 
 

b) Pupils with complex needs who would be at risk on school transport if travelling; 

unaccompanied e.g. pupils with severe behavioural difficulties, life threatening 

conditions, mobility problems or pupils unable to communicate effectively; 

c) Vehicles where the number of pupils travelling together necessitates the provision of 

an escort. 

Escorts must have an enhanced DBS check and have attended either the Readibus training day 

or a PATS training day.   Attendance at further training sessions maybe required. Unless 

specifically employed and trained to do so, escorts are not expected to administer medical 

treatments.   

6.5 SEN – Residential Places  

Where Brighter Futures for Children names a residential school or provision at some distance 
from the parents’ home, Brighter Futures for Children will either provide transport or pay the 
costs of such students’ transport at the beginning and end of each half term, plus any weekend 
when the school is closed. Payment can include reimbursement of public transport costs, petrol 
costs or provision of a travel pass. All other transport costs must be met by the child’s parents. 

The transport is provided for the pupil and does not include transport for the parents to attend 
Open Days, Annual Reviews etc. 

6.6 SEN - pre-school  

There is no statutory requirement for Brighter Futures for Children to provide transport for 
children who have an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) and who: 
 

 attend an early years setting, a nursery school, or a nursery class at a primary or infant 

school. 

 
However, transport may be provided, based on an individual assessment of the child’s special 

educational needs or disability.  

6.7 SEN - Working towards independent travel 

Independence is a key life skill. As students become older a move to more independent method 

of travel is an important contribution to developing this wherever possible. Although some will 

require some form of assisted transport throughout their school career, many others should be 

working towards more independent travel, i.e. no escort followed by a bus pass or walking. 

Altering the method of assisted transport for a pupil may well cause concern for both the pupil 

and the parents. This demonstrates the need for both an appropriate expectation within the 

school about the importance of independence skills for adult life and careful preparation before 

the review. While reviews will always take account of the pupil’s needs in reaching a decision to 

recommend a move to more independent travel, it may be wise to raise it as a possibility at 

least one Annual Review before the formal recommendation may be made. Brighter Futures for 

Children will take the final decision, with parents being able to appeal to an independent panel 

where they disagree. 

7. Applications for Transport Provision 

7.1 Special Education  

Applications are made to the Special Education Team and assessed by the SEN Panel to make a 

decision. Approved requests for transport provision are passed on to the School Transport 

Page 102



15 
 

Service.  These give the pupils details, school, start date and any additional information which 

may be necessary to provide the required level of service.  This should include details of 

equipment required e.g. tail-lift, car seat, harness or medical conditions that staff may need to 

be aware of such as Epilepsy, Autism, visual or hearing impairment and physical disabilities. 

The School Transport Service requires 5 days’ notice to allocate provision and notify operators, 

parents/carers and schools of the arrangements.  Occasionally a longer period maybe required 

if a new contract is required or a pupil has complex needs. 

7.2 Mainstream Provision 

Applications should be made online or an application form can be requested from the School 

Transport Team. On receipt of an application form, checks will be made with school and other 

records to confirm eligibility for free transport. A Supplementary form needs to be completed if 

application is being made based on low income. 

Season tickets are issued for the start of term or within two weeks of the receipt of application.  

Contract vehicles are only provided where there is no suitable public transport. 

In special circumstances where this is not appropriate, an alternative form of transport will be 

provided e.g. for pupils with medical conditions. 

7.3 Concessionary Fare payers 

Where spare seats are available on school transport contract vehicles, pupils not entitled to 

free transport maybe allowed to travel on the pre-payment of a fee determined by Brighter 

Futures for Children. 

This concession can be withdrawn at any time for the following reasons: 

a) the seat is required for a pupil entitled to assistance; 

b) the vehicle ceases to operate; 

c) non-payment of account; 

d) operational requirements e.g. route re-organisation, provision of a smaller vehicle; 

e) misbehaviour by the pupil. 

 

 7.4 General 

To monitor the use and effectiveness of its system, The School Transport Service will keep 

accurate student records, along with details of service providers, season ticket details, and 

other statistical information. All information about individuals and their particular requirements 

will be handled with sensitivity and confidentiality, and in accordance with the Data Protection 

Act.  

8 Transport Responsibilities 

8.1 Brighter Futures for Children - Responsibilities 

The School Transport Service is responsible for: 

 Determining service provision in accordance with pupil needs; 

 Awarding contracts in accordance with the Company’s tendering procedures; 

Page 103



16 
 

 Providing escort training; 

 Endeavouring to ensure that pupils travelling time is kept to a minimum; 

 Monitoring service provision and taking action to rectify problems. 

 
The Company reserves the right to withdraw transport for any pupil who presents a safety risk 

to other passengers. 

Transport arrangements are subject to change when pupils leave or join a route.  The transport 

provider may also change as the Company reviews provision to ensure the most cost-effective 

transport. 

The Company will not fund additional journeys or routes which are put in place by anyone 

other than officers within the SEN or School Transport teams, without prior approval of the 

relevant budget holder. 

   8.2 Escort Responsibilities 

 Escorts should have undergone an enhanced DBS check attended a Readibus or PATS 

Training day, and be wearing an identity badge issued by Brighter Futures for Children 

during working hours.  Although a copy of the badge can be kept on a mobile phone, 

the badge must be visible while working. 

 Escorts should be aware of the Code of Practice and any contingency plans laid down 

by the contractor regarding breakdowns, accidents or other emergencies.  Staff should 

ensure they have emergency contact numbers for the parents of pupils travelling on 

their routes. 

 Escorts should ensure that pupils board and alight safely by keeping doors closed while 

vehicle is moving, not allowing children to open or closing doors and ensuring that 

pupils are well clear of the vehicle before driver moves off.  Parents are responsible for 

bringing pupils to the vehicle and collecting them in the afternoon – the escort should 

not leave pupils on the vehicle unsupervised at any time. 

 The escort should ensure all luggage is stowed safely and that pupils have seat belts or 

other harnesses and seats secured. 

 The escort should, as far as possible, sit where the pupils can be watched.  Clear 

guidelines should be set as to what is acceptable behaviour. Severe or persistent 

misbehaviour should be notified to the school.    

 The escort should exercise reasonable control and ensure pupils do not hinder the 

driver.  Escorts should not engage in confrontational situations with parents but report 

the incident to the employer or the School Transport Team.   

 Under no circumstances should an escort strike a pupil.  Where pupils are involved in a 

fight or confrontation, minimum, appropriate, physical restraint may be used (Where 

there are concerns, training will be given). 

 Escorts should never use foul language or abusive gestures but should maintain a 

courteous, professionally detached relationship with the pupils, parents, school staff 

and the driver.  Inappropriate conversation topics will be avoided. Staff should not 

tease, play or ‘fool around’ with passengers and should not interfere with their 

belongings. All passengers should be treated with care, respect and dignity. 

Page 104



17 
 

 Physical contact with pupils will be kept to a minimum. Staff are not permitted to lift 

children on/off vehicles. 

 There should be no filming/recording of pupils on mobile phones or other devices. 

 In the event of an accident or breakdown, the escort will remain with the children. 

 The escort will co-operate with Authority staff, teachers and parents to resolve 

problems, reporting any issues felt to be relevant to the child’s wellbeing.  Incidents, 

conversations or behaviour changes can indicate a pupil has a problem. 

 Escorts should be aware that some of the information about the pupils is confidential.  

Any written notes should be kept in a safe place which cannot be accessed by others. 

 If no-one is available to receive a pupil at the end of the day, escorts should be 

prepared to take the child for the remainder of the journey before returning to the 

pupil’s house.  It is helpful for staff to ensure they have contact numbers for the 

parents in case of an emergency.  

 Escorts should ensure that pupils do not eat on the vehicles to reduce the risk of 

choking and to avoid medical conditions and allergies being aggravated.  

 No smoking is permitted during working hours.   

 Escorts should not be in possession of alcohol, drugs or offensive weapons. 

 The Escort should be trained to use any equipment provided e.g., harnesses, car seats 

etc. 

8.3 Driver Responsibilities 

 Drivers should not drive a vehicle they consider to be unroadworthy.  The vehicle 

should be plated and the driver should display his Identity Badge at all times.  

 The schedule should be followed using only designated pick up points.  

 The driver should be aware that the schedules contain information relating to pupils 

which is confidential and they should not be left in places where they can be accessed 

by others. 

 Always park so that pupils alight on the pavement and not in the carriageway and make 

sure all pupils are clear of the vehicle before moving off.   

 Drivers should not allow any unauthorised passengers to travel.   

 A courteous, professionally detached relationship should be maintained with pupils, 

parents, school staff and escort.   

 The driver should exercise reasonable control, assisting escorts when one has been 

provided.  Drivers should not engage in confrontational situations with parents but 

report the incident to the employer or the School Transport Team   

 Under no circumstances should a driver strike a pupil.  Where pupils are involved in a 

fight or confrontation, minimum, appropriate, physical restraint may be used (Where 

there are concerns, training will be given).   

 Drivers should never evict a pupil from the vehicle, but should report misbehaviour to 

staff. 

Page 105



18 
 

 Drivers should never use foul language or abusive gestures.  Inappropriate conversation 

topics will be avoided. Staff should not tease, play or ‘fool around’ with passengers and 

should not interfere with their belongings. All passengers should be treated with care, 

respect and dignity. 

 Inappropriate conversation topics and language must be avoided.  Physical contact with 

pupils should be kept to a minimum.   

 There should be no filming/recording of pupils on mobile phones or other devices. 

 The driver should ensure that school transport signs and route numbers are displayed 

correctly. 

 Children should not open and close doors – childproof locks should be used where 

available.  Before moving away, drivers should ensure that all passengers are seated 

and that appropriate seat belts/restraints are secured. 

 The driver should never leave pupils unattended.  When returning pupils home the 

driver should wait until the child is received by a responsible adult. 

 The driver should be trained to use any equipment provided e.g. ramps, lifts, harnesses, 

fire extinguishers, strap cutters etc. 

 Most schools have arrangements for parking, picking up and setting down within the 

grounds and drivers are expected to co-operate with their procedures- 

 Drivers should adhere to speed limits, not use mobile phones unless parked and 

are not permitted to smoke.  Where practicable, drivers should switch off 

vehicle engines to reduce smoke emissions, noise and other pollutants.  

Vehicles should not be left unattended.  If a driver leaves the vehicles it must be 

secured locked and parked in a safe and appropriate place. 

 The driver should be aware of procedures in the event of a breakdown, accident or 

other hazard such as fire.  All incidents should be reported as soon as is possible. 

 The driver should not be in possession of alcohol, drugs or offensive weapons. 

 The driver should be aware and compliant with regulations relating to Drivers’ hours. 

 The driver should advise their employer, and, if necessary, the DVLA, Swansea of any 

change in their medical condition which may affect their fitness to work.   

8.4 Operator Responsibilities 

 The operators should have read the Code of Practice for School Transport Operations 

which forms part of the contract between the Operator and the Company.  This covers 

reliability of operation, procedures for breakdowns and emergencies, customer care, 

vehicle provision and maintenance, contact details, and service monitoring.   

 The operator should ensure that all legislation relating to the transport provision is 

adhered to including, licensing, badged staff, vehicle maintenance, provision and 

displaying of school transport signs, wheelchair floor tracking, harnessing and tail lift 

testing and maintenance, record keeping etc.  All records should be available for 

inspection by the staff from the Company and the Council as required.  

 The operator is responsible for ensuring that staff are aware of procedures for 

breakdowns, accidents or other incidents 

Page 106



19 
 

8.5 School Responsibilities 

 Staff should be available to transfer pupils between the vehicle and the classroom.  

Escorts and driver should not leave pupils unattended while accompanying other pupils 

from classrooms. 

 The school should ensure that loading areas are as safe as possible, minimising the 

movement of pupils round moving vehicles. 

 Changes which affect the transport provision e.g. early closures, school trips, pupils 

leaving etc should be notified as soon as possible.  Minor changes can be notified direct 

to the operator.  Changes which may affect the cost to the Company should be notified 

to the School Transport Service.   

 The Operators will present a Con 1 form at the end of each month.  These should be 

signed by authorised signatories at the school to confirm the number of days transport 

has been provided. 

 Monitoring forms are available for schools to survey the transport and advise of any 

concerns they may have. 

 Advice maybe sought from school staff regarding problems that may arise with 

individual pupils. 

9 Change of Circumstances, Loss, Errors, Fraud 

9.1 If a child aged less than eight years receives free transport, but would lose this entitlement on 
turning eight due to the different walking distances involved, free transport will be maintained 
to the end of the term in which the child’s eighth birthday falls. 

9.2 If a child moves out of Reading Borough, the student must surrender any travel pass with 
immediate effect. Responsibility for travel will rest with the Local Authority in whose area the 
student then resides. 

9.3 Where a child is awarded a season ticket for public transport, he or she must carry the ticket for 
all home to school journeys, and show them when asked. If a child is unable to attend school 
because the season ticket has been lost or stolen, the parent is responsible for paying the fares 
or transporting the child until a replacement ticket is received.  

9.4 Where a pupil has been assessed as eligible for transport assistance in error, or as a result of 
defective information or fraud investigation, the provision will be withdrawn at the end of the 
term in which the matter is brought to the attention of the parent. Any passes issued to the 
child must be returned at the end of that period.  In the case of a fraudulent application, 
assistance will be withdrawn at the end of the week in which clear evidence of such fraud is 
presented. 

9.5 Brighter Futures for Children reserves the right to take legal action against any parent who 
makes a fraudulent application for free school transport. 

10 Quality and Standards 

10.1 Service Standards and Codes of Practice 

 In addressing service quality, Brighter Futures for Children will set service standards that 

promote journey quality and effectively address bullying or poor behaviour. 

Page 107



20 
 

10.2 Parents and Children 

Although Brighter Futures for Children may provide transport assistance, the parent is still 

responsible for ensuring that their child attends school.  

10.3 Contracted Services 

Brighter Futures for Children issues a Code of Practice for Operators. Where transport is 

provided through contracted services, as part of the conditions of the contract, Brighter Futures 

for Children requires its contractors, their employees and any sub-contractors, to adhere to this 

Code.  

If a contractor, its employees, or any sub-contractor, fails to comply with the Code of Practice 

for Contractors, Brighter Futures for Children may deem the Operator to be in breach of 

contract. 

10.4 Emergency Closures 

10.4.1 Severe Weather Conditions 

After consideration of the forecasts, Headteachers may decide that the health and safety of 

pupils necessitate closing the school.  Announcements on school closures are made on local 

radio stations when weather is severe. 

If the weather deteriorates once pupils have arrived at school, Headteachers will advise the 

Company if they deem it necessary to close and arrangements will be made for vehicles to 

collect pupils as soon as is practicable.  Parents will be contacted to ensure that care is available 

on their return. 

10.4.2 Loss of Essential Services 

In the event of heating breakdown or disruption of other essential services (such as water 

supply), especially during cold weather, the Headteacher may arrange for pupils to be returned 

home.  Parents would be notified accordingly. 

10.5 Behaviour on School Transport 

For reasons of health and safety your child must always wear an appropriate seatbelt.  In 

addition, pupils should not: 

 Eat or drink on the vehicle; 

 Stand up in the vehicle whilst it is moving; 

 Distract the driver in any way; 

 Play radios, personal music players (CDs, MP3s, iPods, mobile phones, etc.) unless using 

personal headphones; 

 Drop litter inside the vehicle; 

 Smoke on school transport. 

 
Parents will be responsible for any damage caused to the vehicle by their children and will have 

to pay the operator for any repairs that maybe necessary, including cleaning costs where 

appropriate. 

Page 108



21 
 

If a child persistently misbehaves, Brighter Futures for Children reserves the right to withdraw 

transport provision – either on a temporary or permanent basis.  If it is necessary to take this 

course of action, the parent is then responsible for ensuring their child’s continued attendance 

at school. 

The Education Act 2006 makes it clear that head teachers have the right to address 

unacceptable behaviour, even when this takes place outside the school premises and this 

includes behaviour on school transport. 

11 Comments and Complaints 

11.1 Brighter Futures for Children welcomes feedback and constructive comments from its service 

users. The School Transport Service will pick up all comments about services, whether written 

or verbal, made face-to-face or over the telephone – including those which are not formal 

complaints. 

11.2 If things go wrong, the School Transport Service will endeavour to rectify the situation swiftly, 

to the satisfaction of all parties, as long as the solution is not outside the boundaries of this 

policy.  

11.3 However, the School Transport Service can only deal with complaints about the services that 

are contracted by the School Transport Service. Complaints about contracted services will be 

dealt with in accordance with the Company’s published complaints procedure. Complaints 

about services provided by train operating companies, or bus companies, must be directed to 

the company in question. 

12 Appeals 

12.1 Stage One 

If a parent has had an application for free school transport turned down by the School 
Transport Service or believes the provision to be unsuitable, an appeal against this decision can 
be made.  The Parent(s) will be asked to submit an on-line form, within 20 working days from 
receipt of the Authority’s written decision. The statement should include any personal 
circumstances you feel should be considered, accompanied by any additional supporting 
evidence from professionals.   

The decision will then be reviewed by a Senior Reviewing Officer within 20 working days of 
receipt of the request and parent(s) will be notified.  

If assistance is granted, it will normally take the form of a bus pass or the most economical 
option possible.  If other provision is being sought, the request should form part of your 
submission.  

12.2 Stage Two 

Any challenge to the Stage One Reviewing Officer’s decision should be made within 20 working 
days from receipt of the Stage One decision.  The parent should request that their appeal be 
progressed to Stage Two where it will be reviewed by an Independent Officer Panel headed by 
the Director of Education and the Lead Member of Education.  Parents can submit additional 
information and will be invited to attend.  Officers on this panel will have had no involvement in 
the original decision making.  The appeal date will be within 40 working days of receipt of your 
request and any additional supporting information.  Prior to the case being heard, a full copy of 
all correspondence will be sent to the parent.    Minutes will be made and a letter will be sent to 
the parent within 5 days of the hearing, outlining the details of the discussion and confirming 
the decision.   

Page 109



22 
 

12.3    Grounds for Appeal 

You can appeal on one of the following grounds: 

 That the policy has not been properly applied; 

 That the policy has been properly applied but there are exceptional circumstances. 

 (Please note - A parent being unable to take their child to school due to work commitments 

will not be considered as exceptional circumstances) 

  
12.4     Pending a review, it remains the parent/carers responsibility to ensure their child attends 

school. 

12.5  If the appeal is unsuccessful, an appeal can be made to the Local Government          
Ombudsman.  The Ombudsman can be contacted at: 

 PO Box 4771, Coventry, CV4 0EH (Tel: 0845 602 1983) or through the website: www.lgo.org.uk.  

Page 110

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


23 
 

Appendix 1 – Safety of Route Guidelines 
From the 2002 Guidelines: Identification of hazards and the assessment of risk of walked routes to 
school - Local Authority Road Safety Officers’ Association (LARSOA) 

1. In assessing the safety of a particular journey, consideration is given only to danger 

relevant to traffic/highway conditions. 

2. It is essential that each case be considered on its merits. 

3. The pupil may be assumed to be accompanied as deemed necessary by a normal 

caring parent or other responsible adult. 

4. Judgements should be made fair in regard to both urban and rural routes.  The task 

of a pedestrian in urban areas, even where there are footways, can be difficult when regard is 

had, for example, to the need to cross main traffic routes. 

5. Consideration should be given to the overall nature of the route.  It is not 

unreasonable to expect special care to be taken on short difficult sections. 

6. Where difficult sections exist on a road, their locations within the overall journey is 

relevant since applications for free transport would not normally be entertained in respect of very 

short journeys. 

7. Where a footway, public footpath or bridleway exists such can normally be assumed 

to provide a safe route for that part of the journey.   

8. Where a verge exists along which it is possible for the child and accompanying person 

to walk, the verge can normally be assumed to provide a safe route for that part of the journey. 

9. Where, on lightly trafficked roads, a verge exists which is not easy to walk on but 

which can be stepped onto by the child and accompanying adults when vehicles are passing, it 

can normally be assumed to provide a safe route for that part of the journey. 

10. Many rural routes may lie along roads having neither footway nor verge.  On such 

roads consideration should be given to the width of the carriageway, traffic flow and composition 

(such as frequent heavy goods vehicles) and to visibility (i.e. sharp bends with high hedgerows or 

banks). 

11. Where there is evidence that a route is used by children (either accompanied or not) 

outside school hours this should be taken into account in judging whether it is available for 

journeys to school. 

12. Consideration should be given to the relevant accident record of the route with 

particular regard to the effect on pedestrian movements. 

13. Where road crossings are necessary, the availability of justified crossing facilities 

(zebra, pelican, school crossing patrol) using the laid down criteria should be taken into 

consideration. 

 

 

Page 111



24 
 

 

Appendix 2 – Useful Links 

Family Information Service/SEND Local Offer 

Free information for families who have a child/young person with a disability living in Reading. 

Tel - 0118 937 3777 

Email - Localoffer@reading.gov.uk 

Website - www.reading.gov.uk/Sendlocaloffer 

IASS (Information, Advice and Support Service) 

Offers free confidential and impartial advice to Reading parents/carers who have children/young 

parents with special educational needs.  Also offers support to parents who find secondary transfer a 

challenge, whether or not child has special educational needs. 

Whitley Health and Social Services Centre, 268 Northumberland Avenue, Reading RG2 7PJ 

Mondays, Wednesdays and Fridays – 9.30am-2.30pm 

Tel - 0118 937 3421 (Answerphone out of hours) 

Email - IASS@brighterfuturesforchildren.org 

Reading Families’ Forum 

Support for families of children/young people with disabilities in the local area. 

Website - www.readingfamiliesforum.co.uk 

Autism Berkshire 

40 Caversham Road, Reading RG1 7EB 

Tel -  01189 594 594 

Email - Contact@autismberkshire.org.uk 

Website – www.autismberkshire.org 

Berkshire Vision 

Helping blind and partially sighted children and adults in Berkshire 

5 Middleton House, 5 Erlegh Road, Reading RG1 5LR 

Tel  - 0118 987 2803 

Email – Info@berkshirevision.org.uk 

 

Elevate Reading 

Elevate Reading (part of Brighter Futures for Children) - 

Page 112

mailto:Localoffer@reading.gov.uk
http://www.reading.gov.uk/Sendlocaloffer
mailto:IASS@brighterfuturesforchildren.org
http://www.readingfamiliesforum.co.uk/
mailto:Contact@autismberkshire.org.uk
mailto:Info@berkshirevision.org.uk


25 
 

Providing information, advice and guidance to post 16 young people, supporting them into education, 

employment and training . 

Elevate Team (Brighter Futures for Children) 

3rd Floor,Reading Central Library Abbey Square, Reading RG1 3BQ 

M 07929178133 

T 0118 9372204  

E elevate@brighterfuturesforchildren.org 

LinkedIn: Brighter Futures for Children 

Twitter: @BFfC_Child 

Website: www.brighterfuturesforchildren.org 

 

Readibus 

Dial-a-ride bus service for people with restricted mobility in and around Reading. 

Cradock Road, Reading RG2 0JT 

Tel – 0118 931 0000 

Email – Bookings@readibus.co.uk 

Reading Association for the Blind 

Walford Hall, Carey Street, Reading RG1 7JS 

Tel  - 0118 957 2960 

Email – manager@raftb.org 

Website – www.readingassociationfortheblind.org 

Reading Deaf Centre 

131-133 Cardiff Road, Reading RG1 8JFMonday-Friday 10am-1.30pm 

Tel  - 0118 959 4969 

Email - Info@readingdeafcentre.co.uk 

Website - www.readingdeafcentre.co.uk 

Reading Mencap 

Provide support so individuals with learning disabilities and their families might lead full and active 

lives. 

21 Alexandra Road, Reading RG1 5PE 

Office and drop in centre open Monday-Friday 9.30am-1.30pm 

Tel - 0118 966 2518 

Page 113

mailto:elevate@brighterfuturesforchildren.org
http://www.brighterfuturesforchildren.org/
mailto:manager@raftb.org
mailto:Info@readingdeafcentre.co.uk
http://www.readingdeafcentre.co.uk/


26 
 

Email – office@readingmencap.org.uk 

Website - www.readingmencap.org.uk 

 

Page 114

http://www.readingmencap.org.uk/


 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 1 

 
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION 

 

TO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 OCTOBER 2020 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 16 

TITLE: CHILDREN MISSING EDUCATION: UPDATE POLICY AND PROCEDURE – 
MARCH 2020 
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

CLLR PEARCE PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION 

SERVICE: BFFC 
 

WARDS: ALL 

LEAD OFFICER: GILL DUNLOP 
 

TEL:  

JOB TITLE: PUPIL AND SCHOOL 
SUPPORT MANAGER 
 

E-MAIL:  

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Attached to this cover report is the Brighter Futures for Children draft Children 

Missing Education (CME) Policy and CME Practice Guidance.  The documents have been 
agreed by the CME multi-agency group and are presented for information and 
ratification. 
 

1.2 This policy is intended for the public, schools, professionals and practitioners. It is 
written to assist Brighter Futures for Children (BFfC) in its implementation of 
effective systems for identifying, maintaining contact and supporting children 
resident in Reading whom are missing education. BFfC will routinely monitor how 
much educational provision our children & young people are receiving including the 
quality and appropriateness of this provision.   

 
1.2 Appendix 1 CME policy and practice guidance 
 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That the draft Policy and Practice Guidance as attached in Appendix 1 be 

approved.  
 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1 The DfE CME statutory guidance (September 2016) sets out key principles to enable 

local authorities in England to implement their legal duty under section 436A of the 
Education Act 1996: 

 to make arrangements to identify, as far as it is possible to do so, children missing 

education (CME); 

 to make arrangements to establish the identities of children in their area who are not 

registered pupils at a school and are not receiving suitable education otherwise.  

 

Page 115

Agenda Item 16



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 2 

This duty only relates to children of compulsory school age.  
 
Local authorities should be able to demonstrate that they have considered this statutory 

guidance and where it is not followed, the local authority should have reasonable grounds for 

not doing so.  

The DfE guidance also contains information about schools’ other statutory duties. 

 
Children missing education are children of compulsory school age who are not registered 
pupils at a school and are not receiving suitable education otherwise than at a school. 
Children missing education are at significant risk of underachieving, being victims of harm, 
exploitation or radicalisation, and becoming NEET (not in education, employment or training) 
later in life.  
 
Arrangements made under section 436A also play an important role in fulfilling the local 
authority’s wider safeguarding duties.  

 
Local authorities should have in place arrangements for joint working and information sharing 
with other local authorities and agencies.   

 
Local authorities should have robust policies and procedures in place to enable them to 
meet their duty in relation to these children, including ensuring that there are effective 
tracking and enquiry systems in place, and appointing a named person to whom schools and 
other agencies can make referrals about children who are missing education.  
 

Brighter Futures for Children delivers this statutory duty on behalf of Reading Borough 

Council.  

 

The total absence in state funded schools in Reading shows that in primary schools our 

performance is close to the national average at 4.10 compared to the England average of 

4.00.  To be the best in the country Reading would need a primary absence rate of 3.80 or 

less.  However, at secondary level our performance is in the top 50 in the country with a rate 

of 5.30 compared to an England average of 5.50. (all figures 2019 validated) 

 

4. THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Members are asked to agree the policy and practice guidance in Appendix 1.  This 
is in line with the legislative framework. 
 
 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 This policy contributes to the Council’s aim of protecting and enhancing the lives of 

vulnerable adults and children.  It further contributes to the aim of establishing 
Reading as a learning city by ensuring children and young people have access to 
suitable high quality learning opportunities that support their life outcomes.  

 
 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The DfE CME statutory guidance (September 2016) sets out key principles to enable 
local authorities in England to implement their legal duty under section 436A of the 
Education Act 1996: 

Page 116



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 3 

 to make arrangements to identify, as far as it is possible to do so, children missing 

education (CME); 

 to make arrangements to establish the identities of children in their area who are not 

registered pupils at a school and are not receiving suitable education otherwise.  

 
This duty only relates to children of compulsory school age.  
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 All costs related to providing a service for children missing education are contained 

within the education budget in BFFC 
 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
11.1 Education Act 1996 
11.2 Children Missing Education (DfE statutory guidance) 2016 

Page 117



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 4 

 

Appendix 1:  
 

 
 

SUMMARY 
Identifying, maintaining 
contact and supporting 
children resident in Reading 
whom are missing 
education.  
 
OWNER 
Pupil & School Service 
 
VERSION 
3 
 
DATE 
16 March 2020 
 
REVIEW DATE 
March 2021 
 
 
 
                                                                      

© Brighter Futures for Children 

 
Brighter Futures for Children  

Civic Offices, Bridge Street,  

Reading RG1 2LU 
 

Company number 11293709 
 

Children 
Missing 
Education  
Policy 
March 2020 

Strategy, 
Policy or 
Report 
title 
Subtitle 

Page 118



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 5 

 
Contents 

 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................. 6 

Brighter Futures for Children (BFfC) .................................................................................................... 6 

Therapeutic Thinking Principles .......................................................................................................... 6 

Preface ................................................................................................................................................. 6 

Risk Factors .................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Exclusions ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

Unofficial Exclusions & Off-Rolling ...................................................................................................... 7 

Children Looked After (CLA) ................................................................................................................ 8 

Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan......................................................................................... 8 

Children at risk of Criminal, Drug or Sexual Exploitation or known victims ........................................ 8 

Children Supervised on Statutory Orders in the Youth Justice System ............................................... 8 

Elective Home Education (EHE) ........................................................................................................... 8 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) ............................................................................. 9 

More information on the teams and services within BFfC can be found on the website: ........................... 9 

Reduced Timetables .................................................................................................................................... 9 

Arranging a reduced timetable............................................................................................................ 9 

Consultation with professionals ........................................................................................................ 10 

Reporting & Monitoring .................................................................................................................... 10 

Identification and Prevention .................................................................................................................... 11 

Information gathering ....................................................................................................................... 11 

Additional methods of identification ................................................................................................ 11 

Key Internal Teams: ........................................................................................................................... 12 

Key External Teams: .......................................................................................................................... 12 

Additional methods of preventative practice ................................................................................... 12 

Notification ................................................................................................................................................ 13 

Named Role ........................................................................................................................................... 13 

Responsibilities of external partners ................................................................................................. 13 

Post - Notification ...................................................................................................................................... 14 

Post-notification practice: ................................................................................................................. 14 

Out-Borough/ Country Responsibilities .................................................................................................... 15 

Within Borough Responsibilities ............................................................................................................... 16 

Missing Pupil Form ............................................................................................................................ 17 

Reduced Timetable Spreadsheet & Webform .................................................................................. 19 

Page 119



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 6 

 

Introduction 

Brighter Futures for Children (BFfC) 

Brighter Futures for Children is a new, independent, not-for-profit-company established to 
deliver the best possible opportunities for the children of Reading. Our responsibility is to 
provide excellent services for some of the most vulnerable children. Brighter Futures for 
Children delivers services on behalf of Reading Borough Council. 

 

Therapeutic Thinking Principles 

In 2018, Reading undertook a five-year commitment to become a trauma informed town. 
Brighter Futures for Children (BFfC) understands that it is a gradual process to reach the 
planned strategic goals. The long-term plans of becoming a trauma informed town may adapt 
the practices within this policy Practice to take an altered form should it be considered more 
therapeutic to do so. 
The impact of intervention should attempt to provide experiences that engender positive 
feelings in children and support them in their self-regulation. Interventions must not punish or 
victimise any children within the dynamic and should protect all children from further harm 
 

Preface 

This policy is intended for the public, schools, professionals and practitioners. It is written to 
assist Brighter Futures for Children (BFfC) in its implementation of effective systems for 
identifying, maintaining contact and supporting children resident in Reading whom are missing 
education. BFfC will routinely monitor how much educational provision our children & young 
people are receiving including the quality and appropriateness of this provision.   
Data is shared with services tracking young people who become Not in Education, Employment 
or Training (NEET) over the age of 16 and young people who have an Education, Health & Care 
Plan (EHCP) up to 25 years of age. These groups are not covered in this policy.  However, the 
transfer of information on school leavers who are children missing education (CME) is covered 
in the context of transition to other monitoring roles/services.  
 
All Local Authorities are required to make arrangements to enable them to establish the 
identities of children residing in their area who are not receiving a suitable full-time education. 
In relation to children and young people ‘suitable education’ is defined as: 
 
 “[…] education suited to their age, ability and aptitude and to any special needs the child may 
have” 

 Children Missing Education Guidance, September 2016, DfE 

 
All Local Authorities have a statutory duty to arrange suitable full-time education for children 
of compulsory school age, unless: 
“[…] the Local Authority considers that, reasons which relate to the physical or mental health 
of the child, it would not be in the child’s best interests for full-time education to be provided 
for the child.” 

 Children, Schools and Families Act, 2010, DfE 

CME Children and Young People (CYP) in this document refers to all Reading resident children 
and Children Looked After (CLA) of statutory school age* in the care of Reading Borough 
Council who are: 

o Not registered on a school roll and not being educated at home 

Page 120



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 7 

o On roll of a school but not attending/ receiving suitable or sufficient education 
o On roll of a school but on a reduced timetable 

 
*A child is legally required to receive education when of statutory school age (the term after 
their fifth birthday and up to 16 years of age) 
 
Neighbouring authority children attending Reading schools will be managed through normal 
procedures of liaising with the child’s home LA in addition to and allowing them to support the 
child in accordance to their policies and procedures.  
 
This policy describes the procedure for identifying children missing education, plus those at risk 
of missing education. It also describes how we help them move back into education or 
alternative provision and maintain contact to prevent them ‘slipping through the net’. 
 
The main focus of this document is on procedures and systems within BFfC for children missing 
education. However, this is within the context of the wider remit of BFfC to safeguard the 
welfare of all children.  

 
 
Risk Factors 

Exclusions 

Children who are excluded from schools should not miss education, and the LA is committed to 
ensuring that children who are permanently excluded from day 6 of the exclusion receive full-
time education. Where a pupil is given a fixed period exclusion of 5 days or more, schools have 
a duty to arrange suitable full-time education for the pupil from the 6th day for each period. 
Work should be sent home for the first 5 days.  
 
(More information on reduced timetables can be found in DfE Guidance ‘Exclusion from 
Maintained Schools, Academies and Pupil Referral Units Guidance’ Sept 2016.)  
 

Unofficial Exclusions & Off-Rolling 

Some pupils are unofficially excluded by schools, e.g. a school might ask a parent to take a child 
home instead of exclusion. This can also be called a ‘cooling – off’ period. An unofficial 
exclusion increases the risk that a child may go missing from education. The vast majority of 
Reading schools do report all exclusions to the local authority.  
 
Off-rolling is the practice of removing a pupil from the roll of a school without formal 
permanent exclusion or encouraging the parent to remove a child from school to home 
educate or to move to a new school. These examples of practice are not in place to support the 
needs of a child but are driven primarily by the interest of the school. (Ofsted). Whilst off-
rolling may not always be unlawful, Ofsted believes that it is never acceptable.  Children should 
be only removed from roll for the 15 reasons set out in the DfE Children Missing Education 
guidance September 2016 (Annex A: Grounds for deleting a pupil from the school admission 
register).  BFfC staff should query any incident where the removal of a pupil may appear 
unlawful. 
 
(More information on Off-Rolling can be found in BFfC Guidance ‘Unofficial Exclusions and Off-
Rolling Policy’, Aug 2019.)  
 

Page 121



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 8 

Children Looked After (CLA) 

These young people are in the care of BFfC. The Virtual School for CLA take the lead on 
supporting these children in their education, alongside any support required from any relevant 
BFfC teams. It is important that their school place is kept open until there is agreement 
between the school and the authority with responsibility for their care that this place is no 
longer necessary.  
 
BFfC is under a statutory duty to ensure that an educational placement is secured prior to any 
change in care placement, including when a young person is moved from a care placement in 
one LA to one in another LA or, if placed in an emergency that an educational placement is 
secured within 20 school days. 
 
All schools should have a designated teacher for CLA. These teachers are ideally placed to 
assist when identifying those looked after children currently in school who may be at greater 
risk of going missing from education. This is supported by the Virtual Head Teacher for CLA. We 
have a contract with ‘Welfare Call’ who will check on attendance with schools and notify the 
Virtual Head Teacher for CLA of any concerns. 
 

Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan 

Should a child who is subject to a Child Protection Plan be at risk of going missing from 
education, the school must liaise with the appropriate local children’s social care team in 
addition to the Safeguarding and CME Officer. Children’s social care has the lead responsibility 
for children subject to a Child Protection Plan and if such a child goes missing, they will follow 
child protection procedures and would take steps to locate the child.  
 

Children at risk of Criminal, Drug or Sexual Exploitation or known victims 

EMRAC (Exploitation and Missing Risk Assessment Conference) is a multi-agency operational 
group, who meet regularly to consider the level of risk to victims, facilitate multi-agency 
discussion, sharing and mapping of information and intelligence and considers disruption 
activity. The Safeguarding & CME Officer is a representative and shares information with the 
school’s safeguarding lead if required to do so. 
 

Children Supervised on Statutory Orders in the Youth Justice System 

Any young person supervised by Reading Youth Offending Service (YOS), serving either a 
community or custodial sentence and at risk of going missing from education or already out of 
mainstream education, will have their case identified by the worker (Education, Employment 
and Training) within the YOS and a relevant education placement will be sought in conjunction 
with Children’s social care.  
 
It is essential that a school place is kept open if a child goes into custody or secure setting until 
there is agreement, between the school in consultation with the Pupil and Schools Service 
Manager, the Education Welfare Service and the YOS that this place is no longer appropriate 
(i.e. the child stays on the school roll).  Children stay on roll whilst in custody and only come off 
roll if they are still in custody after 4 months or at date beyond statutory school age.  
 

Elective Home Education (EHE) 

Parents have a duty to ensure that their children receive a suitable full time education either 
by regular attendance at school or otherwise (under Section 7 of the Education Act 1996).  

Page 122



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 9 

Although children and young people with an EHCP can be home educated, permission needs to 
be granted by BFfC if they attend a special school. BFfC must ensure that parents can make 
suitable provision, including providing for their child’s special educational needs. If the parents’ 
arrangements are suitable, BFfC is relieved of its duty to arrange the provision directly, but is 
responsible for ensuring the child’s needs are met through an annual review.   
 
It is within the parents’ rights not to have to inform BFfC if they take the responsibility to home 
educate if the child has never been registered at a school, however if the child’s name comes 
to the attention of BFfC as someone who may be missing education, then BFfC has a duty to 
investigate this and contact the parents to find out if the child is receiving a suitable education 
with a view to providing further monitoring and support as appropriate.   
 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 

Children with an Educational, Health and Care Plan or a disability are supported by an allocated 
case officer or worker from the SEND team. The SEND team take the lead on supporting these 
children in their education, due to having a more comprehensive understanding of their needs 
within school. Any further support required from any relevant BFfC teams will work in 
conjunction with them. 
 
 
More information on the teams and services within BFfC can be found on the website: 

https://brighterfuturesforchildren.org/  
 
Reduced Timetables 
All pupils of compulsory school age are entitled to a full-time education. In very exceptional 
circumstances there may be a need for a temporary part-time timetable to meet a pupil’s individual 
needs. For example where a medical condition prevents a pupil from attending full-time education and 
a part-time timetable is considered as part of a re-integration package.  
A part-time timetable must not be treated as a long-term solution and must have a time limit by which 
point the pupil is expected to attend full-time or be provided with alternative provision.  
 
In agreeing to a part-time timetable a school has agreed to a pupil being absent from school for part of 
the week or day and therefore must record it as an ‘authorised absence’.   
BFfC requests information on pupils attending part-time from head teachers, it the responsibility of the 
head teacher or representative to provide this information.  This is information will allow BFfC the 
opportunity to investigate what additional support the school may require. 
 

Arranging a reduced timetable  

o Reduced timetables should only be negotiated through Pastoral Support Programmes, 
Annual Reviews or Attendance Panels with a BFfC officer in attendance or through re-
integration panels and must have an agreed date for the return to full time education. 
 

o Reduced attendance must be a formal agreement between the school, parents, the 
child (as appropriate) or young person and BFfC 

 
o Arrangements must be kept under regular review, be time-limited and should include:- 

1. a detailed assessment of the child’s needs 
2. clearly documented Provision Map, Pastoral Support Programmes and Personal 

Education Plan reviews (as appropriate) showing interventions and outcomes – 
there may be multi-agency working by the Children’s Action Teams  

Page 123

https://brighterfuturesforchildren.org/


 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 10 

3. a detailed action plan which informs BFfC of the timetable and  demonstrates 
clear planned progression from part-time to full time provision that specifies 
additional help and support required 

4. details of how the school will ensure that the child’s education is maintained, 
through sending work home, and what arrangements are needed for it to be 
returned and marked 

5. a date when full time provision in school will be achieved, usually no more than 
thirty school days from commencement 

 

Consultation with professionals 

o The pupil should be managed within the context of the SEND Code of Practice, including 
support provided from school for pupils who do not have an EHCP. Advice should be sought 
from the SEND team 
 

o For EHCP pupils, reduced timetables should be agreed through an Annual Review and their 
EHCP amended to reflect the new arrangement with regular monitoring reviews 

 
o For Children Looked After, a reduced timetable should be discussed and agreed through a 

Personal Education Plan (PEP) meeting or PSP meeting.  This should involve the school’s 
Designated Teacher for Children Looked After, Social Worker, Virtual School, Foster Carer and 
parent where appropriate 

 
o A Social Care representative needs to be involved if the child or family have an allocated social 

worker 
 

o Pupils re-integrating to school after a period of exclusion or permanent exclusion may benefit 
from gradual, supported re-integration to prevent further exclusion. The Safeguarding and CME 
Officer can offer advice in these circumstances through consultation. 

 
o Pupils who are only be able to attend school part-time due to serious illness will be monitored 

by a Cranbury College Admission panel as the college provides education in such circumstance 
and by the Children Missing Education panel 
 

o BFfC staff are available to discuss issues related to reduced timetables or exclusion with head 

teachers and senior managers including Cranbury College (Behaviour Services), Education 

Welfare staff, the SEN Assessment Team and the Safeguarding & CME Officer. The Local 

Authority Designated Officer (LADO) can also offer advice on Child Protection and Safeguarding 

issues. 

 

Reporting & Monitoring  

Reduced timetable data is requested from all schools on a termly basis. This is requested in the form of 
a returnable spreadsheet or online Webform (see below). The Safeguarding and CME Officer collates 
this information and will continue to follow up with schools if the data is not provided in a timely 
manner.  
 
The Safeguarding and CME Officer shares this with the attendees of the CME Meeting Panel on a termly 
basis.  

 

 The Education Welfare Service regularly monitors school attendance registers  
 

Page 124



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 11 

 The Children Missing Education and Children in Care and Education panels (both multi-agency) 
have an overview and strategic responsibility to monitor and to initiate action plans for pupils 
not in full time education 
 

 
 
Identification and Prevention 
Early identification and prevention is key to minimising the impact of missing education. 
Publicity and promotion of the route to notify BFfC of children who may be missing education is 
provided to agencies on a regular basis.  It may be the case that another agency is aware of the arrival 
or existence of a child living in the local authority but not in education, before the internal or internal 
partners are aware. 
 
Every November the School Admissions Team routinely supplies an application pack to all Reading 
resident parents whose child attends a Reading nursery school/ nursery class within a primary school, 
private, voluntary & independent setting (PVI’s) who are eligible for admission to a reception class in 
the following September. This information, available on the website, is sent to GP surgeries, community 
centres, all EY settings (including (PVIs), libraries etc. Secondary transfer application packs are sent to all 
Reading primary schools and Reading resident parents of year 6 pupils.  
 
BFfC’s website includes refreshed and updated information on how to notify the BFfC of children 
missing education, as well as targeted and routine promotion to external agencies and internal 
departments.  
 
The identification of CME cases rely on effective communication from internal and external partners of 
BFfC. A concern can be raised by a range of individuals, including the public. These concerns should be 
passed onto BFfC and be ‘triaged’ by the Education Welfare Service, Safeguarding & CME Officer or 
School Admissions Team. 
 

Information gathering 

All BFfC teams that support the education of children have access to a database that holds information 
on where Reading children are placed (i.e. on roll) including Academies, Free Schools, those children at 
a school outside the borough and those electively home educated. Therefore, they can quickly identify 
if a named child is not on a school roll.  
 
However, the local authority does not have access to registers held by Academies or Independent 
schools unless they have bought into the service offer from the local authority for the Education 
Welfare Service. If there is minimum information it may be necessary to check the child’s name and 
other details, if available, against all educational provider rolls in the local area. The database that holds 
this information (EMS) is frequently updated and can be checked by the staff members whose role 
requires access.  
 
The school2school (s2s) site, has a secure messaging system to exchange information. 

 
We have access to status information including through partner agencies, across local authority 
boundaries and multi-disciplinary teams, all shared via information sharing protocols. 

Additional methods of identification 

o We have access to registers (attendance records) for all maintained schools/ providers that use 
compatible databases with our internal systems  
 

o The local authority does not have access to the registers of Academies, Free schools, 
Independent schools (unless they have bought into our EWS) but all schools have a 

Page 125



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 12 

safeguarding duty to report CME 
 

o We request information on children receiving part time education on a termly basis. An online 
form is also available to provide another avenue of reporting in addition to the existing 
spreadsheet format. 

 
o Regular screening of registers provides backup to the service offer between Education 

Welfare/Education Social Work Services concerning improving attendance. EWO’s check 
registers on their school visits – at least once a term for primary schools and at least once every 
other week for secondary schools.   

 

Key Internal Teams:  

Education Welfare Officers (EWO’s), Children’s Action Teams (CAT), Youth Offending Service (YOS), 
School Standards Team, Virtual School for Children Looked After (Virtual School CLA), Pupil and 
School Support Service, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Team (SEND), Children’s Social 
Care (CSC) 
EWO’s are part of multi-disciplinary Children Action Teams and work in partnership with schools, 
parents and other professionals to identify and support vulnerable children and their families where 
school attendance is an issue. If there is no improvement in attendance and/or where attendance 
remains irregular the local authority will take appropriate enforcement action and give CME ‘status’ to 
a child if appropriate.  
Support to children and families from the Children Action Teams (CATs) could include Primary Mental 
Health Workers, the Youth Engagement Service, parenting support, and family work. Referrals will be 
made as appropriate to other services within the Council such as Social Care, Health, SOURCE, and 
Youth Offending Service and to the voluntary sector. 

YOS works with young offenders, schools and in liaison with other services such as the Police and 
Education Welfare Officers and participates in Attendance Panels and re-integration meetings for 
example. They deliver the Positive Parenting Programme (Teen) Reading-wide as a rolling programme. 
YOS will communicate with the CME team to share concerns about school attendance & provision, and 
are represented at the CME meeting. 

The School Standards Team together with the Virtual Head Teacher for Children Looked After, The Pupil 
& School Service Manager, Safeguarding & CME Officer and the SEND team support the safeguarding 
and education of children and young people. The Pupil & School Service Manager has the strategic lead 
for CME, School Admissions, Exclusions, Elective Home Education and the Berkshire West Safeguarding 
Children Panel (BWSCP) link with schools. 

Key External Teams: 

Early Years Settings, Nurseries, Children’s centres, Primary Schools, Secondary Schools 
Children’s Centres and a high proportion of the early year’s settings complete transition into school 
work. One of the key purposes of the children’s centres is preparation for “school readiness.” 

Other agencies who might pick up knowledge about children missing education in Reading include: 
Schools (including Academies and free/community schools and Independent schools) and Cranbury 
College (Pupil Referral Unit), Housing Associations, Homeless Hostels, Women’s Refuges, Accident and 
Emergency, NHS Walk-in services, Health Visitors, School Governors, Parent Partnerships, Police, 
Probation Service, as well as members of the public.  
 

Additional methods of preventative practice 

o Reducing the likelihood that children fall out of or have reduced engagement with the 
education system, by e.g. audits of the rolls and registers of schools and sharing information 
across LA boundaries in a timely way.  

Page 126



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 13 

 
o Cross-matching data reports from systems to identify children who may be missing education 

 

o Identifying and locating children missing out on education, by e.g. notification of exclusions and 
the provision of named points of contact to receive notification of children from other agencies 

 
o Re-engaging the child(ren) with appropriate educational provision, by e.g. multi-disciplinary 

panels, Admissions and Re-Admissions meetings, TAC/F (Team Around the Child/Family) 

meetings and pastoral support 

 

o Checking the sufficiency and quality of part-time education 

 

o Monitoring the length of time re-integration of CYP into full-time education and supporting 

school staff with re-integration where applicable   

 

o Monthly review meetings of exclusion data 

 

o Termly CME Panel Meetings 

 
Notification 
 
It is key that; internal partners, schools, NHS and other partner agencies and the general public 
understand who and how to notify a concern. 

o We have a named role (plus back up) to whom notifications are made 

o Clear responsibilities on the named person(s) for appropriate action  

 

Named Role 

The School Admissions Manager is the role/person to whom referrals are made should there be a 
concern about a child who may be missing from education.  This person is able to take notifications 
from within the Local Authority boundaries, from colleagues within the Council and other agencies.  
Other local authorities around the country can also make enquiries through the Admissions Manager. 

 
If the concern is in regard to a pupil within the Reading Borough, School Admissions Manager will pass 
this to the Safeguarding and CME Officer for action.  
 
Formal notification of CME cases/concerns from schools should be shared to BFfC by completing the 
‘Missing Pupil Form’ and sending this to CME@brighterfuturesforchildren.org   
  

Admissions Manager – 0118 937 3666 
CME@brighterfuturesforchildren.org  

Safeguarding & CME Officer – 0118 937 4336 
fiona.hostler@brighterfuturesforchildren.org  

 

Responsibilities of external partners 

o Where a child is on a school roll and but is absent from school and the whereabouts are 
unknown, the school must do an S2S alert if they believe the child to have moved area and seek 
advice from School Admissions Team. 

o Where a child’s whereabouts is known but they are missing due to truancy – the school must 
contact the EWS.  

o Where a child has had a continual absence for 10 school days or more – school must notify the 
Safeguarding & CME Officer/ EWS. 

o If a child is permanently excluded or fixed term excluded the school must follow exclusion 
procedures and notify the relevant BFfC partners. 

Page 127

mailto:CME@brighterfuturesforchildren.org
mailto:CME@brighterfuturesforchildren.org
mailto:fiona.hostler@brighterfuturesforchildren.org


 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 14 

o If a child has been potentially involved in a crime and is e.g. bailed or remanded, the Police and 
YOS contact the school and YOS alert the relevant BFfC partners. 

o If a child is withdrawn from school to be educated at home, when the parents inform the school 
of their intentions in writing - the school must inform the Advisory Teacher for Elective Home 
Education immediately. 

o Traveller Families - are notified via the ASB officer or by word of mouth via a member of the 
public. If the family are “roadside” or in a property, then BFfC visit and take details. The families 
are often known to us from a previous visit. 

o Any member of the public phoning in with concerns should come through to the Admissions 
Team/Safeguarding & CME Officer.  

 
Post - Notification 
We aim to ensure that every child is on roll of a school, regardless of circumstances, unless parents 
have elected to educate their child at home.  

Post-notification practice: 

o Supporting the timely placement of unplaced children 
 

o Escalation policy for schools not admitting children within legal timeframes 
 

o Termly CME Meetings to review progress & intervention of long-term and high need CME cases 
 

o Liaison between services on updates or developments with CME issues for collaborative 
working 
 

o Allocated lead professional who works with CME child to provide monitoring and support 
 

o BFfC intervention if reason to believe that parents are not providing a suitable education when 
home educating children e.g School Attendance Order (SAO) (under section 437(1) of the 
Education Act 1996). 
 

o Regular collation and monitoring of reduced timetables and consultation with schools to 
support full-time re-integration 
 

o Regular collation and analysis of exclusion data to inform strategic actions to reduce days lost 
from school 
 

o Regular consultation and advice sharing with schools on CME cases  
 

o Education Welfare Service intervention for schools whom buy into the service, basic support for 
those who do not 
 

o Tracking of various categories of CME by Safeguarding and CME Officer and School Admissions 

 
 
 

Page 128



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 15 

 
Out-Borough/ Country Responsibilities 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 129



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 16 

 
Within Borough Responsibilities 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 17 

Missing Pupil Form  
Missing Pupil Form 

This form is to be used in conjunction with ‘Children Missing Education Policy, March 2020 

School Name                           

Child’s Name  

Parents Name & Contact Details  

UPN No.  

Date of Birth  

Address  

Ethnicity  

Date Missing                              

Date posted to S2S (If applicable)  

Subject to Pupil Premium  

First Language if not English  

Current % attendance  

 

Please tick (or leave blank if unknown).  Please provide any further comments/concerns overleaf. 

 Yes No 

1. Has the child gone missing with their family? 

If the answer is ‘yes’ to this question then consider recording as unauthorised absence unless other risk 
factors are known. 

  

2. Is the child in care or have a child protection plan?   

3. Is there planned or current Children’s Social Care involvement (e.g. an initial assessment or a section 
47 assessment)? 

  

4. Is the child subject to a Child in Need Plan?   

5. Is this child a Young Carer?   

6. Is there good reason to believe that the child may be the victim of a crime?   

7. Have there been past concerns about this child and family which together with the sudden 
disappearance are worrying? e.g: 

  

a. Is there any known history of substance or alcohol dependency within the family?   

b. Is there any known history of domestic violence?   

c. Is there concern about the parent/carer’s ability to protect the child from harm?   

8. Are there health reasons to believe that the child is at risk? e.g:   

a. Does the child need essential medication or health care?   

b. Was the child noted to be depressed prior to their unexplained absence?   

9. Are there religious or cultural reasons to believe that the child is at risk (e.g. rites of passage or 
forced marriage planned for the child)? 

  

10. Have there been any past concerns about the child associating with significantly older young people 
or adults? 

  

11. Is the child new to the Country or recently returned to the UK?   

12. Is this child/family Asylum Seekers?   

13. Has there been a recent, sudden or unexpected change in the child’s behaviour?   

14. Was there any significant incident that may have contributed to the child’s unexplained absence?   

15. Has the child been a victim of bullying?   

16. Does the child have special educational needs?   

Page 131



 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 18 

17. Has there been any change in the child/family’s financial circumstances?   

18. Is there a risk of eviction from the family home?   

19. Is this a Traveller family?   

 
If the answer is ‘yes’ to any one of these questions and there are further concerns please contact your 
designated Child Protection lead and/or social care for advice. 
Supplementary information 
 

Question 
No. 

Comment / Concern 

 Attach separate sheet if appropriate 
 

 Actions taken 

 Attach separate sheet if appropriate 
 
 
 
 

 Has a referral been made to: 

Yes No 

  Education Welfare Service 

  Children’s Social Care 

  Police 

  Any other service (please define) 

 
 
If in the case of any immediate danger always contact 999 emergency services as appropriate. 

Name: 
 
Role: 
Date: 
Please return to cme.reporting@reading.gov.uk 

Page 132

mailto:cme.reporting@reading.gov.uk


 

Brighter Futures for Children | CME Policy | 1 | FH 16 March 2020 19 

 
Reduced Timetable Spreadsheet & Webform 
 
 

To complete a webform version: 
https://self.reading.gov.uk/service/Reduced_timetable_form 
 
 

School Name 

Student Details Reduced Timetable information 

School 
Name 

Student 
Name 

UPN 
Date 

of 
Birth 

Year 
Group 

Does 
the 

child 
have 
SEN? 

Student 
Ethnicity 

LAC CP FSM CIN 
No of Hours on 

Timetable/week 

Are they 
Receiving 

Alternative 
Provision? 

Are 
they 
Seen 
Every 
Day? 

Date 
Provision 

Commenced 

Date of 
Review 

Planned 
Return to 
Full Time 
Education 

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

                                  

P
age 133

https://self.reading.gov.uk/service/Reduced_timetable_form


T
his page is intentionally left blank



     1 

 
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF EDCUATION 

 

TO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 OCTOBER 2020 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 17 

TITLE: POST-16 UPDATE REPORT 
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

CLLR PEARCE PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION 

SERVICE: BFFC 
 

WARDS: ALL 

LEAD OFFICER: KATE REYNOLDS 
 

TEL:  

JOB TITLE: DIRECTOR OF 
EDUCATION 
 

E-MAIL: Kate.Reynolds@brighterfutu
resforchildren.org 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides ACE with an update on the work undertaken by the Education 

Service at BFfC to address the high number of young people ‘Not in Education, 
Employment or Training’ (NEET), or whose destination status is ‘Unknown’. This 
work forms part of the wider post 16 agenda in Reading. 
 

1.2 In Summer 2019 the previously ‘out-sourced’ organisation, Adviza, was brought in-
house under the remit of Brighter Futures for Children. Following that the 
organisation was rebranded as Elevate. 

 
1.3 In 2018 and 2019 a Ministerial letter had been sent to Reading raising concerns 

about performance at post-16 and in particular the lack of robustness in data and 
the high level of students categorised as ‘not known’ at post-16.  As a result of the 
2019 letter an action plan was put in place to address these weaknesses and new 
leadership was put in place.   

 
1.4 The annual Ofsted conversation held in March 2020 highlighted the significant 

progress made to address the weaknesses at post-16 and stated: 
In last year’s annual conversation, weaknesses in the quality of information, 
advice and guidance at key stage 5 were discussed. This is something you have 
worked hard to improve since September 2019. You have subsequently brought the 
previously outsourced careers education provision under the control of the local 
authority and you now believe that you have much more reliable information 
about students’ destinations. 

 
1.5 Background – Statutory Duties: 

Regarding the participation and engagement of young people 16 to 19 in education, 
employment or training, Local Authorities have a statutory duty to: 

Page 135

Agenda Item 17



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    2  

• Secure enough suitable education and training provision for all young people 

who are over compulsory school age but under 19 or aged 19 to 25 with an 

EHCP 

• Make available to all young people aged 13-19 and to those between 20 and 

25 with SEND, support that will encourage, enable or assist them to 

participate in education or training  

• Collect information about young people so that those who are not 

participating, or are NEET, can be identified and given support to re-engage  

 
Additionally – with regard to 16- and 17-year olds: 
 

• Promote the effective participation in education and training of 16- and 17-

year olds in their area with a view to ensuring that those persons fulfil the 

duty to participate in education or training 

• Make arrangements – i.e. maintain a tracking system - to identify 16- and 17-

year olds who are not participating in education or training; putting in place 

robust arrangements to identify young people who are not engaged in 

education or training or who have left provision enables local authorities to 

offer support as soon as possible  

 
A key aspect of the duties is monthly reporting to the DfE of young people 16 to 19 (to 25 
for SEND) who are not participating in education, employment or training or whose 
destination status is unknown. These young people are referred to as NEET (Not in 
Education, Employment or Training) 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That the significant progress that has been made in the post-16 sector be 

noted; 

2.2 That a progress report on the action plan is submitted to ACE in a year’s time.  
 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1 Education has become one of the clearest indicators of life outcomes such as 

employment, income and social status, and is a strong predictor of attitudes and 

wellbeing. 

Education is often used by people to shape their ‘social identity’, framing their 

understanding of themselves and their relationships with other people. A positive, 

affirming social identity is associated with a range of positive outcomes in life, 

such as increased wellbeing, health, social trust and political engagement. 

However, the emphasis on education in today’s society makes it much harder for 

people with low levels of education to develop a positive social identity. This can 

negatively affect self-esteem and wellbeing. 

Higher levels of education are associated with a wide range of positive outcomes - 

including better health and wellbeing, higher social trust, greater political interest, 

lower political cynicism, and less hostile attitudes towards immigrants. 

Page 136



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    3  

Level of education is the strongest predictor of outcomes (compared to age, 

gender, income, employment status, and marital status) in all models, except for 

the outcomes of wellbeing and health. 

This ‘education effect’ is both robust and relatively stable over time, with little 

variation in the surveyed population across a range of 25 years. The effect is 

particularly marked for the outcome of social trust, becoming stronger within the 

same people as they age. 

Across all education levels - low or high - people who report that they are satisfied 

with their education level and have incorporated education as part of their identity 

are benefitting psychologically 

Being NEET is also associated with later forms of disadvantage and poor welfare outcomes. 
These include:  
 

 Young people remain disadvantaged in their level of educational attainment 10 and 

20 years later.  

 Regular bouts of unemployment post-18. NEET young people are 2.8 times as likely 

to be unemployed or economically inactive 10 years later. 

 When in employment, lower job security and lower rates of pay (under- 

employment). NEET young people are 2.5 times as likely as their non-NEET peers to 

work in a low status occupation, if they find work. 

 Combining the two above – short periods of under-employment with periods of 

unemployment - in cycles of “churning” in and out of work. There is a cumulative 

effect of being out of employment or education on later life chances and this group 

is the most disadvantaged that need continuing support. 

 Teenage pregnancy and earlier parenting;  

 Persistent youth offending resulting in custodial sentences;  

 Insecure housing and homelessness 

 Mental and physical health problems. NEET experiences are associated with a 

higher risk of poor physical health. The risk of depression and anxiety prescription 

for the NEET group is over 50% higher than that for the non-NEET group. 

 Use of illicit drugs and transition to the use of class A drugs 

 NEET young people are significantly more likely to be known to children's (early 

help / social care) and adult services as well as dependent on the welfare state 

over their life-course 

 Earlier death.  

The report attached as Appendix 1 gives details of the significant progress in this area and 

outlines the action plan which has been put in place to continue this improved 

performance. 

Page 137



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    4  

 

 
4. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
4.1 Our post 16 work contributes to Reading strategic aims: 

1. Securing the economic success of Reading and provision of job opportunities 
 
3. To protect and enhance the lives of vulnerable adults and children 
 
5. Ensuring that there are good education, leisure and cultural opportunities 

for people in Reading 
 

 
4.2 Further this work contributes to both establishing Reading as a learning City and a 

stimulating and rewarding place to live and visit and promoting equality, social 
inclusion and a safe and healthy environment for all 

 

Page 138



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    5  

  

 
 

SUMMARY 
This report provides SLT with 
an update on the delivery of 
the statutory duties relating 
to participation and 
engagement of young 
people - post 16.  
 
OWNER 
Clare Martin 
 
VERSION 
V2 
 
DATE 
October 2020 
 
REVIEW DATE 
September 2021 
 
 
 
 
                                                                      
© Brighter Futures for Children 

 

Brighter Futures for Children  
Civic Offices, Bridge Street,  

Reading RG1 2LU 

 
Company number 11293709 
 

Participation and 
Engagement – Post 
16  
(with a specific focus on 
addressing the non-
participation of vulnerable 
groups) 

☐ For decision ☐ For discussion ☒ For information 

 

Page 139



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    6  

 

Exec Summary 

This report provides BFfC with an update on work undertaken by the Education Service to address 

the high number of young people ‘Not in Education, Employment or Training’ (NEET), or whose 

destination status is ‘Unknown’. This work forms part of the wider post 16 agenda in Reading. 

1. Background – Statutory Duties: 

Regarding the participation and engagement of young people 16 to 19 in education, employment or 

training, Local Authorities have a statutory duty to: 

• Secure enough suitable education and training provision for all young people who are 

over compulsory school age but under 19 or aged 19 to 25 with an EHCP 

• Make available to all young people aged 13-19 and to those between 20 and 25 with 

SEND, support that will encourage, enable or assist them to participate in education or 

training  

• Collect information about young people so that those who are not participating, or are 

NEET, can be identified and given support to re-engage  

 
Additionally – with regard to 16- and 17-year olds: 
 

• Promote the effective participation in education and training of 16- and 17-year olds in 

their area with a view to ensuring that those persons fulfil the duty to participate in 

education or training 

• Make arrangements – i.e. maintain a tracking system - to identify 16- and 17-year olds 

who are not participating in education or training; putting in place robust arrangements 

to identify young people who are not engaged in education or training or who have left 

provision enables local authorities to offer support as soon as possible  

 
A key aspect of the duties is monthly reporting to the DfE of young people 16 to 19 9to 25 for SEND) 
who are not participating in education, employment or training or whose destination status is 
unknown. These young people are referred to as NEET (Not in Education, Employment or Training) 
 
2. The Social and Economic Impact brought about by Young People Not Participating in Education, 
Employment or Training: 
Education has become one of the clearest indicators of life outcomes such as employment, income 

and social status, and is a strong predictor of attitudes and wellbeing. 

Education is often used by people to shape their ‘social identity’, framing their understanding of 

themselves and their relationships with other people. A positive, affirming social identity is 

associated with a range of positive outcomes in life, such as increased wellbeing, health, social trust 

and political engagement. 

However, the emphasis on education in today’s society makes it much harder for people with low 

levels of education to develop a positive social identity. This can negatively affect self-esteem and 

wellbeing. 

 Higher levels of education are associated with a wide range of positive outcomes - including 

better health and wellbeing, higher social trust, greater political interest, lower political 

cynicism, and less hostile attitudes towards immigrants. 

Page 140



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    7  

 Level of education is the strongest predictor of outcomes (compared to age, gender, income, 

employment status, and marital status) in all models, except for the outcomes of wellbeing 

and health. 

 This ‘education effect’ is both robust and relatively stable over time, with little variation in the 

surveyed population across a range of 25 years. The effect is particularly marked for the 

outcome of social trust, becoming stronger within the same people as they age. 

 Across all education levels - low or high - people who report that they are satisfied with their 

education level and have incorporated education as part of their identity are benefitting 

psychologically 

Being NEET is also associated with later forms of disadvantage and poor welfare outcomes. These 
include:  
 

 Young people remain disadvantaged in their level of educational attainment 10 and 20 years 

later.  

 Regular bouts of unemployment post-18. NEET young people are 2.8 times as likely to be 

unemployed or economically inactive 10 years later. 

 When in employment, lower job security and lower rates of pay (under- employment). NEET 

young people are 2.5 times as likely as their non-NEET peers to work in a low status 

occupation, if they find work. 

 Combining the two above – short periods of under-employment with periods of 

unemployment - in cycles of “churning” in and out of work. There is a cumulative effect of 

being out of employment or education on later life chances and this group is the most 

disadvantaged that need continuing support. 

 Teenage pregnancy and earlier parenting;  

 Persistent youth offending resulting in custodial sentences;  

 Insecure housing and homelessness 

 Mental and physical health problems. NEET experiences are associated with a higher risk of 

poor physical health. The risk of depression and anxiety prescription for the NEET group is 

over 50% higher than that for the non-NEET group. 

 Use of illicit drugs and transition to the use of class A drugs 

 NEET young people are significantly more likely to be known to children's (early help / social 

care) and adult services as well as dependent on the welfare state over their life-course 

 Earlier death.  

Page 141



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    8  

 

3. Delivery of the Duties and Addressing Non-Participation in Reading: 
July 2019 to August 2020: 

 Bring the Elevate service ‘in house’, develop the team and brand 

 Focus on the NEET Action Plan of reducing Reading’s NEET and Not known performance, 

with a focus on supporting those from vulnerable groups who are NEET or whose situation 

was unknown (in response to the Ministerial letter received last year) 

 Undertake a robust data cleansing exercise 

 Establish a Post 16 NEET Networking Group 

 Creative commissioning and Income Generation 

 Strengthen Vocational and Academic Pathways to Employment  

 
4. Summary of Progress – July 19 – August 2020  

 Elevate Careers is now fully embedded and part of BfFC. The team consists of a full time 

Team Manager, 2.4 FTE Career Advisers, 1 FTE Careers Coach and Performance Data Analyst.   

Allocated resource to YOS, SEND, Leaving Care and Reading College to support young people 

NEET or at risk of dropping out from post 16 to NEET. 

 We have worked hard this year to proactively track and support young people who are NEET 

or not known- below chart shows our combined NEET and Known performance from 

September 2019 to July 2020, our position continues to improve and in July 2020 we were 

lower than both the national and the south east figure.  We continue to work hard in 

reducing the number of young people who are not in education, employment or training 

(NEET) and those whose situation is not known.  The July figures show a decrease in the 

NEET figure and our ‘not known’ figure, which combined is a reduction of 1.3 per cent since 

June. This performance has moved BFfC out of the fifth, or lowest, quintile for NEET/Not 

Known into the third quintile. 

 

16/17-Year-old Combined NEET and Unknowns: September 2019 – July 2020  

 

Month Reading Total % Total  Reading 
Combined NEET & NK 

Numbers 

Quintile  England 
NEET 
and 
Not 

Known 
% 

South 
East 

NEET and 
Not 

Known % 

Sep-19 62 1443 5 31.8 38.4 

Oct-19 60.5 1411 5 13.6 16.5 

Nov-19 36.2 1052 5 8.1 10.0 

Dec-19 17.5 523 5 6.1 7.3 

Jan-20 15.6 472 5 5.3 6.3 

Feb-20 11.6 351 5 4.9 5.7 

Mar-20 6.9 208 5 5.1 5.8 

Apr-20 6.3 192 4 5.3 5.9 

May-20 6.3 191 4 5.5 5.9 

Jun-20 6.7 205 4 5.6 5.9 

Jul-20 5.4 166 3 6.2 6.6 

Aug-20  TBC         

Page 142



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    9  

 
 
***Data taken from NCCIS LA Monthly Submissions 

 

 

 

 Establishment of a Post 16 NEET Network: 

In late 2019, Elevate established a Post 16 NEET Network in Reading. The aim of the network 
is to lead cross Reading system change to the issue of NEET, to think about education in the 
context of young people’s lives, to identify the risk and protective factors associated with 
non-participation and to promote alternative, more vocational pathways to employment 
outcomes. The Network has not met recently due to Covid-19.  
 

 Creative commissioning and Income Generation: 

This year we have commissioned creative interventions including: a supported employment 
offer for NEET young people with SEND and / a cultural commissioning project ‘match’ 
funded with RBCs Cultural Commissioning Team and a sports and mentoring project based in 
a gym in central Reading. The Team continues to build relationships with local businesses – 
as part of the work linked to developing more vocational pathways pre and post 16. 
 

 Strengthen Vocational and Academic Pathways to Employment in Reading  

We have developed a vacancy service for young people, to include both vocational and 
academic pathways available.  Developed and delivered an Exam Results day offer to 
schools, young people/parents/carer.   Set up NEET networking events for young people to 
network with local providers to understand the vocational pathways available to them.  We 
continue to build relationships with local businesses, as part of this work linked to 
developing more vocational pathways pre and post 16. 
 

5. The Future of Post 16- 2020-2025 

Elevate’ s 5-year service plan, focuses on creating a thriving, seamless service that is accessible to 
young people in Reading, particularly those young people from disadvantaged backgrounds and 
diverse range of cultures,  and those who are looked after or with special educational needs and 
disabilities. To support young people to improve their post 16 attainment, and to receive tailored 
support based on their needs and circumstances, we will provide first hand experiences of the world 
of work, access to a wide range of learning and training opportunities both academic and vocational 
pathways, and to support with their health and wellbeing, by providing positive reengagement 
activities/events to help build resilience and confidence.   

Another aim of the service is to broaden our scope through providing career advice and support to 
young people at Pre 16, particularly to those young people who are at risk of becoming NEET in the 
future.  

Our focus is on two key deliverables areas: 

1. NEET Prevention/ Improving Post 16 attainment 

2. NEET delivery 

 
1. NEET Prevention/Improving Post 16 Attainment 

 Closing the attainment gap for vulnerable young people working with our schools and 

colleagues in school improvement 

 Research and map out local provision/Identify gaps with resolutions 

Page 143



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    10  

 Contributions to both Pre 16 and Post 16 SEND and PEP reviews at KS4 and Post 16 

 Embed Supported Employment Pathways and Vocational Profiling within our delivery 

 Establish strong networks and links with Secondary Schools/Learning Providers and 

employers 

 Research into a Traded Services offer for Schools  

 
6. NEET Delivery  

 Continue to deliver our statutory duty to robustly track young people’s activity to identify 

those not participating (NEET) and support them to do so. We intend to increase young 

people’s participation into formal education, employment and training, significantly reduce 

our not knowns and continue to maintain a low NEET position, resulting in improving BfFC 

performance. 

 NEET Taskforce, developing a delivery model centred around the young person.  Working 

collaboratively with local providers and employers, supporting our hardest to reach young 

people into education, employment ad training.  

 The NEET taskforce will be the key driver to securing/commissioning future provision to 

support our most vulnerable NEET into sustainable outcomes. 

 Lead on the EY Foundation Employability programme for Children Looked After 

 

We will work towards achieving external career quality accreditations which will help us stand out 

the crowd (competitors), identify areas for improvement and confirm we are doing a good job.    

Have in place a robust performance and data management process.  Provide monthly updates on 

16/17 years NEET and Not Known performance. Every year successfully complete the September 

Guarantee and the Annual Activity Survey. Carry out data analysis regularly, to effectively support us 

in our delivery, ensuring he right support is given to young people in Reading. 

 

Page 144



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    11  

 

Appendix 1: Post 16 Service Plan  
 

 

Elevate Service Plan 

2020-2025 

Our aim is to create a thriving seamless service that is accessible to young people in Reading, 

particularly those young people from disadvantaged backgrounds and diverse range of cultures, 

those who are looked after or have special educational needs and disabilities.  Delivering a high-

quality career service, helping young people to understand the range of local opportunities available 

to them in the current economy and gain the skills and qualifications they need to succeed for the 

jobs of the future. We will help young people to overcome and break down any barriers preventing 

them from progressing into positive outcomes.  We want young people in Reading to transform their 

lives for the better and to do this they need to receive a good education, with the qualifications and 

skills to show for it.   

We want young people to: 

 In the future to have access to a wide range of services in a ‘town centre’ location, a holistic 

hub providing the right advice, in the right place at the right time. 

 Improve their post 16 attainment by understanding the different academic and vocational 

pathways available to help them progress into future sustainable employment. 

 Have access to tailored support based on their needs and circumstances. 

 Understand their own skills and knowledge and how they can be used in the work place. 

 Have first-hand experiences of work places, learn from employers/providers the valuable 

skills needed to succeed in the work place. 

 Receive high quality career provision and support. 

 Have access to a wide range of opportunities which includes both academic and vocational 

pathways to future sustained employment  

 Improve their wellbeing by providing positive reengagement activities/events and 

programmes to help build their confidence and become more resilient for the future. 

 

We will focus on two key deliverables areas: 

1. NEET Prevention and Improving Post 16 attainment 

2. NEET delivery 

 
NEET Prevention and Improving Post 16 Attainment 
Closing the attainment gap and to support Educations vision of improving post 16 attainment for 
students from disadvantaged backgrounds. Elevate will have a strategic overview of the local 
provision (academic and vocational pathways) available and will identify and resolve any gaps in 
provision, that are stopping young people from moving forward.  With a particular focus on targeting 
our support and securing provision for young people from disadvantaged backgrounds (SEND, CLA, 
Care Leavers, FSM) not achieving Level 2 (incl. English and Maths) and Level 3 qualifications. 

Page 145



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    12  

 
Reading Matrix Data (published August 2020)- Education Standards and Participation 

 
 

 
Reading Matrix Data (published August 2020)- Vulnerable Children and Young People Attainment 
Data 

 
 
We will contribute to both Pre 16 and Post 16 SEND and PEP reviews at key transitions (KS4 and in 
Post 16) to provide career information, advice and guidance on future career and learning options, 
helping young people to better prepare for the world of work and adult life.  Embed our supported 
employment pathway model and vocational profiling tool into our practice to support vulnerable 
young people into sustainable education, training and employment. 
 
Work closely with schools, colleges and training providers to identify vulnerable young people early 
on who may be at risk of dropping out, to ensure additional support and advice is in place preventing 
them from becoming NEET.   Continue to offer support to students and schools at key times of the 
year such as A level and GCSE Results days, and will continue to offer our support to schools with 
tracking and destination data gathering to help them measure the effectiveness of their support for 
students making the transition into the next stage of their education or training (Post 16).   
 
We will continue to build strong partnerships and networks with  Schools, Colleges, Training 
Providers, EYF, LEP, DWP, Employers, Voluntary and Community Sector, Health including Mental 
Health Services, Social Services ,Early Help , Troubled Families, SEND services, YOS, Probation and 
the Police.  Work closely with neighbouring Local Authorities, sharing best practice, explore joint 

Page 146



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    13  

working proposals, and work together to support young people travelling out of area to access 
education, training, work or services. 
 
Future of Pre 16 Delivery: 2021-2025 
We will start to focus and plan for our delivery on our long-term vision to finally break the cycle of 
NEET, by placing a greater focus pre 16.  We will explore a Traded Services Offer by working closely 
with schools, education and BfFC transformation team to develop an offer that is built around the 
needs of the students and school.  Will explore with Schools the use of the Risk of NEET Indicator 
(RONI), as data tool to identify young people who are in need of additional support on their future 
post 16 participation. Roni will be led by the Education Service and involve colleagues from School 
Standards and Data and Performance team. RONI involves applying ‘weightings’ or ‘risk factors’ to 
school cohorts (both primary and secondary) to identify cohorts, and individuals, at greater risk of 
becoming NEET. Having this information could allow schools to better prepare at a cohort and 
individual level and to help identify early on and put in place effective preventative support.   
 
 

a. NEET Delivery 

We will continue to deliver our statutory duty to robustly track young people’s activity to identify 

those not participating (NEET) and support them to do so. Provide holistic support, giving impartial 

information, advice and guidance to young people 16-19 (up to 25 for Care Leavers and YP with an 

EHCP living in Reading). Helping young people to overcome any barriers faced, by encouraging and 

enabling them to participate in education, employment and training opportunities.  

We intend to increase young people’s participation into formal education, employment and training, 

significantly reduce our not knowns and continue to maintain a low NEET position, resulting in 

improving BfFC quartile performance. 

Reading Matrix Data (published August 2020) – Education Standards and Participation 

 
 

Establish the NEET Taskforce, with young people at the centre of the model, working closely with 
local providers/partners (Starting Point, Toolshed, Ways into Work, Princes Trust, Reading College 
and others) to support our most ‘hardest to reach’ NEET young people back into sustained education 
and training opportunities.  Hold regular NEET Networking events over the year, encouraging NEET 
young people to attend, to talk to local providers and get signed up to formal learning. Will continue 
to work collaboratively with local providers and employers to identify and resolve any gaps in local 
provision and commission/secure reengagement activities/vocational programmes to support NEET 

Page 147



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    14  

young people back into sustainable education, employment or training.  With the future aim of this 
network to work collectively for mutual benefit to attract future funding to allow us to expand our 
delivery offer to young people at Pre and Post 16. 
Elevate NEET Taskforce Model: 

 

 
Lead on EY Foundation Employability Programme for young people in care, working in 
collaboration with Ernest and Young, Leaving Care, and the Virtual School to provide a holistic, 
supported employability programme to those who are engaged in full time education. Equipping 
young people with the right tools and skills needed to succeed in the future and the world of work. 
 
Future of Post 16 Delivery: 2021 -2025 
 
Explore the possibilities of developing a ‘Town Centre’ hub - providing the right advice, in the right 

place at the right time. 

 Holistic service offer, providing high quality career and employability provision.    

 A safe and modern place for all young people to go, to get impartial help and support  

 A place where we can provide formal/informal training sessions working with local 

providers/employers, upskilling young people preparing them for the future and the world 

of work  

 Have a dedicated young person zone within the hub, for young people to have full access to 

digital technology to help them become more digital savvy and better prepared for the 

digital age, being able to use a computer now is almost as important as being able to read 

and write  

 Provide access to digital resources and tools helping young people to make informed choices 

about their future 

 Deliver Employability training sessions – CV writing, interview preparation, effective 

communication, job /college applications support 

 Increase Employer Engagement- inviting employers to use our space to meet with young 

people/offer employer training sessions, sector-based job fairs, and business mentors 

 We will act as advocates to young people, linking in with employers/providers to offer more 

work-related training opportunities 

 Set up social enterprise programmes working closely with local community and voluntary 

sectors providers, encouraging young people to give something to their local community, 

making a positive difference to society, as well as developing new skills and experiences. 

 NEET Networking events for young people to network with local providers and employers 

 

 

Page 148



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    15  

b. Digital Careers Technology 

Provide up to date career and labour market information. Develop online career skill assessment 
tools. Continue to use our Live Chat Facility to chat to young people online. Have a strong presence 
on our social media platforms that are popular with young people. Work in partnership with DWP 
and other local partners on the Reading/West Berkshire Virtual Youth Hub.  
 

c. Quality Management  

We will develop a robust quality management system underpinned by the Careers Strategy and 
Gatsby Benchmarks, ensuring young people/stakeholders/partners continually receive a high-quality 
Careers Service. We will research into external quality standards/awards that will underpin our 
internal quality framework and will ensure we are providing an excellent service to all our 
‘customers’. Have in place robust quality control measures that will confirm we are providing a high-
quality service, that is consistent, effective and successful.  Quality measures that will also help us to 
identity any areas for improvements to the service.  To help deliver the best possible careers service 
and produce the highest standard of Careers and Skills Action Plan we will have a robust Observation 
of Professional Practice process and Action Plan audit process.   
Case studies- each adviser will be required to submit weekly NEET case studies to SLT, highlighting 
our ‘hardest to engage’ young people, presenting their barriers to progression and steps needed to 
overcome these challenges. Each month we will produce a Good News Case Studies, evidencing the 
adviser’s/providers significant contribution to a young person’s progression. 
Compliments/comments/complaints - Feedback will be encouraged from young 
people/parents/stakeholders to confirm we are delivering a good service and to highlight any areas 
we need to improve on. 
 

6. Performance and Data Management 

Monthly Local Authority Submission tables will be produced by the DFE, highlighting Readings   NEET 
and Not Known performance of 16/17 year olds, those participating in formal learning, and those 
leaving and joining the NEET group. On a quarterly basis the DFE will publish ‘At risk tables’ on 
vulnerable groups in Reading, publishing data on Teenage Parents, SEND (up to 25 years), Care 
Leavers, BAME groups who are NEET, Not Known or participating in formal education, employment 
or training (EET). 
 
Annual Activity Survey results are published once a year around March time. The purpose of the 
Annual Activity Survey is to establish young people’s destinations, on 1 November, in the year they 
completed compulsory education. We will lead on the September Guarantee process for all 16-year 
olds who are educated in Reading; and 17-year olds who are resident in Reading.  We will work 
closely with schools and post-16 providers to identify those young people eligible for an offer, 
understand their post-16 plans and any offers they have received, and record this information on 
NCCIS database (IYSS). For those Young people who do not have post-16 plans or an offer of a place 
are at risk of becoming NEET in September. Identifying these young people early enables services to 
provide additional advice and support about the options available, and to highlight any emerging 
gaps in provision.  
Advisers will manage their NEET Caseloads by RAG rating their young people based on priority of 
need/risk factors: Green – YP NEET ready for EET, Amber -NEET with some short-term support to 
progress into EET, Red- Complex needs -requires intensive support to EET. Amber/RED NEETS will be 
presented at the newly established NEET Taskforce, and Green NEETS will be supported by the 
Elevate team.  
Advisers will receive weekly/monthly tracking reports on YP whose situation is currently Not Known, 
with the expectation that they will proactively track and support these young people into positive 
destinations.

Page 149



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    16  

Appendix 2: Post 16 Action Plan  

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
Elevate: Post 16 Action Plan 

Our Service 

Our aim is to create a thriving seamless service that is accessible to young people in Reading, 
particularly those young people from disadvantaged backgrounds and diverse range of cultures, those 
who are looked after or have special educational needs and disabilities.  Delivering a high-quality career 
service, helping young people to understand the range of local opportunities available to them in the 
current economy and gain the skills and qualifications they need to succeed for the jobs of the future. 
We will help young people to overcome and break down any barriers preventing them from progressing 
into positive outcomes.  We want young people in Reading to transform their lives for the better and to 
do this they need to receive a good education, with the qualifications and skills to show for it.   

We want young people to: 

 In the future to have access to a wide range of services in a ‘town centre’ location, a holistic 

hub providing the right advice, in the right place at the right time. 

 Improve their post 16 attainment by understanding the different academic and vocational 

pathways available to help them progress into future sustainable employment. 

 Have access to tailored support based on their needs and circumstances. 

 Understand their own skills and knowledge and how they can be used in the work place. 

 Have first-hand experiences of work places, learn from employers/providers the valuable skills 

needed to succeed in the work place. 

 Receive high quality career provision and support. 

 Have access to a wide range of opportunities which includes both academic and vocational 

pathways to future sustained employment  

 Improve their wellbeing by providing positive reengagement activities/events and programmes 

to help build their confidence and become more resilient for the future. 

We will focus on two key deliverables areas: 
3. NEET Prevention / Improving Post 16 attainment 

4. NEET delivery 

Key Performance Indicators: 2020-2025 

 Quintile 1 – Green/Quartile A – Green  

 Combined NEET&NK: % of 16-17-year olds not in education, employment or training (NEET) or 
not known (NK)- monthly target under 4% 

 NEET: % of 16-17-year olds not in education, employment or training (NEET)- monthly target 
under 2.1% 

 Not Known: % of 16 to 17-year olds whose current situation is not known to the local 
authority- monthly target under 1.7% 

 Education and Training: % 16- and 17-year olds participating in education and training- 96%+ 

 September Guarantee: % of 16- and 17-year olds receiving an offer of a place in education or 
training under the September Guarantee – 94%+ 

 Increase % of 19-year olds with an EHCP/Statement qualified to Level 2 (incl. English and 

Page 150



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020      
    17  

Maths) (Academic/Vocational pathways) 

 Increase % of 19-year olds with an EHCP/Statement qualified to Level 3 (Academic/Vocational 
pathways) 

 
 

 

Partners 
EY Foundation, Starting Point, Reading Football Club, Princes Trust, Toolshed, Activate Learning: 
Reading College, Chiltern Training, LAS Fitness, Ways into Work Reading CIC UK, DWP, Thames Valley 
LEP,  Employers, Voluntary and Community Sector, Health including Mental Health Services, Early 
Help, Social Care, Secondary Schools, Troubled Families, neighbouring Local Authorities, SEND team 
and services, YOS, Probation and the Police 

 

Page 151



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020          18  

 

 

1. NEET Prevention/Improving Post 16 attainment 

 

Action Outcome  Success Lead 

Research and map out local 
provision (vocational/academic 
pathways available to young 
people).  
 
Carry out NEET data analysis on 
focussing on YP attainment 
levels, choices and aspirations 
and map against local provision. 
Identify any gaps in provision. 
 
 
Commissioning of creative 
programmes/services helping to 
resolve local provision gaps.  

Research paper on local provision 
available with identified gaps. 
 
 
 
Develop an action plan to resolve 
gaps identified.  
 
 
 
 
Gaps identified and provision 
secured, with the NEET Taskforce 
Group being the key driver. 
 

Strengthened 
vocational/academic 
pathways available to young 
people  
 
Action Plan developed 
 
 
 
 
 
Increase of local provision 
available to young people 
results in increase of 
participation into formal 
education/training 

Clare Martin 

Contribution/attendance at key 
panel meetings: 

 SEND Strands- 
Preparing for Adulthood 

 Early help:  Youth 
Diversion Hub 

 Virtual School/Leaving 
Care Tracking Meetings 

 CME Group 

Increase of young peoples 
participation into education, 
employment and training (EET) 
 
Develop strong 
partnerships/networks 
 
Increase of referrals to service  

Reduction of NEET 
 
Increased participation into 
EET 
 
Improved Post 16 Attainment  
 

Clare Martin 

Contribute to SEND Reviews at 
key transitions -KS4 and Post 16  

Young people are better supported 
with their future career 

Reduction of NEET from 
leaving school/post 16  

Clare Martin 

P
age 152



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020          19  

planning/options 
 
Increase participation into 
sustained EET 
 
Reduce joiners to NEET group from 
leaving school 
Reduce drop outs from post 16 
provision  

 
 
Increased participation into 
EET 
 
NEET Joiners report 
NEET Leavers reports 

Contribute to PEP reviews at 
key transitions KS4 and Post 16  

Increase participation into 
sustained EET 
 
Reduce joiners to NEET group from 
leaving school 
 
Reduce drop outs from post 16 
provision 
 
Increase uptake on to EY 
Foundation Programme 

Reduction of NEET from 
leaving school/post 16  
 
Increased participation into 
EET 
 
 
 
Progress updates on EY 
programme  
 

Clare Martin 

Embed BfFC supported 
employment model and 
vocational profiling into our 
practice  

Vocational profiling embedded and 
part of our practice. 
 
 
 
 
Develop a profiling tool that is 
accessible digitally 

Young people are prepared for 
the future and are able to 
make informed decisions on 
the pathways available to 
them. 
Purchased and using Online 
Career Assessment tools as 
part of our profiling tool  (Fast 
tomato/Kudos) 

Clare Martin 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Clare Martin 

Explore the possibilities of 
developing a traded service 
offer for schools 

Deliver a bespoke pilot project to 
help with our research/explore the 
wants/needs of school and 
students 
 

Pilot project delivered/end of 
programme results/report  
 
 
 

Clare Martin 

P
age 153



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020          20  

Design/Develop a Traded Services 
offer for schools, possibly for the 
next academic year. 

 
2.  NEET Delivery  

 

Action Outcome Success Lead  

To allocate on a weekly basis all 

NEET young people to an 

adviser/ RAG rate each NEET 

person based on 

needs/engagement (Red – 

Intensive, Amber- Medium 

support, Green – NEET start 

date agreed for EET  

 NEET young people are allocated 
to an adviser for support into EET. 
 
 
Green NEETs supported into EET by 
the team. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Red/Amber NEETS 
presented/discussed with the NEET 
Taskforce to develop a 
reengagement package of support 
helping YP back into sustained EET  

Monthly reports highlighting 
NEET leavers and where they 
have progressed (EET) 
 
Increase participation into EET  
 
NEET summary reports 
presented to Kate- weekly 
 
‘Hardest to reach/engage’ 
young people are positively 
engaging and being supported 
back into EET.  Good News 
Case Studies. 

Clare Martin 

To disseminate to the team on 
a fortnightly basis Due/Lapsed 
tracking lists to actively track 
those YP whose situation is not 
known. 

Reduce not known numbers  
 
Increase participation into EET 

Not knowns performance 
under 1.7% (monthly) 
 
 

 

Establish and develop the NEET 
Taskforce 

Develop operational model 
Established NEET Taskforce.  Terms 
of reference written and agreed.  
Timescales of meetings agreed. 
Action log.  Secure/Commission EET 

Operational model developed 
NEET Taskforce TORS. 
Dates agreed 
Action Plan/log developed 
 

Clare Martin 

P
age 154



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020          21  

services/activities for NEET young 
people 
 
‘Hardest to reach’ NEET positively 
engaging in EET activities  

 
 
Improve post 16 
attainment/Improved EET 
participation  
 
 
 

To set up 3 x NEET YP 
Networking Events 

3 x NEET events at key times of the 
year: 
September 
December/January  
March/April 
 

Reduce NEET/Increase 
participation into EET  
 
Partnership working  
Progress report after each 
event. 

Clare Martin  

To lead on the 2-year EY 
Foundation Employability 
programme for CLA/Care 
Leavers  

10-12 young people per course  
2 x courses to be delivered 
(Oct/April) 

Sustainment of EET for 
CLA/Care Leavers  

Clare Martin  

 
3. Careers Digital Technology  

Action Outcome Success Lead 

Research into and purchase a 
digital career assessment 
tool to support our practice 
and increase our digital offer 
to young people 

Purchase of licence (Fast 
tomato/Kudos) 
 
Digital Vocational Profiling 
assessments 

Advisers using digital tool 
to vocational profile young 
people/evidenced on IYSS 
 

Clare Martin  

Continue to offer Live Chat 
as an additional digital 
service to support young 
people  

Live Chat available Monday – Friday 
 
GCSE/A level Results days  

Young people using the live 
chat service/evidenced on 
IYSS  

Clare Martin 

To support the Comms and 
Marketing team with 
promoting our social media 
platforms to young people 

Promote BfFC social media platforms 
in our communications with young 
people/stakeholders 

Update of 
templates/communications 
 
Increase of followers/users  

Clare Martin  

P
age 155



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020          22  

Action Outcome Success Lead 

(Facebook, Twitter and 
Instagram) 

To work in close partnership 
with DWP/local partners to 
develop a ‘virtual hub’ for 
young people  

Attendance at meetings 
 
Virtual Hub model developed  

Progress reports 
 
Promotion of hub to young 
people/stakeholders 

Clare Martin 

 
 

4. Quality 

Action Outcome Success Lead 

To seek out Career Quality 
accreditations/awards  

Research quality 
standards/accreditations 
 
 

Report on 
accreditations/awards 
available 

Clare Martin 

To carry out observations of 
professional practice audits- 
annually  

3 x Observations recorded and 
completed  
 
Feedback/areas for development in 
staff 1:1s  

Good quality career advice 
being delivered to young 
people/Vocational profiling 

Clare Martin  

Complete Career Action Plan 
audits (2 x per year)  

4 x  action plan audits (November) 
 
4 x action plan audits (May) 

Good quality action 
planning being delivered to 
young people  

Clare Martin 

 
5. Performance and Data Management  

 

Action Outcome Success Lead 

Produce NEET case studies 
(weekly) to Kate Reynolds  

Hardest to engage NEET presented 
to SLT 
 

4 x NEET case studies, 
weekly  

Clare Martin 

Send NEET summary report 
(weekly) to Kate Reynolds  

Weekly NEET summary presented 
to SLT  

Weekly summary reports  Clare Martin 

P
age 156



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020          23  

Action Outcome Success Lead 

Report on NEET/Not Known 
performance (monthly) 

Combined NEET/NK % 
NEET % 
Not Known % 
Quintile position 
No. of NEET joiners 
No. of NEET leavers  
Participating in EET % 

Under 4% 
Under 2.1% 
Under 1.7% 
1 or 2 (Green) 
 
 
96% + 

Clare Martin 

Report on ‘At Risk’ NEET/ Not 
Known (quarterly) 

Teenage Parents 
SEND 
Care Leavers/CLA 
BAME Groups  

Quarterly reports  Clare Martin 

To complete the September 
Guarantee 

School/College offer lists uploaded 
on NCCIS 
 
Support is provided to those young 
people with out an offer of 
education/training 

96% of young people have 
an offer of 
education/training 

Claire Davies 
Clare Martin  

Complete Year 11 Annual 
Activity Survey 

Established destinations for all Year 
11 leavers 

Annual Activity Survey 
report published 

Claire Davies 
Clare Martin 

 
How we will measure our delivery and performance   

 

LA Submissions on NEET, Not 
Known, EET 

Monthly  Combined NEET/NK – under 4% 

 NEET- under 2.1% 

 Not Known – under 1.7% 

 EET – 95% + 

‘At Risk’ Tables reporting on 
vulnerable groups who are 
NEET/NK/EET 

Quarterly: 

 September 

 December 

 March 

 June 

 % Teenage Parents NEET/NK/EET 

 % SEND with plan  

 % SEND Support (no plan) 

 BAME Groups 

NEET Joiners Monthly  Reporting on those joining the NEET group and where from  

P
age 157



Brighter Futures for Children | Post 16 Report | version  2 | CM Oct 2020          24  

NEET Leavers Monthly  Reporting on those leaving the NEET group and where to 

Annual Activity Survey results Feb/March 2021   16/17-year olds not engaged in EET (NEET) as at 31 December  

 16/17 recorded as in education/training as at 31 December  

 % KS4 going to/remaining in education/training  

September Guarantee return November/December 2020  % of 16/17-year olds with an offer of education/training – 94%+ 

Reading Matrix Data Annually   16/17-year olds not engaged in EET (NEET) as at 31 December  

 16/17 recorded as in education/training as at 31 December  

 % KS4 going to/remaining in education/training 

 % of 16/17-year olds with an offer of education/training (Sept G) 

 %16/17-year olds who are NEET 

 % 16/17-year olds who are Not known 

Support and Supervision 
meetings 

Monthly   Performance Management 

 CPD  

Good News Case Studies Monthly  Quality Assurance 

Feedback/Testimonials Ongoing   Quality Assurance 

Observation of Professional 
Practice 

Annually  Quality Assurance  

Career Action Plan Audits 
(evidencing vocational profiling 
assessments) 

Bi Annually   Quality Assurance  

 
Contracts and Procurements: 

 Ways into Work – SEND - Supported Employment Provision – 50K (2019-2022) 

 
Supporting Documents: 

 Participation of young people in education, employment or training Statutory guidance for local authorities 

 Careers Strategy/Gatsby Benchmark Framework  

 
 
 

P
age 158



1 

 

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION 
 

TO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 OCTOBER 2020 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 18 

TITLE: SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES – STRATEGIC UPDATE 
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

CLLR PEARCE PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION 

SERVICE: BFFC 
 

WARDS: ALL 

LEAD OFFICER: KATE REYNOLDS 
 

TEL:  

JOB TITLE: DIRECTOR OF 
EDUCATION 
 

E-MAIL: Kate.Reynolds@brighterfutu
resforchildren.org 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1  This report updates ACE on progress on implementing our SEND strategy and the 

timetable for the development of the next strategy.  In particular, it highlights the 
significant work in hand to develop our revenue and capital approaches in a way 
which embeds our strategic intent to provide high quality, local provision for 
Reading children. 

 
1.2 Appendix 1: Performance against Key Performance Indicators (up to September 

2021) 
Appendix 2: SEND strategy 2017-2022 
Appendix 3: Action plan for development of SEND strategy 2022-2027 

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That all the work completed to date on implementing the SEND strategy be 

noted; 

2.2 That the action plan for the development of the SEND strategy 2022-2027 
(attached as Appendix 3) be agreed and a report on progress submitted to the 
Committee in Autumn 2021. 

 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1 Our SEND Strategy was approved in July 2017.  We have co-developed a SEND Data 

report to support identification of our priorities and actions. The data is provided 
annually and used by all key partners to support the refresh of priorities and 
actions required to deliver improvements. The full data report was last updated in 
the autumn of 2019. It is in the process of being updated for 2020. 

 

Page 159

Agenda Item 18



2 

 

 
3.2 The SEND Strategy has been refreshed in the light of the feedback received, and the 

co-produced SEND self-evaluation.  

It is expected that the needs of the vast majority of children and young people will 

be identified early and their needs met locally, with most in the context of inclusive 

universal services.  

We are developing a graduated approach to meeting needs across the local area, 

providing support and guidance of what is expected to be delivered by universal 

services; and at what point more specialist services might be required to provide 

further assessment, advice and support, and/or more specialist provision.   

Our strategy sets out the key strands of work which will provide a focus for delivery. 

The strategy and action plans that prescribe its delivery will, as a minimum, set out 

the actions we are taking to ensure all duties under relevant legislation, statutory 

guidance and regulations are carried out, and the principles of the SEND Code of 

Practice (2015) set out below are delivered consistently through transparent systems 

and procedures for: 

 the participation of children, their parents and young people in decision making; 

 the early identification of children and young people’s needs and joined up early 

intervention across education, health (universal and specialist) early help and 

social care services as appropriate to need to support them 

 greater choice and control for young people and parents over support; 

 collaboration between education, health and social care services to provide 

support, including development of jointly commissioned services; 

 high quality provision to meet the needs of children and young people with SEN; 

 a focus on inclusive practice and removing barriers to learning; and 

 successful preparation for adulthood, including independent living and 

employment. 

(SEND Code of Practice, 2015, sections 1.1 and 1.2) 

Our Strategy’s vision: 

 SEND is everybody’s business  

 Right support / right time  

 Local provision that meets local needs 

 Making best practice common practice 

 Co-production at the heart of what we do: changing the way in which we work 

together with families operationally and strategically; doing with families, not 

doing to 

 Parents / carers and young people are confident in local provision  

 

To achieve these priorities there are 6 Strands (working groups) of the SEND Strategy 

which produce regularly updated action plans which are overseen by the Reading multi-

agency SEND Strategy Board which includes parents and other stakeholders in its 

membership. These strands are: 

 

Page 160



3 

 

Workstreams: 

 Strand 1: Improving communication 

 Strand 2: Early intervention through to specialist provision  

 Strand 3: Consistent approaches to emotional wellbeing 

 Strand 4: Preparing for adulthood 

 Strand 5: Support for families / short breaks  

 Strand 6: Preparing for Inspection 

The sixth strand ‘preparing for inspection’ was agreed in June 2020 and the workstream 

group has met twice since then to prepare and implement an action plan. 

3.3      Current performance: Education and Health Care Plans 

Performance against Key National Performance indicators is shown as Appendix 1. 
Performance against the KPI of plans issued within statutory deadlines has 
continued to improve since January 2020, with 100% of plans (without exceptions) 
issued within the deadline in September 2020.  This is a significant improvement 
given the previous years’ performance of 49%.  This is significantly above the 
England average of 60.4% (for 2019, the last available year) and is likely to be some 
of the best performance in the country. 

We are aware that we need to improve the timeliness of updating EHC plans 
following Annual Reviews and to audit the quality and impact of the updated plans. 

3.4     Educational outcomes 

The latest performance outcomes for children with SEND detail a mixed picture. At 

Key Stages 2 and 4, performance is in the top quartile of all performance in the 

country (ranked 6 at Key Stage 2 and 36 at Key Stage 4).  However, at post-16 the 

performance is some of the worse in the country with 9.5% of children with SEND 

qualified to Level 2 with English and Maths.  Our Elevate team are focused on 

improving outcomes for children with SEND at post-16. 

4. Recent developments: 

4.1 New leadership was put in place in the SEND team following the departure of the 

previous team manager. Since August 2020, the following new processes have been 

put in place: 

 New service standards – including all emails to be acknowledged and then 

responded to within 5 working days 

 High cost placements – sign off by Director of Education (DoE) following discussion 

at multi-agency panel which actively explores alternatives.  Current placements 

being reviewed through SEND delivery review panel chaired by the Director of 

Children’s Services.  

 Weekly report on statutory aged unplaced pupils. At the time of writing, 4 

statutory aged children with plans were unplaced. 2 of these are new to the 

authority, 1 is out of country, and the remainder has an alternative provision plan 

in place. 

Page 161



4 

 

 From Elevate, weekly report on potential young people who could be NEET with 

EHC plans or looked after 

 Local Offer landing page revamped to ensure it is user friendly 

 The terms of reference and membership of SEND Strategy Board have been 

refreshed to encourage appropriate representation of health and other key 

partners  

 All children with EHC plans risk assessed when schools partially closed – used as 

basis for reopening and reintegration 

 

4.2 Capital programme 

Following agreement from members in 2018, two 12 place units for children with 

social and communication difficulties will be established in state funded schools.  

The first, at Southcote Primary, will open from September 2020 with 4 places 

increasing to 12 places from September 2022. Discussions are in hand for the 

additional unit which will form part of the Council’s capital programme (subject to 

member approval).   

In addition, a new free special school will be opening from September 2022.  The 

school, which is a joint partnership between Reading and Wokingham Councils, will 

provide 75 places for children with Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC) and Social 

and Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs. Maiden Erlegh Trust have been 

awarded sponsorship of the school. 

4.3  Revenue funding 

At its meeting on 15 October 2020, Reading Schools Forum will consider funding for 
the high needs budget and for the top up funding which mainstream schools receive 
to support children with EHC plans. The proposals being presented to the Forum 
request an overall increase for special schools and resource units of 5% per place 
and an increase of approximately 10% for the top up funding bands for mainstream 
schools.   
 
We have also commenced a review of SEND provision across mainstream schools 

with a view to increasing provision at local schools and reviewing the banding 

formulae. We are working towards the introduction of a new funding system from 

September 2021. 

 

4.4     Covid issues 

In response to the pandemic, risk assessments were undertaken to support children 

with EHC plans in the context of the partial closure of schools.  Over 2000 risk 

assessments were completed and these have formed the basis of supporting 

children in returning to school.  In addition to the risk assessments the following 

have been in place: 

 

 Family Information Support (FiS) available throughout the period 

 Summer scheme focused on transitions from years 6 to 7, and vulnerable children 

 Continuation of regular meetings with school SENCOs 

 Statutory assessments – co-production still maintained with families -
telephone/video conferencing 
 

Page 162



5 

 

 Statutory assessments – cases where professional reports have been delayed, 
recorded and follow up assessments scheduled 

 

The impact of these measures has been that over 88% of children with EHC plans are 

attending schools on a regular basis and on 21 September over 95% of children with EHC 

plans were in school. 

 

4.5      Conclusion 

This report outlines the progress that has been made to implementing the SEND 

strategy and the steps put in place to ensure that a new strategy is developed. 

 

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 Our work on the SEND strategy contributes to RBC’s strategic aim 3: to protect and 

enhance the lives of vulnerable adults and children and to promote equality, social 
inclusion and a safe and healthy environment for all. 

 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
6.1 Reports to Reading Schools Forum 15 October 2020 (papers held by BFFC) 
 Local Authority Interactive Tool: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-interactive-tool-lait 
The Local Authority Data Matrix August 2020 

 
 

Page 163

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-interactive-tool-lait


6 

 

Internal data: Appendix 1 

Summary KPIs Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 

Number of Children and Young People (0-25) with Education, 
Health and Care (EHC) Plans 

1391 1400 1408 1414 1424 1408 1394 1400 1410 

Number of new EHCPs issued 12 10 11 11 15 21 17 10 18 

Percentage of EHCPs issued within 20 weeks  
(including exceptions) 

75.0% 90.0% 90.9% 81.8% 80.0% 81.0% 93.8% 80.0% 94.40% 

Percentage of EHCPs issued within 20 weeks  
(excluding exceptions) 

75.0% 90.0% 90.9% 81.8% 80.0% 81.0% 94.1% 88.9% 100% 

 

P
age 164



7 

 

 

Appendix 2: SEND strategy 

Reading Local Area 

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 

Strategy 

2017 – 2022  

Draft Refreshed October 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 165



8 

 

 

 

1. Our Context  

Our SEND Strategy was approved in July 2017.  We have co-developed a SEND Data report to support 

identification of our priorities and actions.  The data is updated annually and used by all key partners to 

support the refresh of priorities and actions required to deliver improvements.  

The SEND Strategy has been refreshed in the light of the feedback received through this process, and 

the co-produced SEND self-evaluation.  

It is expected that the needs of the vast majority of children and young people will be able to be met 

locally, with most in the context of universal services that are inclusive, and identify and meet needs as 

early as possible.   

We are developing a graduated approach to meeting needs across the local area, providing support and 

guidance of what is expected to be delivered by universal services; and at what point more specialist 

services might be required to provide further assessment, advice and support, and/or more specialist 

provision.   

This strategy sets out the key strands of work which will provide a focus for its delivery. The strategy 

and action plans that prescribe its delivery will, as a minimum, set out the actions we are taking to 

ensure all duties under relevant legislation, statutory guidance and regulations are carried out, and the 

principles of the SEND Code of Practice (2015) set out below are delivered consistently through 

transparent systems and procedures for: 

 the participation of children, their parents and young people in decision making; 

 the early identification of children and young people’s needs and joined up early intervention 

across education, health (universal and specialist) early help and social care services as 

appropriate to need to support them 

 greater choice and control for young people and parents over support; 

 collaboration between education, health and social care services to provide support, including 

development of jointly commissioned services; 

 high quality provision to meet the needs of children and young people with SEN; 

 a focus on inclusive practice and removing barriers to learning; and 

 successful preparation for adulthood, including independent living and employment. 

(SEND Code of Practice, 2015, sections 1.1 and 1.2) 

2. Our Shared Vision 

SEND – everybody’s business  

Right support / right time  

Local provision that meets local needs 

Making best practice common practice 

Co-production at the heart of what we do: changing the way in which we work together with families 

operationally and strategically; doing with families, not doing to 

Parents / carers and young people are confident in local provision  

Page 166



9 

 

 

3. Our Aims 

We will work together to:  

Collate and analyse SEND data and information from all agencies, including feedback from 

children, young people and their families, to help us understand local needs; 

Use this information to drive change and improvement in services and local provision that meets 

current and future needs; 

Have clear expectations of universal services that is accessible to families, including early year’s 

settings, health visitors and health services, schools and colleges, and clear pathways to early 

help and early intervention support across services; 

Provide clear information regarding all services’ responsibilities and their role in identifying and 

meeting the needs of children and young people with SEND (pathways);  

Support multi-agency working, breaking down barriers and ensuring a joined-up approach for 

children, young people and families; 

Have a range of provision in place that meets the range of needs of children and young people 

with SEND and their families and which is flexible to the changing profile of Reading; 

Make sure resources are targeted effectively and support improved outcomes for children and 

young people; 

Secure effective transition to the next stage in a child / young person’s journey including 

transition into and between schools and into adulthood; 

Keep services and provision under review to make sure we are meeting the needs of Reading 

families now and in the future. 

 

4. Our Priorities 

 Making SEND Everybody’s Business – we will work together to embed the SEND Strategy 

into the practice of everybody who works with children, young people and families 

 Embedding co-production at every level – we will work with all partners to ensure 

children, young people and their families participate fully in decisions at an individual level 

as well as in the development of services  

 We will work together to identify and assess needs early, with a focus on developing 

preventative and early intervention approaches and a graduated approach to meeting 

needs 

 We will work together to deliver support in the right place at the right time - being clear 

about our expectations of high quality universal and specialist provision and working 

together to support this being delivered, enabling the majority of individual needs to be 

met locally and achieving best possible outcomes 

 Resources will be allocated fairly, transparently, and evidence that they support improving 

outcomes  

 

5. Anticipated Outcomes 

a. All services 0 – 25 will be able to demonstrate how they are supporting delivery of the SEND 

Strategy 

Page 167



10 

 

b. We will know our key strengths, gaps and areas for improvement, and will ensure these are 

addressed strategically and operationally 

c. Children and young people’s SEND will be identified and addressed early, enabling them to 

make progress and preventing escalation to more specialist services where possible  

d. Children and young people, and their parents / carers will feel engaged in the process of 

assessing their needs and informing decisions about their support 

e. Children and young people and their parents / carers will feel confident in what is provided 

through being involved from the start in the development of services 

f. Children and young people, and their parents / carers, will be clear about the identification 

and assessment processes and the guidance / criteria used to make decisions (pathways) 

g. All agencies will work together to collectively improve outcomes for children, young people 

and their families  

 

6. Delivery  

The SEND Strategy will be delivered through the six key strands set out in the strategic framework.  

Each workstream will set out specific actions to deliver the priorities identified through the Self 

Evaluation and data analysis and, includes timescales and intended outcomes.  All workstreams will 

focus on work being coproduced and inform opportunities for joint commissioning.  The delivery of the 

actions will be kept under regular review, reporting progress and recommendations to the SEND 

Strategy Board. 

Services and partners, including settings and schools, will be asked to identify what actions they will 

take to support delivery of these priorities, helping SEND to become everybody’s business.  

The SEND Strategy delivery will be supported by an overarching communication plan that: 

 communicates data and information to inform all partners actions 

 provides a summary of feedback received from parent / carers and young people 

 communicates progress of different strands of work and its impact 

 Workstreams: 

 Strand 1: Improving communication 

 Strand 2: Early intervention through to specialist provision  

 Strand 3: Consistent approaches to emotional wellbeing 

 Strand 4: Preparing for adulthood 

 Strand 5: Support for families / short breaks  

Workstream leads will be responsible for overseeing the action plan so that it supports the delivery of 

the SEND Strategy and strategic framework. 

7. How will we recognise success? 

 All professionals know the Local Offer, and the contribution of their service and other 

services, and can signpost families 

 Parents / carers tell us that they are confident in local provision  

 Feedback from parents / carers shows satisfaction with early identification by all 

agencies 

Page 168



11 

 

 Practitioners report that they are confident and have the tools, resources and access to 

training they need to be effective 

 The majority of children and young people with an Education, Health and Care Plan are 

educated in their local mainstream school that is meeting their needs (published data 

states that Reading is at least in line with national and statistical neighbour data)  

 There is a reduction year on year in the number and days lost to fixed term exclusion of 

children and young people with SEND 

 Parent/ carer forum surveys evidence increasing confidence in the local system, and 

where issues persist that there is clear follow up actions to address the issues 

 Service development, provision and commissioning of services clearly reflect user 

feedback 

 Number of complaints and Tribunals reduce, and compliments increase 

 SEND audits evidence improving practice 

 

8. Monitoring Delivery 

The SEND Strategy Group, chaired by the Director of Education, provides oversight of the delivery of the 

SEND Strategy and includes membership from all key agencies including Reading Families Forum.   

The overall approach to decision making regarding SEND Provision will be linked to the overarching 

strategy and approved through the SEND Strategy Board and Governance Structure 

The SEND Strategy Group will secure engagement of all key partners and lead on the monitoring of the 

implementation of the strategy, providing a framework for reporting progress to key stakeholders and 

partners, including Members. 

The SEND Strategy Board will oversee information on learning from service performance and ensure 

actions are taken to remedy issues, and that good practice is shared and becomes common practice.   

The Joint Implementation Group (covering west of Berkshire) will support any required strategic 

regional commissioning.  

 

 

 

 

Page 169



12 

 

 

Appendix 3: Action plan for development of SEND strategy 2022-2027 

 

Action Lead Timescale 

Develop key themes on basis 
of refreshed SEF and any 
inspection outcomes/survey 
results 

DoE January 2021 

Consult with partners on key 
themes 

DoE Jan-March 2021 

Examine financial options and 
present to schools forum 

DoE Summer 2021 

Develop draft Strategy DoE July 2021 

Present Strategy to Board DoE September 2021 

Present new strategy to ACE 
for approval 

DoE November 2021 

 

 

Page 170


	Agenda
	3 Nursing Dementia Block Contract Procurement
	Nursing Block Beds Procurement Time Table (Part 2) Appendis 2

	5 Minutes
	6 Minutes of Other Bodies
	Minutes - 13 March 2020

	10 Nursing Dementia Block Contract Procurement
	Appendix 1 Local Nursing Home Provision
	Appendix 2 Nursing Block Beds Procurement Time Table
	Open


	11 Continuing Healthcare Funding (April 2018 - December 2019)
	12 Proposals for Berkshire West Public Health Service
	13 School Standards and Attainment 2018/19
	School Standards and Attainment 2018/19 Report

	14 School Admissions
	15 Home to School Transport Policy 2020-2021
	16 Children Missing Education: Update Policy and Procedure March 2020
	17 Post 16 Update Report
	18 Special Education Needs and Disabilities - Strategic Update

